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Dear CTC Media Stockholders

2009 was challenging year for CTC Media as it was for the global economy as whole but we
have emerged wiser and in an even stronger competitive position Our financial and operating results

speak for themselves We continued to deliver premium demographics to advertisers throughout the

year and significantly outperformed the Russian television advertising market Our reported revenues

were adversely affected by the substantial depreciation of our local operating currencies against our US
dollar reporting currency but our advertising sales in Russia were only down 3% year-on-year in ruble

terms This compared with an 18% decline in the Russian television advertising market and 27%
decline in the total Russian advertising market according to the Russian Association of Communication

Agencies

We continued to strengthen our position as the leading independent broadcasting company in

Russia during 2009 Our focus on pure entertainment formats distinguishes the Company in the local

market and ensures our continued success with viewers and advertisers alike In this context we were

once again recognized by the industry and received Russias most prestigious television award the

TEFI from Russias National Television Academy

The investments that we have made in our programming schedules enabled us to grow our shares

of the target audiences for each of our three Russian networks in 2009 which was reflected in

substantial advertising market share gains Notably Domashny and DTV our smaller thematic

channels achieved their highest ever annual
target audience shares while our flagship CTC channel

achieved its highest monthly target audience for three
years in November We also managed to

effectively monetize the additional ratings that we generated with 95% sell-out ratio for the year Our

combined national advertising market share in Russia increased year-on-year from 17.5% to 19.5% and

our blended power ratio measured across our three Russian networks increased from 1.3 in 2008 to

1.5 in 2009

We have also continued to develop our in-house production capabilities building on our

acquisitions of Costafilm and Soho Media in the first half of 2008 Approximately 25% of the content

that we aired on the CTC channel during 2009 was produced in-house which gives us greater quality

control and the ability to invest in more targeted way This approach was proven by the fact that our

in-house produced programming generated higher average ratings than the content that we acquired

from third-party production companies

We also substantially enhanced the technical penetration of all of our networks in Russia during

2009 CTCs penetration increased from 87.5% to 90.7% while Domashnys penetration was up from

71% to 76.4% and DTV grew its penetration from 61% to 68.4%

We expanded our operations outside Russia and the CIS towards the end of the year by launching

the CTC brand in North America through the inclusion of our CTC-International channel on DISH
Network Corporations satellite platform This launch was an important and long-anticipated step for us

and we are confident that there are no comparable Russian language channel offerings in the U.S We
are now planning to make this international version of CTC available on other broadcasting platforms

in the U.S as well as in Europe where there is high level of demand for Russian TV content



We also worked diligently to reduce our cost base during 2009 and were able to deliver flat

underlying organic cost base for the full-year We reported adjusted1 OIBDA2 of $211.3 million and

an adjusted OIBDA margin of 42% for the year when excluding $47.7 million of non-recurring items

The non-recurring items consisted of an $18.7 million impairment of our broadcasting license assets in

Russia due to weighting redistributions in the TNS audience measurement panel and $28.6 million

one-off stock-based compensation payment to former executive In addition Channel 31 in

Kazakhstan which we acquired in early 2008 reported an OIBDA profit for the first time

Although CTC Media remains growth company we paid our first ever cash dividend in March

2010 Moreover we have announced our Boards intention subject to the Companys earnings financial

position and cash requirements to make three further cash dividend payments in 2010 for total

expected dividend payments in 2010 of $40 million This demonstrates our philosophy to return cash to

stockholders when we generate more cash that we need to invest in the business for our future growth

and development

Significant changes were made to Russian advertising law at the very end of the year which will

prohibit federal television channels from selling inventory through advertising sales agencies with

market share exceeding 35% from the beginning of 2011 These amendments to the legislative

framework have triggered review of our current sales structures and we are currently carefully

examining and evaluating all of the various options available to us It is still too early to determine the

final impact and outcome of these changes and of our own review but the market will clearly become

more competitive and transparent which will create opportunities for well-positioned participants

Our other key priority for 2010 is to continue to develop our Domashny and DTV thematic

channels which have considerable potential in terms of both audience and advertising market share

growth We are therefore using our healthy cash flows and strong financial position to substantially

increase our investments in these thematic channels to accelerate their development and unlock their

potential The investments will be in programming marketing and signal distribution and are expected

to result in significant audience and market share gains over time We have number of premiers

planned for this year including original prime-time drama series and sitcoms specifically produced for

DTV and Domashny Our thematic networks have never premiered Russian shows in prime time slots

before and we expect this initiative to raise the channels performance to new levels

We are also continuing to invest in the technological modernization of our operations and are

planning to increase our capital expenditure levels to as much as $40 million in 2010 This investment is

primarily focused on the creation of unified digital play-out facility in Moscow the ongoing

digitalization of our content library the upgrading of our broadcasting equipment and the move to

new principal office location in Moscow

As we continue to maintain strict cost controls and invest in our networks and content we remain

committed to our long-term strategic objective to enhance our position as the leading commercial

free-to-air TV broadcaster in Russia with increasing reach growing audience shares and further

improvements in operating efficiency We are proud of our brands and their performance and are

working as hard as ever to increase our market shares and power ratios in order to monetize our

assets as effectively as possible This is mirrored in our carefully considered international expansion

each step of which moves us forward into new markets and opportunities

Our management team is driving the business forward and enabling us to outperform our

competition which will create long-term value for all of our stakeholders We are keenly aware of the

All adjusted numbers are non-GAAP financial measures reported before the non-recurring items Please see the

accompanying financial tables at the end of this report for reconciliation of adjusted OIBDA margin to OIBDA margin

adjusted net income to GAAP reported net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share to GAAP reported earnings per

share

OIBDA is defined as operating income before depreciation and amortization excluding amortization of programming rights

and sublicensing rights OIBDA margin is defined as OIBDA divided by total operating revenues Both OIBDA and

OIBDA margin are non-GAAP financial measures Please see the accompanying financial tables at the end of this release

for reconciliation of OIBDA to operating income and OIBDA margin to operating income margin



pivotal role that our employees play in our success and would once again like to thank them for their

hard work dedication and loyalty over the last year which has been one of the most difficult in our

history Our outperformance is testament to the resilience of our business model and we look forward

to building on this strong foundation in 2010 and beyond would also like to thank all of our

stockholders customers viewers and business partners for their support during 2009 We quite simply

could not have done it without you

Sincerely

Anton Kudryashov

Chief Executive Officer CTC Media Inc



Stock Performance Graph

The following common stock performance graph compares the cumulative total return to

stockholders of our common stock for the period from June 2006 through December 31 2009 with

the cumulative total return over such period of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Dow Jones

World Media Index The graph assumes an investment of $100 in our common stock on June 2006

based on the closing price of our common stock on the first full trading day following the effective

date of the Companys registration statement filed in connection with the initial public offering of our

common stock and in the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Dow Jones World Media Index

including the reinvestment of all dividends Measurement points are to the last trading day of each

respective fiscal year The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative

of future stock price performance
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Special Note About Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents incorporated by

reference herein that are not based on historical information are forward-looking statements Any

statements including statements to the effect that we believe expect anticipate plan
could estimate intend may should will and would or similar expressions that are not

statements relating to historical matters should be considered forward-looking statements Such

forward-looking statements which include among other things statements regarding developments in

the general economy globally and in Russia changes in the Russian television advertising market and

changes in the size of our audience and market shares reflect our current expectations concerning

future results and events These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks

uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results performance or achievements of

CTC Media to be materially different from any future results performance or achievements expressed

or implied by such forward-looking statements The potential risks and uncertainties that could cause

actual future results to differ from those expressed by forward-looking statements include among

others risks described in Item 1A Risk Factors For these statements and all other forward-looking

statements we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Other unknown or unpredictable factors could have

material adverse effects on CTC Medias future results performance or achievements In light of these

risks uncertainties assumptions and factors the forward-looking events discussed or implied herein

may not occur You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements

CTC Media does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking

statements because of new information future events or otherwise

Operating and Industry Data

All audience share ratings coverage and technical penetration data included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K are provided by TNS Gallup Media which operates
the standard audience share

measurement system currently used by all major broadcasting and advertising professionals in Russia

All Russian advertising market size and market share data included herein have been publicly reported

by the Association of Communications Agencies of Russia or AKAR We understand that Video

International is the source of all television advertising market data reported by AKAR We believe that

Video International is regarded as the most reliable source of information on this market



PART

Item Business

Overview

We currently operate three Russian television networks

CTCour flagship network offering entertainment programming targeted at 6-54 year-old

viewers

Domashnya network principally targeted at 25-60 year-old women and

DTVa network currently principally targeted at 25-54 year-old viewers

Approximately 100 million people are within the coverage of CTCs signal approximately

62 million people are within the coverage of Domashnys signal and approximately 60 million people

are within the coverage of DTVs signal We also operate Channel 31 television network in

Kazakhstan television channel in Uzbekistan and broadcasting group in Moldova each offering

entertainment programming In addition we have in-house production operations specializing in

television series sitcoms and shows

We generate substantially all of our revenues from the sale of television advertising In 2009 our

share of the total Russian television advertising market was approximately 19.5% CTCs average

overall audience share was 9.0% making CTC the fourth-most watched broadcaster in Russia CTCs

average audience share in its target demographic was 12.2% Domashnys average overall audience

share was 2.2% and its average audience share in its target demographic was 2.9% DTVs average

overall audience share was 2.0% and its average audience share in its target demographic was 2.2%

We were incorporated in 1989 and commenced television operations in May 1994 initially

broadcasting from our first owned-and-operated station in St Petersburg to 22 cities across Russia as

superstationa single station that retransmits its signal to remote locations In December 1996 we

launched CTC the Cyrillic acronym for the Network of Television Stations national network

broadcasting by satellite from our center in Moscow We launched Domashny in March 2005 and

acquired DTV in April 2008

Our Business

We have modeled our business on the major US broadcast television networks We manage our

network programming centrally own and operate stations or unmanned repeater transmitters in major

cities and expand our broadcast coverage through agreements with independent affiliates which allows

us to enhance our coverage without incurring incremental infrastructure costs In exchange for the right

to broadcast our signal we allow our affiliates to broadcast local advertising during designated time

windows from which they derive revenues At our Domashny and DTV Networks we also pay fees to

some independent affiliates of these networks for broadcasting the Domashny or DTV signal Our

network structure differs from the channel model used by our biggest competitors Channel One and

Rossiya in which these national broadcasters provide their own transmission infrastructure throughout

the area they desire to reach and bear the full cost of such infrastructure

Our networks management is responsible for programming marketing and promotion for CTC
Domashny and DTV as well as relations with our independent affiliates and with our advertising sales

house

Advertising sales

Television advertising revenues are generally affected by the overall size of the television

advertising market broadcasters ratings and audience share and its audience profile In general the



price of national television advertising in any particular time slot is based on reference price

determined on the basis of gross rating points or GRPs An advertiser or advertising agency will

typically place either fixed placement an amount of advertising placed on specific broadcaster

and time slot by reference to the GRPs to be delivered by that broadcaster during that time slot or

floating placement an amount of advertising placed at time that will deliver the total number of

agreed GRPs Our advertising is currently placed through Video International an advertising sales

house

Because advertisers often seek to reach particular demographic groups including particular ages

and genders they will often base their advertising placement decisions on the specific ratings among
such groups rather than among the overall population CTCs advertising is generally placed on the

basis of GRPs achieved in CTCs target audience the 6-54 demographic Domashnys advertising is

generally placed on the basis of ratings in Domashnys target audience 25-60 year-old women and

DTVs advertising is generally placed on the basis of ratings in DTVs target audience 25-54
year

old

viewers

We also derive revenues from the sale of advertising by our owned-and-operated stations in their

local markets as well as through the sale of sponsorships of our programming and sublicensing of

programming content Video International currently places local advertising on behalf of substantially

all of our owned-and-operated stations

Role of Video International In the Russian television market national advertising is generally not

placed directly with broadcasters Instead national television advertising is typically sold through

so-called sales housesintermediaries between the broadcasters and the advertisers and advertising

agencies We currently have agreements with Video International the largest sales house to sell all our

national as well as local advertising for substantially all of our owned-and-operated stations For more

details of these arrangements see Item 1A Risk FactorsRecent changes in Russian law may

fundamentally change the way in which we sell advertising which could adversely affect our business

financial condition and results of operations and We currently rely on single television advertising

sales house for substantially all of our revenues and therefore our operating results could be materially

adversely affected if our relationship with this sales house were to be disrupted or if it were to fail to

sell advertising on our behalf effectively and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of OperationsOur Agreements with Video International

Seasonality We seek to exploit seasonal fluctuations in overall television viewership and television

advertising sales to maximize our revenues and control our costs Overall television viewership is lower

during the summer months when good weather results in reduction in the number of viewers and

their average viewing times and higher in the fourth quarter when the weather is colder and vacations

and holidays are less common In 2009 approximately 36% of our total advertising revenues were

generated in the fourth quarter

Channel One Rossiya and NTV broadcast more expensive and popular programming during the

month of January which increases their audience shares at the expense of their competitors including

our networks Seasonal fluctuations in consumer patterns also affect television advertising expenditures

We therefore seek to concentrate programming that we believe will achieve relatively higher audience

shares in those periods when viewership is higher and advertising is in greater demand while taking

into account the relative strength of our competitors programming in particular periods

Audience share and ratings Our advertising revenues are largely driven by our audience share the

percentage of all people watching television at given time who are watching CTC Domashny or

DTV and ratings the percentage of the total population that is watching CTC Domashny or DTV at

given time Our audience shares and ratings in turn depend in large part upon the appeal of our

programming and vary depending on the day of the week time of the day nature of our competitors



programming at any given time shifting public tastes and interests and the success of our promotional

activities

Russian television viewing data including ratings audience shares and related metrics are

currently gathered by TNS Gallup Media The TNS measurement system uses internationally

recognized methods and is the standard currently used by all major television broadcasters advertisers

and advertising agencies in Russia

Information on audience numbers is gathered through the use of TNSs Peoplemeters which are

physically installed in households in selected locations based on sampling techniques and census data

designed to capture statistically significant sample of the desired population Peoplemeters are

installed in panel of selected cities The panel cities are chosen from among those Russian cities with

more than 100000 residents according to Federal State Statistics Services data for the 2007 census

which together account for approximately 48% of the total population of Russia Because of the

relative lack of affluence in smaller communitiesand consequently very
different consumer habitswe

believe that advertisers are not currently focused on reaching audiences in cities with populations of

less than 100000 Starting from July 2009 the panel of measured cities is weighted based on

broadcasters technical penetration in larger group of 125 cities

The signals of all our three networks are currently broadcast in each of the 65 cities in the TNS

panel in which audience shares were measured in 2009 Starting from 2010 the TNS panel was

expanded from 65 to 72 cities with some changes in weight given to various cities in the panel Our

three networks in Russia also broadcast in these seven additional cities mostly through cable and

independent affiliates For more details on this see Item 1A Risk FactorsChanges in the method of

measuring television audiences have at times in the past resulted and may again in the future result in

decreases in our audience share and ratings

With respect to technical penetration in 2009 TNS Gallup Media reported that 90.7% of

households located in cities of more than 100000 residents had the technical ability to receive CTCs

broadcast signal 76.4% had the ability to receive Domashnys signal and 68.4% had the ability to

receive DTVs signal

CTC The overall average audience share of CTC was 9.0% in both 2009 and 2008 CTC has

been the fourth most-watched broadcaster in Russia for six consecutive years We believe that our

strong positioning reflects our success in promoting the CTC Network and in developing and licensing

attractive programming The table below presents comparison of CTCs average audience shares for

2005 through 2009 with those of its major competitors

Average Audience Shares of the

Major National Networks and Channels 2005-2009

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Channel One 23.0% 21.3% 21.2% 20.9% 18.9%

Rossiya 22.7 19.5 17.1 17.3 17.2

NTV 11.1 12.8 13.9 13.3 14.1

CTC 10.3 10.4 9.0 9.0 9.0

TNT 6.7 6.0 6.7 7.3 6.9

REN-TV 5.0 4.2 4.3 4.5 4.9

In CTCs principal target audience the 6-54 year-old demographic group CTC had an average

audience share of 12.2% in 2009 11.8% in 2008 and 11.3% in 2007



Domashny The overall average audience share of Domashny was 2.2% in 2009 and 2008

compared to 2.0% in 2007 In Domashnys principal target audience 25-60 year-old women Domashny
had an average audience share of 2.9% in 2009 2.8% in 2008 and 2.4% in 2007

DIV We acquired DTV in April 2008 The overall average audience share of DTV in its

principal target audience during 2008 the 18 year-old demographic group was 1.8% From the

beginning of 2009 the target audience for this channel has changed to 25-54 year-old viewers In 2009

the overall average audience share of DTV was 2.0% and the overall average principal target audience

share was 2.2%

Principal network television advertisers In 2009 approximately 200 advertisers purchased national

advertising on CTC Domashny and/or DTV The top ten advertisers in the aggregate represented

approximately 47% of our total national advertising revenues for the three networks together and

included many of the multinational companies that are the largest advertisers in the Russian national

television advertising market We do not believe that we are dependent on any one or any small

number of advertisers for material portion of our revenues

We have experienced shifts in the types of advertisers placing national advertising over the past

several years which we believe reflects shifts in the broader market as new types of companies such as

mobile phone providers have initiated or expanded their advertising on television Certain advertising

sectors such as financial services or automotive companies that typically purchase substantial

proportion of total television advertising in more developed media markets do not currently place

significant amounts of advertising on Russian television

Programming

In order to maximize the audience numbers and desirable demographics that we deliver to

advertisers we seek to

emphasize entertainment programming to support our network brands and the affinity of our

audiences

target 6-54 year-old viewers on CTC 25-60 year-old female viewers on Domashny and

25-54 year-old viewers on DTV

broadcast an optimal mix of Russian and foreign entertainment programming and develop

high-quality original programs in-house and with external Russian producers

schedule according to well-researched daypart strategy focusing on discrete parts of the day

that have distinctive viewing characteristics

create appointment viewingwhere regularly scheduled program has such strong appeal

that viewers set aside specific time period to view it and

adapt our broadcast schedules to reflect seasonal variations in viewing habits

Entertainment focus From our inception our focus has been on entertainment We seek to

capture dynamic youthful audiences by offering range of entertainment programs suited to particular

time slots including original Russian series and shows recent and classic Russian and Soviet films

popular foreign series and films and animation Although we broadcast entertainment and celebrity

news on our national networks we do not broadcast national hard news commentary or analysis

Demographic targets Although we seek to maximize our audience share on the CTC Network

among the entire viewing population considered to be those age and older or we focus

principally on viewers in the 6-54 age group and have particularly strong appeal to younger audiences

We believe that in Russia as in more mature advertising markets the 6-54 age group is the



demographic group most in demand by television advertisers This group generally has the most

disposable income and we believe is the most responsive to advertising Viewers in the 55 category

on the other hand are generally deemed less likely to change their purchasing decisions based on

advertising and in Russia to have less average disposable income

Among both children and teenagers CTC is one of the top broadcasters in most applicable time

slots Although these younger demographic groups are not currently the principal targets of advertisers

in Russia we believe they will be of increasing importance both as consumers themselves and because

of their influence on their parents purchasing decisions In addition we believe that if CTC can

capture this audience early these viewers may maintain strong identification with the CTC brand as

they enter adulthood

Our target audience for Domashny is women aged 25-60 We believe that this focus limits overlap

between the target viewers of Domashny CTC and DTV We also believe that no other broadcaster in

Russia currently exclusively targets this demographic group which we believe to be in particular

demand in Russia by advertisers of products for women

We are currently repositioning DTV as crime investigations and action network focusing on

25-54 year-old viewers Our target audience share for DTV in 2008 was 18 year-old viewers

Emphasis on Russian programming We believe that our emphasis on television series and shows

produced in Russia is an important factor in maximizing our share of our target viewers We develop

original individual programs and long-running series including dramas sitcoms and game shows

in-house or in collaboration with independent production companies located in Russia Our production

is sometimes carried out in conjunction with foreign studio or rights holder which allows us to

leverage existing formats of foreign programs for use in the Russian market

Through these licensing and production arrangements we obtain access to the formats of existing

foreign series including plotlines scripts and characters as well as expertise in translating such

material into Russian and reworking it to maximize its appeal to Russian audiences format licensor

will generally provide an agreed number of scripts under these licensing and production arrangements

Our programming department then works with the licensors writers to adapt the scripts to Russian

tastes and culture The licensor also provides production experts
who typically supervise pre-production

and the early stages of production and provide advice regarding production quality set design

consistency with the original format and casting Our in-house production team or an external

production company then undertakes the actual production which includes set design filming and pre
and post-production activities Our programming department is integrally involved in all

steps
in this

process significant portion of the original Russian programming that we broadcast on CTC in 2009

was produced in-house

We have also entered into license agreements with Russian studios and distributors for the rights

to broadcast recent Russian made-for-cinema films

International programming We have developed important relationships with suppliers of

programming in the United States Western and Central Europe and Latin America We have

programming agreements with number of major Hollywood studios including Sony Pictures Television

International Walt Disney Paramount Universal and Warner Brothers These contracts give us the

right to broadcast broad range of feature films series mini-series and animated programs We license

other international programming from independent producers in the United States as well as leading

European distributors such as the BBC and Globo International in the UK Eurokim in Slovakia and

TF1 in France We also license international programming from Russian distributors We translate and

dub foreign programming into Russian using contract translators



Cost-effective programming Although we own the programming we produce in-house we have not

historically owned our programming or maintained program library of owned titles Instead we have

licensed and with respect to programming produced by third-party production companies expect to

continue to license limited number of runs of each program from foreign or Russian producers and

distributors We carefully plan our acquisitions to ensure our access to the most desirable programming

on the most favorable terms possible number of studios and distributors pre-sell licenses to

Russian and foreign films well in advance of release in Russia Many studios and distributors also

require licensees to license packages of films or showsbundling less popular titles with titles that are

expected to be particularly successful In addition to date some distributors have agreed to

arrangements pursuant to which two or more broadcasters in Russia may share the rights to multiple

showings of certain movies or shows at different times resulting in lower licensing costs for each

broadcaster For example our agreement with Sony permits us to sublicense certain programming

rights to certain channels in Russia We have entered into such agreements with Channel One

pursuant to which we share with Channel One the rights to multiple runs of certain programming

available under the agreement primarily blockbuster movies By sharing programming rights the cost

to us of these rights is materially reduced

Programming format and schedule We follow daypart format on our networks and have

designed our broadcast schedules in manner similar to that of US television network We research

map and analyze our audience flow and incorporate the results into our program development

acquisition and scheduling strategy The result is differentiated programming strategy according to

which we seek to assign different kinds of programming to different parts of the day and days of the

week based on viewer characteristics and preferences

One of the goals of our programming strategy is to create appointment viewing by broadcasting

programs with strong drawing power promoting them and scheduling them at consistent

easy-to-remember times We believe that this strategy can create habit among viewers over time that

may generate consistently high audience levels This western-style format was entirely new to Russia

with the exception of the daily government news program when we introduced it on CTC and we

believe it has now been adopted by many of our competitors

CTC Our programming strategy for CTC focuses on entertainment and an optimal mix between

Russian production and international programming of interest to our target viewers We seek to

schedule relatively expensive programming for broadcast during time slots with higher viewership We
seek to adjust our weekend schedules appropriately to reflect our viewers schedules

Domashny Our programming strategy for Domashny also focuses on entertainment and an

optimal mix between Russian and international programs targeting women viewers Approximately 17%

of programming broadcast on Domashny in 2009 was original Russian programming developed

specifically for Domashny consisting primarily of talk shows cooking programs and similarly formatted

programs Such shows are designed to appeal to the networks target audience and are typically less

expensive to produce than original drama series or sitcoms

DTV We are in the process of repositioning DTV as crime/investigation and action

entertainment network focusing on 25-54 year-old viewers The programming for DTV consists of

quality foreign series and movies as well as Russian original drama series sitcoms docu-reality

docu-fiction and talk-shows produced specifically for DTV

Marketing and promotion

Our marketing team promotes awareness of our networks among television viewers and advertisers

with an emphasis on the promotion of our prime-time lineups new shows special events and morning



programming Such efforts include producing on-air promotional television spots placing commercials

on national and regional radio stations internet advertising print advertisements and outdoor media

Our marketing team also assists our affiliates with their local marketing efforts preparing

high-quality standardized regional marketing materials including print advertisements radio spots and

promotional materials which it sends to our affiliates for distribution in their regions Our agreements

with our affiliates contain provisions with respect to the marketing of network programming in the local

area In particular when broadcasting CTC Domashny and DTV programming our affiliates are

required to display the CTC Domashny or DTV logo on screen Affiliates must also ensure that the

network programming schedules are published in the local press
and are required to advertise our

network programming in their local markets

Transmission

From our headquarters in Moscow our networks send their signals digitally via dedicated fiber

optic cable to transmission center from which they are transmitted to satellite uplinks and then by

satellite throughout the territory of Russia Our broadcasts are time-shifted for four different time

zones so that programs are aired at the appropriate local times in each of Russias far-flung population

centers across 11 time zones with maximum of one-hour time shift from our standard daily

programming schedule in some areas In order to reach areas across Russia the signals are uplinked

separately to two separate satellite systems one of which is owned by the Russian Satellite

Communications Company state-owned company and another by Gazprom Kosmicheskiy Systemy

an affiliate of state-controlled Gazprom We also have an agreement with third satellite facility owned

by Geo Telecom Satellite Services which is used to transmit the DTV signal as well as back-up

facility for other channels In the event of the loss of service of any one of these satellite systems we

estimate that the remaining systems will continue to deliver our signal to between 60% and 100% of

our affiliates We believe that the remaining useful life of the satellites we currently use is between

10 and 15 years

Distribution

Our signals are broadcast by the owned-and-operated stations and unmanned repeater transmitters

in our Television Station Groups as well as by our independent affiliate stations and local cable

operators

Television Station Groups We own and operate stations in various markets throughout Russia in

some cases together with local joint venture partners These owned-and-operated stations together with

unmanned repeater transmitters comprise our CTC Domashny and DTV Television Station Groups

Our CTC Television Station Group includes 45 owned-and-operated stations and unmanned repeaters

our Domashny Television Station Group includes 32 owned-and-operated stations and unmanned

repeaters and our DTV Television Station Group includes 31 owned-and-operated stations and

unmanned repeaters Our owned-and-operated stations and unmanned repeaters broadcast

programming received by satellite from the CTC Domashny or DTV networks including national

advertising Repeater transmitters are installed on local transmission towers and receive the signal of

our networks by satellite for broadcast locally without the need for local personnel or partners or

substantial investment in facilities In addition owned-and-operated stations and some unmanned

repeaters earn revenues by selling local advertising which is broadcast during designated windows

Our owned-and-operated stations and unmanned repeaters provide 45.0% technical penetration
for

CTC Network or 49.6% of its total penetration of 90.7% 40.7% technical penetration for Domashny

Network or 53.3% of its total penetration of 76.4% and 33.8% technical penetration for DTV

Network or 49.4% of its total penetration of 68.4%



Historically we have found it useful to enter into joint venture arrangements with local partners in

establishing and/or acquiring our owned-and-operated stations In general we seek majority control of

the stations we acquire or establish We are either the sole or majority shareholder of all but two of

our Russian owned-and-operated stations

Independent affiliate stations We have arrangements with independent affiliate stations including

local cable operators that provide for them to receive and broadcast our networks programming and

national advertising Our independent affiliates provide 45.7% technical penetration for CTC or 50.4%

of its total penetration of 90.7% 35.7% technical penetration for Domashny or 46.7% of its total

penetration of 76.4% and 34.6% technical penetration for DTV or 50.6% of its total penetration of

68.4% Approximately 50% of CTCs independent affiliates have signed written agreements with us

that generally require them to broadcast the CTC signal for two- to five-year terms although both

parties typically have the right to terminate the agreement by written notice prior to the end of the

term Arrangements with the remainder of our independent affiliates are generally governed by letters

of understanding Approximately 20% of Domashnys affiliates have signed written agreements with us
with the remainder generally governed by letters of understanding Approximately 90% of DTVs
affiliates have signed written agreements with us

We have no ownership interest in our independent affiliates These independent affiliates benefit

from the CTC Domashny and DTV brands and content in selling their own local advertising and

provide us with leveraged means of extending the coverage of our networks

CTC Domashny and DTV grant each affiliate non-exclusive right within its territory to

broadcast the network signal including all national advertising aired by the network Affiliates are

required to broadcast the network signal except during three to four half-hour local time blocks per

day and designated local advertising windows throughout each time slot during the day The affiliates

have the right to fill the local time blocks with their own or licensed content as well as with local

advertising and announcements Alternatively the affiliates may continue to broadcast network

programming during these periods We encourage them to broadcast the network signal during the

entire day other than in local advertising windows in order to ensure that the programming that is

broadcast appeals to our target audiences

We seek to ensure consistent quality across our networks in order to maximize the value of our

brands Our agreements with affiliates provide for nominal financial penalties in the event that

station fails to broadcast our national programming and advertising other than during the designated

local windows We employ monitors and have instituted additional controls to ensure compliance by

our affiliates with these requirements

Competition

The Russian television business is highly competitive We compete with other broadcasters and

other forms of media for advertising spending and we compete with other broadcasters for audience

share programming rights affiliate stations and broadcast frequencies in particular stronger VHF

frequencies in key markets As competition for advertising expenditures increases we anticipate

corresponding increase in competition among broadcasters for the rights to the most popular Russian

and foreign programs

In addition the television broadcasting industry is continuously faced with technological change

and innovation Commercial free-to-air television broadcasting in Russia will likely face future

competition from digital broadcasters interactive video and data services information and data services

delivered by commercial television stations cable television direct broadcast satellites multi-point

distribution systems and other video delivery systems
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For sales of advertising we compete primarily on the basis of both the actual and anticipated sizes

of our audiences for specific time slots as well as the demographic characteristics of our viewers

Competition for television audiences is based principally on the selection of programming the

acceptance of which is dependent on the viewing public which is often difficult to predict All our

networks compete with broadcasters that have significantly higher audience shares and coverage than

they do

Television broadcasters

On national level CTC competes directly with other national broadcast networks and channels

including Channel One Rossiya and NTV as well as with the smaller networks REN-TV and TNT

Domashny and DTV compete for advertising revenues primarily with other smaller channels such as

MTV TV-3 and TVC although they also compete with the national broadcast networks and channels

for viewers within their target demographic groups On local level our owned-and-operated stations

compete with other stations for local advertising We also compete to limited extent with pay

television and on-demand services and other advertising media

We believe that our network model will allow us to continue to compete effectively in the Russian

television market Our network structure in contrast to channel structure allows us to use

independent affiliates to increase our broadcast coverage without incurring additional transmission

costs In addition our owned-and-operated stations allow us to capture portion of the local

advertising market that some of our national competitors have not captured using their channel

strategy

The table below provides certain key statistics about CTC Domashny DTV and their major

television competitors

Average All

Technical Principal target
audience share

penetration audience age1 2008 2009

Channel One 99.4% All 18 20.9% 18.9%

Rossiya 99.0 All 18 17.3 17.2

NTV 96.4 18-45 13.3 14.1

CTC 90.7 6-54 9.0 9.0

TNT 88.8 18-45 7.3 6.9

REN-TV 85.6 18-45 4.5 4.9

TVC 78.2 18-54 2.9 3.1

TV-3 75.2 18-54 2.7 2.8

Domashny 76.4 25-60 women 2.2 2.2

DTV 68.4 25-542 1.8 2.0

CTC Media estimates

In 2008 the target audience for DTV was All 18 Starting in 2009 we repositioned DTV to

target 25-54 year-old viewers

Principal competitors

To date our primary competitors have been the major networks and channels owned in whole or

in
part by the state Channel One and Rossiya as well as NTV controlled by state-controlled

Gazprom Media With large direct and indirect government subsidies the state broadcasters have been

able to air recent blockbuster movies and hit series bidding up the price on high-quality

programming They have also maintained their dominance through significant outlays on news and local

production

11



Channel One Channel One the formerly 100% state-owned national television station Ostankino

was reorganized in 1995 and since that time has been 49% privately owned Channel Ones schedule

includes Vremya Time the highest-rated and longest-running news program in Russia Russian-made

series foreign-produced programming including blockbuster movies game shows and major sporting

events such as major soccer and ice hockey games Channel One is particularly well positioned in the

Russian national television broadcasting market due to its historical position as the First Channel in

Russia and its broadcast coverage which is the
greatest

of all Russian television broadcasters

Rossiya Rossiya the state-owned television channel is the second largest television broadcaster in

Russia in terms of audience share Following the partial privatization of Channel One Rossiya is one of

the few remaining 100% state-owned channels in Russia Rossiya remains primary source of

government-sponsored news and information programs Rossiyas programming schedule includes the

channels trademark program Vesti News political programs variety of Russian-produced series and

made-for-television films talk and game shows documentaries some foreign-produced programming

including blockbuster movies and major sports programming The channel was also one of the first

Russian broadcasters to attempt its own large-scale television film production

NTV NTVs programming consists of information and entertainment programming with major

emphasis on news documentaries and Russian series and shows Gazprom Media part of the state-

controlled Gazprom natural gas and oil company owns controlling interest in NTV NTV is the third

largest broadcaster in Russia in terms of audience share

TNT TNT is an entertainment network which targets primarily younger demographics It

produces large proportion of its own programming and as result broadcasts primarily Russian-

produced programming including entertainment talk shows reality shows sitcoms comedy shows and

childrens programming In addition TNT also airs foreign comedy movies in prime time Like NTV
TNTs principal shareholder is Gazprom Media In 2009 with an average share of 6.9% TNT was the

fifth largest television broadcaster in Russia in terms of audience share

REN-TV REN-TV broadcasts news and analytical programs documentaries entertainment

programs sports news sporting events popular foreign series and Hollywood movies Like TNT
REN-TV produces large percentage of its own programming With an average audience share of

4.9% REN-TV was the sixth largest television broadcaster in Russia in terms of audience share in

2009

Additional competitors

Over the past decade number of new smaller networks or thematic channels targeting specific

audiences have been established As of the end of 2009 there were total of approximately 20

free-to-air TV channels and networks with nationwide coverage We have identified the following as

other key competitors of CTC Domashny and/or DTV

Average

Audience

Year of Technical Share in

Name Launch Programming Format penetration 2009

TVC 1997 Moscow political and social themes news and analytical

programs talk shows movies and Russian and foreign drama

series 78.2 3.1

TV-3 1998 Foreign programming primarily science-fiction and mystical

series and documentaries 75.2 2.8
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Intellectual Property

We rely heavily upon the rights we obtain through license agreements with programming providers

for the content we broadcast

We have registered trademarks for the CTC Domashny DTV and CTC Media name and

logo in the Russian Federation In addition we have registered trademarks for the CTC Media name

and logo in Australia Singapore Great Britain Denmark Norway Ireland Georgia Cyprus Hungary

Benelux Armenia Kazakhstan and Democratic Peoples Republic of Korea in accordance with the

international trademark registration procedure under the Madrid Protocol

Employees

The following table sets forth the number of our employees as of December 31 2009 and

breakdown by function

CEO Office

Regional Infrastructure and IT

Finance and Legal

Sales

Marketing

TV Channels and Programming

Production

Research

Security

Strategy and Development

Organizational Development Administration

and Human Resources

Broadcasting outside Russia

Total employees

Financial Information by Operating Segment

Television

Station

Corporate Networks Groups CIS Production Total

114

29

12

11

For financial information by operating segment see Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary DataNote 16 Segment Information

83 243

28 43 83

27 54

48 19

14 158

444

13 196

95

80

175

64 75

16 29 58

79 395 402 187 88 1151

13



AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We file reports proxy statements and other documents with the Securities and Exchange

Commission or the SEC which are available on the SECs Internet site at httpI/wwwsec.gov You may

also read and copy any document we file at the SEC Public Reference Room at 100 Street NE
Washington D.C 20549 You should call 1-800-SEC-0330 for more information on the public reference

room

Our internet address is wwwctcmedia.ru We are not including the information contained in our

website as part of or incorporating it by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K We make

available free of charge through our website our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports on

Form 10-0 current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these
reports

filed or furnished pursuant

to Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended as soon as reasonably

practicable after we electronically file such materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Item 1A Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves high degree of risk You should carefully consider the

following risk factors and all other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before

purchasing our common stock The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones that we

face Additional risks and uncertainties of which we are unaware or that we currently deem immaterial

may also become important factors that affect us There may be risks that particular investor views

differently from us and our analysis of the risks we face might be wrong If any of the risks that we face

actually occui our business financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected

and could differ materially from any possible results suggested by any forward-looking statements that we

have made or might make In such case the trading price of our common stock could decline and you

could lose some or all of your investment We expressly disclaim any obligation to update or revise any

forward-looking statements whether as result of new information future events or otherwise except as

required by law

Risks relating to our business and industry

Recent changes in Russian law may fundamentally change the way in which we sell advertising which could

adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

In December 2009 the Law on Advertising was amended effective in 2011 to prohibit federal

TV broadcasters from signing agency agreements with media sales houses that hold TV advertising

market share greater
than 35% The Russian Federal Anti-monopoly Service has the authority to seek

the termination of agreements that allegedly violate these provisions
Video International the media

sales house that sells all of our national advertising and substantially all of our regional advertising

currently controls more than 35% of the Russian TV advertising market

As result of this amendment we anticipate that the structure of the Russian TV advertising

market will change and that the number of sales houses will increase In addition it is possible that

greater portion of TV advertising sales will be made directly by broadcasters in-house sales teams

rather than through sales houses

The amended law contains some provisions that are difficult to interpret and uses terminology that

falls outside common industry practice As of yet it is unclear if any official interpretive guidance will

be issued In light of these ambiguities and lack of clarity further amendments to the law are possible

The amended law may require us to change how we sell advertising We may be unsuccessful

especially
in the short-term in transitioning to new system of advertising sales that produces the same

revenues at the same margins as we have enjoyed historically The amended law could therefore have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations
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We currently rely on single television advertising sales house for substantially all of our revenues and

therefore our operating results could be materially adversely affected if our relationship with this sales house

were to be disrupted or if it were to fail to sell advertising on our behalf effectively

National television advertising in Russia and other CIS countries has historically not been placed

directly with broadcasters but rather through so-called sales houses In Russia Video International

currently controls the placement of large portion of our national television advertising and also

places local advertising for our regional television stations Revenues generated through Video

International accounted for approximately 95% of our total operating revenues in 2007 96% in 2008

and 94% in 2009

The length of our agreements with Video International varies with the agreements relating to our

CTC Domashny and DTV Television Station Groups expiring at the end of December 2010 and the

agreement relating to our CTC Network expiring at the end of December 2012 Agreements relating to

our Domashny and DTV Networks expire at the end of December 2014 Our current agreements with

Video International are terminable upon 180 days notice by either party and we cannot guarantee that

the Video International agreements will not be terminated prior to the scheduled expiration or that if

they are terminated we will be able to conclude replacement agreements that provide us with the same

level of advertising revenues or other benefits as the current agreements

Video International typically in consultation with us determines advertising prices agrees the

terms of sales contracts between it and advertisers and oversees the collection of advertising sales

revenue Video International typically consults with us on general budgeting matters including average

selling prices the total number of
gross rating points GRPs expected over the year the allocation of

GRPs across the year and similar matters We do not have any direct input into the evaluation of the

creditworthiness of potential new advertisers or direct control over collection of advertising sales

revenues and Video International could act unilaterally should it choose to do so when setting

advertising prices and allocating GRPs

Early termination of our agreements with Video International its inability or failure to continue to

forward advertising fees to us its failure to achieve targeted levels of advertising sales and any other

disruption in our relationship with Video International resulting from the recent amendment to the

Russian advertising law or otherwise would likely have material adverse effect on our business

financial condition and results of operations See Recent changes in Russian law may fundamentally

change the way in which we sell advertising which could adversely affect our business financial

condition and results of operations

reduction in our audience shares and ratings would likely result in reduction in our advertising revenues

The level of advertising revenues that we receive is directly tied to our audience shares and ratings

If our audience shares or ratings were to fall as result for example of competitive pressures the

underperformance of key programs the failure to renew licenses or change in the method of

measuring television audiences this would likely result in decrease in our advertising revenues which

could be material In particular from time to time we air one or two hit series during primetime that

contribute disproportionately to our overall audience share resulting in an overall audience share that

we may not be able to sustain once that hit series is discontinued or loses popularity Moreover
because we continue to rely on third-party production companies for large portion of our

programming and our programming library is not as extensive as those of some of our competitors we

may be unable to quickly substitute new programming for underperforming programming If we do not

consistently select programs or obtain rights to programs that achieve particularly high audience shares

in key time slots our overall audience share and therefore our revenues will be adversely affected
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We derive almost all of our revenues from the sale of advertising which is sensitive to broader economic

conditions Our revenues may substantially decrease if the current economic instability in Russia and certain

of the other CIS countries in which we operate continues or if those economies experience further

deterioration

We generate substantially all of our revenues from advertising In general expenditures by

advertisers tend to be cyclical reflecting overall economic conditions and buying patterns Since the

introduction of commercial television advertising in Russia following the fall of the Soviet Union

advertising spending has fluctuated substantially generally increasing during periods of economic

growth and decreasing during downturns For example in August 1998 the Russian government

defaulted on certain of its outstanding financial obligations and the Central Bank of Russia stopped its

support of the ruble leading to steep devaluation During the ensuing economic crisis total spending

on television advertising in Russia declined significantly falling from pre-crisis high of $550 million in

1997 to low of $190 million in 1999 Economic recovery following the crisis was slow and spending

on Russian television advertising did not exceed the 1997 figure in US dollar terms until 2002 As

result our revenues declined significantly after the 1998 economic crisis

More recently the Russian economy had exhibited positive trends such as an increase in gross

domestic product and stable and strengthening currency During these years total spending on

television advertising increased significantly from $2330 million in 2005 to $3160 million in 2006

$4397 million in 2007 and $5506 million in 2008 Beginning in the second half of 2008 however

Russia like many other countries began to experience economic instability characterized by steep

decline in the value of shares traded on its stock exchanges devaluation of its currency capital flight

and decline in gross domestic product in 2009 Additionally because Russia produces and exports

large amounts of oil its economy is particularly vulnerable to fluctuations in the price of oil on the

world market and recent decreases in international oil prices have adversely affected and may continue

to adversely affect its economy Total television advertising spending in Russia has been adversely

affected by this economic instability and as result our operating results for 2009 were materially

adversely affected If the economic instability continues it may continue to have material negative

impact on Russian advertising spending which in turn may adversely affect our operating results for

2010

Like Russia Kazakhstan has also been experiencing economic instability As result total

television advertising spending in 2009 was negatively impacted and we currently expect advertising

spending in 2010 to continue to be adversely affected Moreover during 2009 the Kazakh tenge

depreciated approximately 18.6% against the US dollar Both of these factors negatively impacted

operating results for our Kazakh network in 2009 further reduction in advertising spending in

Kazakhstan or further devaluation of the tenge will negatively impact our operating results

Recent declines in the value of the Russian ruble against the US dollar have negatively impacted our reported

revenues and operating results If the ruble depreciates further against the US dollar our revenues and our

operating results both as reported in US dollars will be adversely affected

Although our reporting currency is the US dollar we generate almost all of our revenues through

the sale of advertising which in Russia is sold primarily in rubles The ruble is also the functional

currency of our principal operating subsidiaries As result our reported revenues and results of

operations are impacted by fluctuations in the exchange rate between the US dollar and the Russian

ruble In August 2008 the value of the Russian ruble began to depreciate against the US dollar The

overall depreciation of the Russian ruble for 2008 amounted to approximately 16.5% The Russian

ruble depreciated further 2.9% against the US dollar during 2009 and as result the average

exchange rate of the ruble against the US dollar was 22% lower in 2009 than in 2008 This depreciation

had material negative impact on our reported results of operations for 2009
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Additionally given that substantially all of our revenues are generated in rubles we face exchange

rate risk relating to payments that we must make in currencies other than the ruble We generally pay
for non-Russian produced programming in US dollars Moreover as of December 31 2009 we had

$28.3 million in outstanding principal and accrued interest under our Credit Facility Agreement

Although we have and may continue to enter into hedging transactions in an effort to reduce some of

our foreign exchange risk we continue to be negatively impacted by the depreciation of the ruble

If the exchange rate between the ruble and the US dollar depreciates further our revenues and

operating results for 2010 as reported in US dollars will be adversely affected

Changes in the method of measuring television audiences have at times in the past resulted and may again in

the future result in decreases in our audience share and ratings

The system of audience measurement in Russia currently run by TNS Gallup Media has been

evolving as the advertising market has matured and in response to changing Russian demographics

Effective January 2009 the audience measurement system was modified in response to an

updated census that demonstrated changes in Russias demographics This census showed that the

relative percentage of children particularly teenagers in the overall population decreased significantly

due to the effect of material drop in the birth rate in Russia from 1990 to 1995 We currently

estimate that the modification in the audience measurement system decreases CTCs target audience

share by up to 0.7 percentage points compared with the system that was in place prior to 2009 which

negatively affects CTCs advertising revenues

Starting from July 2009 TNS Gallup Media weights the panel of measured cities based on

broadcasters technical penetration in larger group of 125 cities Following this change our audience

share could be negatively affected if we were to lose an affiliate in one of that larger group of cities or

if our technical penetration in those additional cities were to be lower than our average technical

penetration

In January 2010 the size of the panel itself was increased from 65 to 72 cities Each of our

Russian networks broadcast in these additional cities mostly through cable or independent affiliates In

addition TNS Gallup Media made changes to the relative weighting of the cities in the panel

Although this re-weighting did not have negative effect on our revenues on consolidated basis it

did result in an impairment of some of our affected broadcasting licenses on stand-alone basis See

significant portion of our total assets are intangibles assets with indefinite lives If events or

changes in circumstances require us to further reduce the fair value of those assets we may be required

to record impairment losses that can materially adversely impact our net income

When changes to the system of audience measurement occur we attempt to take steps when

possible in respect of our programming and distribution to counteract the effects of such changes We
cannot ensure you that these steps will be adequate or effective or that any further changes in the

measurement systems will not result in decrease in our audience share and therefore material

decrease in our advertising revenues

significant portion of our total assets are intangibles assets with indefinite lives that we do not amortize If

events or changes in circumstances require us to further reduce the fair value of those assets we may be

required to record impairment losses that can materially adversely impact our net income

We have intangible assets recorded on our consolidated balance sheet such as broadcasting

licenses trade names and goodwill that have indefinite lives and represent significant portion of our

total assets Because these assets have indefinite lives we do not amortize them but instead perform

impairment tests on them annually or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable If we determine that our estimate of the current

17



value of an asset is below the recorded value of that asset on our balance sheet we record an

impairment loss for the difference

As result of the economic instability that arose in the second half of 2008 we recorded

noncash impairment losses that had net effect on our 2008 net income of $153.7 million This loss

related to intangible assets and goodwill that we acquired in connection with acquisitions completed in

2008 including broadcasting licenses of DTV Television Station Group trade names of DTV Network

broadcasting licenses and goodwill of Channel 31 in Kazakhstan and the broadcasting license of our

broadcasting group in Moldova

More recently change in the weighting given to panel cities by TNS Gallup Media required us to

re-assess the carrying value of our broadcasting licenses in certain panel cities and as result we

recorded impairment losses that had net effect on our net income of $15.0 million in the fourth

quarter of 2009

In the future events and changes in circumstances may again impact the carrying value of our

intangible assets and require us to record additional impairment losses that could have material

adverse impact on our net income

Loss of key personnel could affect our growth and future success

We believe that our growth and our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to

attract and retain highly skilled senior management production talent and finance personnel We have

recently lost several key personnel including several important content production legal and finance

personnel In addition we believe that certain competitors are aggressively courting some of our

personnel The competition is intense in Russia for qualified personnel who are familiar with the

Russian television industry and/or who are knowledgeable about US accounting and legal practices We

cannot assure you that we will be able to hire replacements and/or retain other qualified personnel on

reasonable terms or at all

Restrictions on direct or indirect foreign ownership of Russian television companies could limit our ability to

grow our business through acquisitions

In May 2008 the law On foreign investments in economic entities that have strategic importance

for defense and security of the state the Ownership Law came into effect in Russia The

Ownership Law imposes restrictions on direct or indirect non-Russian ownership in strategically

important industries including television broadcasters that broadcast to more than 50% of the

population of relevant constituent entity of the Russian Federation Among other things the

Ownership Law requires prior approval from the Commission for Control Over Foreign Investments

and potentially from the Federal Security Bureau for the acquisition by non-Russian entity of an

interest above certain ownership threshold in company operating in strategically significant sector

It is anticipated that such approval will generally require at least six months

The Ownership Law contains grandfathering provision with respect to pre-existing holdings in

affected companies that requires notification of such pre-existing holdings but no approval requirement

We therefore believe that neither CTC Medias pre-existing ownership of its Russian operating

subsidiaries nor the pre-existing ownership of shares of CTC Media by non-Russian stockholders will

violate the Ownership Law or require any approval We do believe however that we will be required

to obtain approval under the Ownership Law for any acquisition of an affiliate television station that

broadcasts to more than 50% of the population of relevant constituent entity of the Russian

Federation or any acquisition of another Russian network Such approval process
is likely to be

time-consuming and may in any event ultimately result in rejection of proposed transaction As

result we may lose out on acquisition opportunities to competitors and our ability to grow our

business through acquisitions in Russia may be limited Even if the authorities approve such
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transaction they may do so subject to conditions regarding the operation of the companyincluding
for example the composition of its managementthat may limit our effective control and operational

flexibility

Restrictions on foreign involvement in the television business in Russia could potentially be amended or

interpreted in such way as to result in our loss of necessary licenses or to require us to divest majority

con frol of our Russian operating subsidiaries

In addition to the Ownership Law discussed above the law On Mass Media the Mass Media

Law also restricts direct but not indirect foreign involvement in Russian television businesses

Following adoption of these provisions in 2002 we implemented restructuring plan pursuant to which

we created holding company structure and reduced CTC Medias direct ownership in the CTC
Network and each of our owned-and-operated stations below 50% CTC Medias direct ownership of

Domashny and the DTV Group which were acquired subsequent to the adoption of these restrictions

is also below 50% This restructuring was completed prior to the August 2002 deadline with respect to

all entities in our group other than our CTC-Moscow station the restructuring of the ownership of

that station was completed in December 2002 To date no Russian governmental authorities have taken

any action against our CTC-Moscow station for its failure to comply with the restrictions on foreign

legal ownership by the deadline Because CTC Media does not broadcast or distribute television

programming in the Russian Federation we believe that CTC Media itself does not fall under the

definition of founder of television or video program for purposes of the Mass Media Law and

that CTC Media does not violate the foreign involvement restrictions of that law

The Mass Media Law could in the future be interpreted by Russian governmental authorities or

court to extend to and to prohibit indirect foreign ownership of or control over Russian broadcasters

of television or video programs In addition the Ownership Law described above could be implemented

or interpreted to apply in some respects to foreign holdings existing at the time of adoption of the law

In either case it is possible that Russian governmental authorities could suspend or revoke

broadcasting licenses or permits held by our networks and our owned-and-operated stations or fail to

renew any such licenses If any law were to be adopted or interpreted to restrict indirect foreign

ownership and control of Russian television broadcasters and did not contain grandfather clause

with respect to existing holdings CTC Media could be obliged to restructure its group in order to

comply with such requirements including by divesting controlling stake in our networks and our

owned-and-operated stations If we failed to comply in
timely manner the authorities could suspend

revoke or fail to renew broadcasting licenses or permits held by our networks or our

owned-and-operated stations or could take other actions against us that could limit our ability to

operate

Restrictions on foreign involvement in the television business in Kazakhstan could be amended or interpreted

in such way as to result in our loss of necessary licenses or to require us to divest control of our Kazakh

operating subsidiaries

The Mass Media Law in Kazakhstan restricts direct and indirect foreign ownership of any Kazakh
television broadcaster to no more than 20% In February 2008 we acquired 20% interest in the

Kazakh television broadcast company Channel 31 and established two subsidiaries that provide the

programming content and advertising sales functions to Channel 31 on an exclusive basis together the

Channel 31 Group Together these interests provide us with 60% economic interest in the

Channel 31 Group as whole If the existing 20% limit were to be interpreted to restrict effective or

economic control rather than just direct ownership or if the law were to be changed or interpreted to

impose further restrictions or limitations on foreign ownership of Kazakh television broadcasters we
could be obliged to restructure this group in order to comply with such requirements or could be

required to divest all or portion of our interest in the Channel 31 Group If we failed to comply in
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timely manner the authorities could suspend or revoke Channel 31s broadcasting licenses or could

take other actions that could limit our ability to operate the Channel 31 Group

We recently completed several significant acquisitions and continue to seek opportunities to acquire other

stations networks production companies and other complementaiy media companies We may encounter

difficulties integrating our recently acquired businesses and if we fail to identify additional suitable targets

our growth may be impeded

We completed several significant acquisitions in 2008 including our third national Russian

network DTV majority economic interest in the Kazakh network Channel 31 majority economic

interest in broadcasting group in Moldova and two Russian production companies In addition in

2009 we acquired several regional stations While these acquisitions represent important achievements

in our growth strategy
the integration of these businesses and any additional businesses poses

significant risks to our existing operations including

additional and significant demands placed on our senior management who are also responsible

for managing our existing operations

increased overall operating complexity of our business requiring greater personnel and other

resources

difficulties of expanding beyond our core expertise

significant initial cash expenditures to acquire and integrate new businesses

contingent
liabilities associated with acquired businesses and

incurrence of debt to finance acquisitions and high debt service costs related thereto

Additionally the integration of new businesses may be difficult for variety of reasons including

differing cultures or management styles legal restrictions in the targets jurisdiction poor target records

or internal controls and an inability to establish control over cash flows Furthermore even if we are

successful in integrating new businesses expected synergies and cost savings may not materialize

resulting in lower than expected profit margins

As part of our growth strategy we intend to continue to evaluate potential acquisitions that we

believe are commercially attractive in light of the current economic environment As US public

company we are subject to securities laws and regulations requiring that we file with the SEC audited

historical financial statements for businesses we acquire that exceed certain materiality thresholds

Given financial reporting practices in Russia and other CIS countries such financial statements are

often not readily available or not capable of being audited to the standards required by US securities

regulations As result we may be prevented from pursuing acquisition opportunities that our

competitors and other financial and strategic investors are able to pursue

change in Russian law further limiting the amount of advertising time permitted on television could

materially adversely affect our results of operations

Current Russian law limits the amount of time that broadcaster may devote to advertising to no

more than 15% of any broadcasting hour From time to time there are discussions in the Russian

government regarding imposing additional restrictions on television advertising such as limiting the

types of products that may be advertised limiting the number of advertising breaks allowed in certain

programs or requiring channels to devote more broadcast time to public service announcements If

legislation were introduced to further limit our ability to broadcast paid advertising we cannot

guarantee that increases in advertising prices if any or any other steps we would be able to take to

mitigate the impact of such further limitation would be sufficient to compensate for the loss of

advertising time
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Iffree-to-air television does not continue to constitute significant advertising forum in Russia our revenues

could be materially reduced

We generate substantially all our revenues from the sale of television advertising in Russia which

constituted approximately half of all advertising expenditures in Russia in 2009 having increased from

25% in 1999 In the broader advertising market television competes with various other advertising

media such as print radio the internet and outdoor advertising While television currently constitutes

the single largest component of all advertising spending in Russia there can be no assurance that

television will maintain its current position among advertising media or that changes in the regulatory

environment will not favor other advertising media or other television broadcasters Increases in

competition arising from the development of new forms of advertising media could have an adverse

effect on our ability to maintain and develop our advertising revenues and as result on our results of

operations Television viewership is generally declining in Russia That decline is more pronounced in

our networks target demographics Continued decline in the appeal of television generally and in

particular in our key demographics whether as result of the growth in popularity of other forms of

media or other forms of entertainment could adversely affect the attractiveness of television as an

advertising medium which in turn could have material adverse effect on our results of operations

Competition for quality programming in Russia is intense and any failure to secure steady supply of

popular programming may negatively affect our audience shares which in turn could have material adverse

affect on our results of operations

Our ability to attract and retain viewers depends primarily on our success in offering programming

that appeals to our target audiences Russian viewer preferences have been changing in recent years

with increasing demand for programming produced in Russia There is currently limited supply of

Russian-produced programming and
strong competition among the Russian networks and channels for

such programming as well as for popular foreign programming

If we are unable to produce or secure steady supply of high-quality programming or if we fail to

anticipate identify or react appropriately to changes in Russian viewer tastes by providing appropriate

programming our audience shares could be negatively affected which would adversely affect our

advertising revenues Moreover if any of the programming we produce commission or license does not

achieve the audience share levels we anticipate we may be required to write-off all or portion of the

carrying cost of such programming or we could be forced to broadcast more expensive programming to

maintain audience share either of which could have material adverse impact on our results of

operations

The loss of licenses or the failure to comply with the terms of licenses could have an adverse affect on our

business

All broadcast television stations in Russia are required to have broadcast and other operating

licenses which generally have renewable terms of five years Only limited number of such licenses are

available in each locality In addition Russian law could be interpreted as requiring cable television

operators to have broadcast and other operating licenses for each of the channels or networks they

transmit on their cable systems Most of the independent cable television operators that currently carry

our networks do not possess
such licenses The issuance of license as well as the terms and

conditions of any license are often subject to the exercise of broad discretion by governmental

authorities

The broadcasting licenses of our affiliate stations also contain various restrictions and obligations

including requirements with
respect to the minimum amount of Russian-produced programming

usually requiring at least 50% as well as locally-produced programming Our affiliates have not always

been in full compliance with all requirements of their licenses or obtained all the licenses necessary for
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broadcasting Tithe terms of license are not complied with or if television station otherwise violates

applicable Russian legislation or regulations the license may be suspended or terminated which

decision may be appealed in court If an affiliate were to broadcast without all the necessary licenses

broadcasting may be terminated and fines could be imposed

The broadcasting license of Channel 31 in Kazakhstan contains various restrictions and obligations

Recently the Kazakh government enacted law that requires that broadcasters broadcast at least 50%

of their programming in the Kazakh language during every six-hour slot Channel 31 has not always

been in full compliance with these requirements Tithe terms of license are not complied with or if

Channel 31 violates applicable legislation or regulations the license may be suspended or terminated

The loss of an existing broadcasting license or the failure to obtain broadcasting license in new

market could reduce or limit the coverage of our networks and result in loss of audience share and

fall in ratings which could materially adversely affect our advertising revenues and business

The inability of our affiliates to renew existing licenses upon expiration of their terms could result in the loss

of audience share

The renewal of existing licenses is often subject to the exercise of broad discretion by

governmental authorities At any given time several of our owned-and-operated stations and many of

our independent affiliates are operating pursuant to broadcasting licenses that have expired and/or are

in the process of being renewed modified or extended The inability to renew an existing broadcasting

license particularly in significant market could reduce or limit the coverage of our networks and

result in loss of audience share and fall in ratings which could materially adversely affect our

advertising revenues and business

The loss of independent affiliates could result in loss of audience shares

We seek to enter into formal agreements with our independent affiliate stations that govern

various aspects of the broadcast of our network programming These agreements generally provide each

party with the right to terminate the agreement on 60 or 90 days notice without penalty In certain

instances particularly in smaller cities and towns and with local cable networks our arrangements are

governed by letters of understanding that provide us with only limited recourse in the event of

disagreement If an independent affiliate in larger market particularly in city where audiences are

measured and in which we do not own and operate station were to terminate its agreement with us

sell itself to competing network or lose the ability to broadcast our signal it could result in

decrease in our audience share

We rely on third parties for the production of some of our original Russian programming and our business

could be adversely affected if we are unable to continue such relationships on acceptable terms

Although we produce an increasing percentage of our original programming in-house we continue

to rely on third-party production houses to produce portion of our original programs Ti we are

unable to continue our close working relationships with the production houses we use or to develop

new relationships our ability to air premium new Russian content may be impeded which would likely

result in loss of audience share and therefore reduction in our share of the television advertising

market

We rely on third parties to provide us with re-transmission capabilities in certain locations and our business

would be adversely affected if such parties terminated or adversely changed the terms of those relationships

In certain locations we depend on cable operators or other third parties to carry our signal In

Moscow for example television signals are transmitted from central tower to roof antennas located

on buildings throughout the city and then amplified for retransmission within the buildings The
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original system which was introduced in the 1960s carried only six VHF channels Mostelecom the

local provider upgraded number of roof antenna systems from 1997 to 2004 to add capacity for

limited number of additional channels We collaborated with Mostelecom in this project paying an

amount per additional household connected in order to help ensure that our CTC Network has

allocated access on Mostelecoms systems where capacity was increased

We have entered into contracts with Mostelecom to secure the right of our CTC and Domashny
Moscow stations to be connected by cable to additional households in Moscow DTV also has

number of agreements with Mostelecom for cable connections to households in Moscow These

contracts do not however grant us the right to be connected to all households in Moscow for all of

our networks We continue to evaluate from cost benefit analysis whether to enter into additional

contracts with Mostelecom regarding other households second cable operator carries our networks

signals to approximately 15% of the Moscow households covered by our networks signals We pay this

cable operator an annual fee for transmission to these households cable system similar to that

provided by Mostelecom is in place in St Petersburg and is operated by the local provider there we

currently have no binding contractual right of access to the system

In April 2007 the Russian Ministry of Telecommunications requested evidence of the legal basis

pursuant to which some cable television operators including those carrying the signals of our networks

carry certain broadcasters signals over their systems As result of this request some of our cable

television operators including Mostelecom which is the primary carrier of our networks signals in

Moscow indicated that they might be required to begin charging us transmission fees for carrying our

signals on their networks We and representatives of other Russian broadcasters met with the Russian

Ministry of Telecommunications in the second quarter of 2007 to understand the ramifications of this

inquiry It was agreed that the broadcasters and cable television operators should
try to resolve this

issue independently without involvement of the Russian Ministry of Telecommunications by the end of

2007 While discussions continue on resolving this matter to date no resolution has been reached and

no further actions have been taken

If we were to be denied continued access to the cable systems that carry our networks signals in

Moscow or St Petersburg our technical penetration would be materially adversely affected which

would in turn have material adverse effect on our audience shares Moreover if we were required to

pay transmission fees to these cable operators our operating costs would be increased possibly

materially

We may not be able to compete successfully against other television channels and networks that may have

broader coverage greater name recognition larger market share wider programming content or access to

more funding than we do or with newer niche channels or pay-television services offering competitive

programming formats

The Russian television broadcasting business is highly competitive Our networks compete for

audience share with other national television networks and channels and with local stations as well as

with niche broadcasters We compete on the basis of both the actual and anticipated size of our

audiences for specific time slots as well as the demographic characteristics of our viewers

On national level CTC competes directly with other national broadcast networks and channels

including Channel One Rossiya and NTV as well as with the smaller networks REN-TV and TNT
Domashny and DTV compete for advertising revenues primarily with other smaller channels such as

TV-3 and TVC although they also compete with the national broadcast networks and channels for

viewers within their target demographic groups On local level our owned-and-operated stations

compete with other stations for local advertising

Channel One and Rossiya were established as state television channels during the Soviet period
and they remain under Russian state control As result we understand that these channels receive

23



state benefits not generally available to private companies including free signal transmission in the

case of Channel One direct state budget subsidies in the case of Rossiya and preferences in

licensing Moreover nearly every viewing household in Russia can receive the broadcast signals of

Channel One and Rossiya while only more limited viewing audience can currently receive our

network signals The much broader coverage and name recognition of Channel One and Rossiya

coupled with programming geared toward broader demographic group help them to attract large

audience shares NTV which is indirectly controlled by the state through Gazprom the state-controlled

energy company also has broader coverage than our networks and we believe also benefits from free

signal transmission During 2008 Channel One had an average audience share of 20.9% while

Rossiyas was 17.3% and NTVs was 13.3% During 2009 Channel One had an average audience share

of 18.9% while Rossiyas was 17.2% and NTVs was 14.1% CTCs average audience share during both

2008 and 2009 was 9.0% We believe that the strong audience shares of Channel One Rossiya and

NTV may give these broadcasters added leverage in negotiations with advertisers advertising agencies

and sales houses

Moreover as we focus on entertainment programming we are unable to compete with other

broadcasters for audiences for news and sporting programs some of which have among the highest

audience shares and ratings in their time slots

In addition to competing with other free-to-air broadcasters we compete with pay-television

services that offer multiple channels to subscribers for regular subscription fee and that typically
do

not generate significant portion of their revenues from advertising As percentage of the overall

viewing market the pay-television market in Russia is smaller than in the United States and Western

European countries Audience share for Russian pay-television is however increasing In other

countries such as the United States growth in pay-television services has often resulted in

fragmentation of the market and corresponding decrease in the audience share of large national

networks and channels If pay-television services continue to grow their customer base in Russia our

audience shares and ratings could be negatively affected which would adversely affect our advertising

revenues

We may face additional expenses
and increased competition in connection with the planned transition from

analog to digital broadcasting in Russia

In late 2009 the Russian government announced plans to introduce digital broadcasting

throughout Russia by 2015 The specific terms of the transition are not yet known Depending on the

terms of the transition we may face competition from other parties for digital frequencies or other

access and are likely to face additional costs in connection with requirements for new equipment and

added staffing We may also face increased competition from other broadcasters that may make the

transition to digital broadcasting more quickly or efficiently than we do or that are more successful in

taking advantage of the new digital platform to introduce better programming offering

We have substantial future programming commitments that we may not be able to vary in response to

decline in advertising revenues and as result could experience material reductions in operating margins

Programming represents our most significant expense and at any given time we generally have

substantial fixed commitments for the succeeding two to three years For example as of December 31

2009 we had contractual commitments for the acquisition of approximately $105.9 million in

programming rights through 2010 and $65.5 million in 2011-2012 Given the size of these commitments

at any time reduction in our advertising revenues could adversely affect our operating margins and

results of operations We would have only limited ability to reduce our costs in the short-run in

response to such developments

24



Our relationships with the co-owners of our television stations may limit our ability to implement our business

plans and strategy

Over half of our owned-and-operated stations are 100% owned by CTC Media Other investors

own between less than 1% and 50% of each of the remaining owned-and-operated stations In some

cases we depend to significant extent on our local partners for their familiarity with the local

business environment and public authorities and we understand that some of our local partners are

also minority shareholders in the local Video International subsidiary that sells local advertising for our

owned-and-operated stations Moreover we may in the future similarly rely on joint-owners as we

acquire additional stations Any significant disruption in our relationship with these parties could make
it more difficult for us to operate our existing stations

Russian law and some of the agreements governing these stations grant protective rights to our

co-owners that enable them to block certain significant corporate actions Under Russian company law

significant corporate decisions such as declaring and paying dividends and entering into substantial

transactions require the consent of the holders of two-thirds or three-quarters of the voting interests of

the company depending on the subject matter and the legal structure of the company In addition

unanimous shareholder approval is required in limited instances which could further affect our control

over certain actions For example approval of joint stock companys initial charter and reorganization

of joint stock company into non-commercial partnership require 100% approval of shareholders

and in the case of limited liability company increases in charter capital amendments to limited

liability companys charter and liquidation among other actions require 100% approval of the holders

of participation interests

As result we are often required to obtain the consent of our co-owners when making significant

corporate decisions Although we are not aware of any specific transaction in which we failed to obtain

the requisite approval of the co-owners of our stations due to the formalistic nature of Russian law

and the large number of corporate actions that are taken annually by our co-owned stations we believe

it is likely that from time to time not all necessary minority shareholder consents have been obtained

As result we cannot guarantee that co-owners of our stations will not bring claims against us for

failure to obtain these necessary consents which if successful could result in the transaction in

question being voided Moreover even if not technically required by law or contract we generally

prefer to obtain the consent and support of our co-owners before undertaking significant corporate

actions If this consent cannot be obtained we may decide to forego transaction that is commercially
favorable to us in an effort to preserve goodwill with our co-owners

systems failure could prevent us from transmitting our network signal and lead to loss of viewers damage

to our reputation and reduction in our advertising revenues

Our networks signals originate in Moscow and are uplinked to multiple separate satellite systems

that transmit our networks signals to our affiliate stations and unmanned repeater transmitters Despite

our back-up systems from time to time we experience signal failures Prolonged or repeated disruptions

in our signals could lead to loss of viewers damage to our reputation and reduction in our

advertising revenues We do not carry business interruption insurance to protect us in the event of

catastrophe or termination of our ability to transmit our signals even though such an event could have

significant negative impact on our business

One of our principal stockholders owns 50% interest in Russian pay television network and its interests

may conflict with ours

One of our principal stockholders MTG Russia AB an affiliate of the publicly listed Modern
Times Group MTG AB MTG acquired 50% interest in Raduga Holdings in February 2010

Raduga is the sole owner of LCC DaoGeoCom which operates Raduga TV nationwide Russian
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digital satellite pay-TV platform Hans-Holger Albrecht the President and CEO of MTG is

Co-Chairman of our board of directors Mathias Hermansson Chief Financial Officer of MTG and

Irma Gofman Chief Executive Officer of MTG Russia AB are members of our board of directors All

of our Russian networks are currently carried by Raduga TV

Although we do not currently operate in the pay-TV market and do not currently compete with

Raduga T\ MTGs interest in another Russian television business may result in conflicts of interest

among MTG our company and our other stockholders in circumstances in which our interests are not

aligned We can provide no assurance that any such conflicts will be resolved in our favor

We do not carry all of the insurance coverage customary in many countries for business of our size and

nature and as result could experience substantial loss or disruption

The insurance industry is less developed in Russia than in other developed countries and many

forms of insurance protection common in other countries are not yet available in Russia on comparable

terms including coverage for business interruption At present we have no coverage for business

interruption or loss of key management personnel We do not maintain separate funds or otherwise set

aside reserves for these types of losses Any such loss may cause substantial disruption and may have

material adverse effect on our business results of operations and financial condition

Risks relating to doing business and investing in Russia

The Russian banking system remains underdeveloped and another banking crisis could place severe liquidity

constraints on our business

Russias banking and other financial systems are less developed and regulated than those of many

other developed countries and Russian legislation relating to banks and bank accounts is subject to

varying interpretations and inconsistent application Many Russian banks do not meet international

banking standards and the transparency of the Russian banking sector still lags far behind

internationally accepted norms Furthermore Russian bank deposits
made by corporate entities

generally are not insured

The recent disruption in the world credit markets has also negatively impacted the banking sector

in Russia There are currently limited number of creditworthy Russian banks most of which are

located in Moscow and the largest of which are state-owned We generally hold large majority of our

cash balance in Russian banks such as Alfa Bank which is an affiliate of one of our principal

stockholders including subsidiaries of foreign banks Of that balance significant portion is held in

ruble-denominated accounts There are few if any safe ruble-denominated instruments in which we

may invest our excess ruble cash banking crisis or the bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks from

which we receive or with which we hold our funds could result in the loss of our deposits or affect our

ability to complete banking transactions in Russia which could have material adverse effect on our

business financial conditions and results of operations

Businesses in Russia especially media companies can be subject to politically motivated actions which could

materially adversely affect our operations

The Russian government has taken various actions in recent years against business people and

companies operating in Russia that have been perceived as having been politically motivated including

actions for technical violations of law or violations of laws that have been applied retroactively

including violations of tax laws These actions have on occasion resulted in significant fluctuations in

the market prices of the securities of businesses operating in Russia weakening of investor

confidence in Russia and doubts about the progress
of market and political

reforms in Russia
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Media businesses can be particularly vulnerable to politically motivated actions NTV TV-6 and

TVS have all experienced what could be characterized as politically motivated actions including efforts

to effect changes of control As result of these actions TV-6 which became TVS is no longer

broadcasting We believe that our focus on entertainment and the fact that we broadcast entertainment

and celebrity news but do not offer hard news commentary or analysis on our national networks
could lessen the risk of provoking politically motivated actions However we do not restrict the ability

of our independent affiliates to broadcast local news in local broadcasting windows and approximately
17% of our independent affiliates as well as two of our owned-and-operated CTC stations broadcast

local political news generally with the approval of our local partners and the local authorities Any
politically motivated action against us our networks our independent affiliates or any of our principal

stockholders including Alfa Group which is active in many industries in Russia could materially

adversely affect our operations

The Russian legal system can create an uncertain environment for investment and business activity which

could have material adverse effect on our business and the value of our common stock

The legal framework to support market economy remains new and in flux in Russia and as

result the Russian legal system can be characterized by

inconsistencies between and among laws and governmental ministerial and local regulations

orders decisions resolutions and other acts

substantial gaps in the regulatory structure resulting from the delay in adoption or absence of

implementing regulations

limited judicial and administrative guidance on interpreting Russian legislation

the relative inexperience of judges and courts in interpreting relatively new commercial

legislation

lack of judicial independence from political social and commercial forces

under-funding and under-staffing of the court system

high degree of discretion on the part of the judiciary and governmental authorities and

poorly developed bankruptcy procedures that are subject to abuse

As is true of civil law systems judicial precedents generally have no binding effect on subsequent
decisions Not all Russian legislation and court decisions are readily available to the public or organized
in manner that facilitates understanding The Russian judicial system can be slow and enforcement of

court orders can in practice be very difficult All of these factors make judicial decisions in Russia

difficult to predict and effective redress uncertain Additionally court claims and governmental

prosecutions are sometimes used in furtherance of political aims

In addition several key Russian laws including the amendment to the Law on Advertising and the

Ownership Law both discussed above have only recently been enacted or have been subject to only
limited interpretation to date The untested nature of much of recent Russian legislation the lack of

consensus about the scope content and pace of economic and political reform and the rapid evolution

of the Russian legal system in ways that may not always coincide with market developments may place

the enforceability and underlying constitutionality of laws in doubt and result in ambiguities
inconsistencies and anomalies in the Russian legal system Any of these weaknesses could affect our

ability to enforce our rights under our licenses and under our contracts or to defend ourselves against

claims by others Furthermore we cannot assure you that regulators judicial authorities or third parties
will not challenge our compliance with applicable laws decrees and regulations
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Selective or arbitraiy government action may have an adverse effect on our business and the value of our

common stock

Government authorities have high degree of discretion in Russia and have at times exercised

their discretion selectively or arbitrarily without hearing or prior notice and sometimes in manner

that is influenced by political or commercial considerations The government also has the power in

certain circumstances to interfere with the performance of nullify or terminate contracts Selective or

arbitrary actions have included withdrawal of licenses sudden and unexpected tax audits criminal

prosecutions and civil actions Federal and local government entities have also used common defects in

documentation as pretexts
for court claims and other demands to invalidate and/or to void transactions

apparently for political purposes We cannot assure you that regulators judicial authorities or third

parties will not challenge our compliance including that of our subsidiaries with applicable laws

decrees and regulations
in Russia Selective or arbitrary government action could have material

adverse effect on our business and on the value of our common stock

If the Russian Federal Anti-monopoly Service were to conclude that we acquired or created new company in

contravention of anti-monopoly legislation it could impose fines or administrative sanctions and could require

the divestiture of such company or other assets

Our business has grown in part through the acquisition and establishment of companies many of

which transactions required the prior approval of or subsequent notification to the Russian Federal

Anti-monopoly Service or its predecessor agencies the FAS The relevant legislation restricts the

acquisition or establishment of companies by groups of companies or individuals acting in concert

without the required approval or notification This legislation is vague in parts and subject to varying

interpretations If the Federal Anti-monopoly Service were to conclude that an acquisition or

establishment of new company had been effected in contravention of applicable legislation and

competition has been reduced as result it could impose administrative sanctions and require the

divestiture of such company or other assets adversely affecting our business strategy
and our results of

operations

Russian law requires the approval of certain transactions by the minority shareholders of our subsidiaries

including many of our own-and-operated television stations and failure to receive this approval could

adversely affect our business and results of operations

We own less than 100% of many of our owned-and-operated stations Under Russian law certain

transactions defined as interested party transactions require approval by disinterested members of the

board of directors or disinterested shareholders of the companies involved Our owned-and-operated

stations that have other shareholders engage in numerous transactions with us that require interested

party transaction approvals in accordance with Russian law These transactions have not always been

properly approved and therefore may be contested by minority shareholders In the event that these

other shareholders were successfully to contest past
interested party transactions or prevent the

approval of such transactions in the future our flexibility in operating
these television stations could be

limited and our results of operations could be adversely affected

Certain transactions between members of our consolidated corporate group may constitute

interested party transactions under Russian law even when the companies involved are wholly owned by

us Although we generally endeavor to obtain all corporate approvals required under Russian law to

consummate these transactions we have not always applied special approval procedures in connection

with our consummation of transactions with or between our subsidiaries In the event that claim is

filed in relation to certain transactions with or between our subsidiaries such transactions are found to

have been interested party transactions and we are found to have failed to obtain the appropriate

approvals such transactions may be declared invalid The unwinding of any transactions concluded with

or between our subsidiaries may have negative impact on our business and results of operations
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If one of our principal subsidiaries is forced into liquidation due to negative net assets our results of

operations could suffer

If at the end of any fiscal year Russian companys net assets as determined in accordance with

Russian accounting regulations are below the minimum amount of charter capital required by Russian

law the company is required to convene shareholders meeting to adopt decision to liquidate If it

fails to do so within reasonable period the companys creditors may request early termination or

acceleration of the companys obligations to them as well as damages and governmental authorities

may seek to cause the involuntary liquidation of the company Under an earlier version of this law the

companys shareholders could also bring an action to force the liquidation of the company It is unclear

under Russian law whether historical violation of this requirement may be retroactively cured even if

company later comes into compliance with the requirement On occasion Russian courts have

ordered the involuntary liquidation of company for having negative net assets even if the company
has continued to fulfill its obligations and had net assets in excess of the minimum amount at the time

of liquidation

Certain of our regional subsidiaries have had and continue to have negative equity as reported in

their respective Russian statutory financial statements None of these companies has applied for

voluntary liquidation We are currently considering the steps that can be taken to remedy the negative

net asset value of these subsidiaries but we have not included it as contingency in our financial

statements because we believe that so long as these subsidiaries continue to fulfill their obligations the

risk of their forced liquidation is remote

There has been no judicial or other official interpretation of what constitutes reasonable

period within which company must act to liquidate If any of our subsidiaries were to be liquidated

involuntarily we would be forced to reorganize the operations we currently conduct through that

subsidiary The liquidation of any of the subsidiaries within our Television Station Groups would result

in the termination of their existing broadcast and other licenses and we cannot assure you that we
would be able to secure new licenses needed for these stations to continue to operate Accordingly any

liquidation could have material adverse effect on our business

Shareholder liability under Russian legislation could cause us to become liable for the obligations of our

subsidiaries

The Russian Civil Code the Law on Joint Stock Companies and the Law on Limited Liability

Companies generally provide that shareholders in Russian joint stock company or limited liability

company are not liable for the obligations of the company and bear only the risk of loss of their

investment This may not be the case however when one person an effective parent is capable of

determining decisions made by another an effective subsidiary The effective parent bears joint and

several responsibility for transactions concluded by the effective subsidiary in carrying out these

decisions in certain circumstances

In addition an effective parent is secondarily liable for an effective subsidiarys debts if an

effective subsidiary becomes insolvent or bankrupt as result of the action or inaction of an effective

parent This is the case no matter how the effective parents capability to determine decisions of the

effective subsidiary arises For example this liability could arise through ownership of voting securities

or by contract In these instances other shareholders of the effective subsidiary may claim

compensation for the effective subsidiarys losses from the effective parent that caused the effective

subsidiary to act or fail to act knowing that such action or inaction would result in losses Accordingly

in CTC Medias position as an effective parent it could be liable in some cases for the debts of its

effective subsidiaries Although the total indebtedness of CTC Medias effective subsidiaries is currently

immaterial it is possible that CTC Media could face material liability in this regard in the future which

could materially adversely affect our business and our results of operations
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Changes in the Russian tax system or arbitrary or unforeseen application of existing rules could materially

adversely affect our financial condition

Our tax burden may become greater than the estimated amount that we have expensed to date

and paid or accrued on our balance sheets Russian tax authorities have often been arbitrary and

aggressive in their interpretation of tax laws and their many ambiguities as well as in their enforcement

and collection activities Many companies are often forced to negotiate their tax bills with tax inspectors

who may demand higher taxes than applicable law appears to provide Any additional tax liability as

well as any unforeseen changes in Russian tax laws could have material adverse effect on our future

results of operations or cash flows in particular period We have at times accrued substantial amounts

for contingent tax liabilities substantial portion of which accruals we have reversed as contingencies

have been resolved favorably or changes in circumstances have occurred The amounts currently

accrued for tax contingencies may not be sufficient to meet any liability we may ultimately face From

time to time we also identify tax contingencies for which we have not provided an accrual Such

unaccrued tax contingencies could materialize and require us to pay additional amounts of tax

Under Russian accounting and tax principles financial statements of Russian companies are not

consolidated for tax purposes As result each Russian-registered entity in our group pays
its own

Russian taxes and we cannot offset the profits or losses in any single entity against the profits and

losses of any other entity Consequently our overall effective tax rate may increase as we expand our

operations unless we are able to implement an effective corporate structure that minimizes the effect

of these Russian accounting and tax norms

The Russian tax system imposes additional burdens and costs on our operations in Russia and

complicates our tax planning and related business decisions The uncertainty involved potentially

exposes us to significant fines penalties and enforcement measures despite our best efforts at

compliance which could result in greater
than expected tax burden on our subsidiaries These factors

raise the risk of sudden imposition of arbitrary or onerous taxes on our operations in Russia This

could adversely affect our business and the value of our common stock

Any US or other foreign judgments that may be obtained against us may be difficult to enforce against us in

Russia

Although CTC Media is Delaware corporation subject to suit in US federal and other courts we

have no operations
in the United States most of our assets are located in Russia and most of our

directors and their assets are located outside the United States Although arbitration awards are

generally enforceable in Russia judgments obtained in the United States or in other foreign courts

including those with respect to US federal securities law claims may not be enforceable in Russia

There is no mutual recognition treaty between the United States and the Russian Federation and no

Russian federal law provides for the recognition and enforcement of foreign court judgments

Therefore it may be difficult to enforce any US or other foreign court judgment obtained against our

company any of our operating subsidiaries or any of our directors in Russia

Risks relating to doing business elsewhere in the CIS

We face similar risks in other countries of the CIS

In addition to Russia we currently have operations in other countries in the CIS including

Kazakhstan Uzbekistan and Moldova We may acquire additional operations in other countries of the

CIS In many respects
the risks inherent in transacting business in these countries are similar to those

in Russia especially
those risks set out above in Risks relating to doing business and investing in

Russia
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Emerging markets such as Russia and other CIS countries are subject to greater risks than more developed

markets including legal economic and political risks

Investors in emerging markets such as Russia and other CIS countries should be aware that these

markets are subject to greater risk than more developed markets including in some cases legal

economic and political risks Investors should also note that emerging economies such as the

economies of Russia and Kazakhstan are subject to rapid change and that the information set out

herein may become outdated relatively quickly Furthermore in doing business in various countries of

the CIS we face risks similar to and sometimes greater than those that we face in Russia

Accordingly investors should exercise care in evaluating the risks involved and must decide for

themselves whether in light of those risks their investment is appropriate Generally investment in

emerging markets is only suitable for sophisticated investors who fully appreciate the significance of the

risks involved and investors are urged to consult with their own legal and financial advisors before

making an investment in our shares

Risks relating to our stock

The price of our common stock has recently experienced significant volatility and may continue to be volatile

Our stock price has recently experienced significant volatility and is likely to be volatile in the

future The stock market in general and in particular the market for companies whose operations are

in emerging markets like Russia have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to

the operating performance of particular companies This volatility has been more pronounced in recent

periods due to the turmoil in world financial markets As result of this volatility investors may not be

able to sell their shares of our common stock at or above the price at which they purchase it The
market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors including

fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies

perceived to be similar to us

changes in estimates of our financial results or recommendations by securities analysts

changes in market valuations of similar companies

changes in general economic political and market conditions in Russia and globally

changes in the audience shares of our networks

public announcements by industry experts regarding trends in advertising spending in Russia and

globally and

announcements regarding our acquisition activities if any

Moreover only relatively small number of shares of our common stock are currently actively

traded in the public market As of February 24 2010 approximately 35% of our outstanding common
stock was held by parties other than our directors executive officers and principal stockholders and

their respective affiliates The limited liquidity of our common stock may have material adverse effect

on the price of our common stock

In the past following periods of volatility in the market price of companys securities

stockholders have often instituted class action securities litigation against those companies Such

litigation if instituted could result in substantial costs and diversion of management attention and

resources which could significantly harm our profitability and reputation

31



If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they issue unfavorable

commentary or downgrade our common stock the price of our common stock could decline

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that equity

research analysts publish about us and our business We do not control these analysts The price of our

stock could decline if one or more equity research analysts downgrade our stock or if those analysts

issue other unfavorable commentary or cease publishing reports about us or our business

Insiders continue to have substantial control over us and could delay or prevent change in corporate control

As of February 24 2010 our directors executive officers and principal stockholders and their

respective affiliates beneficially owned in the aggregate over 65% of our outstanding common stock

As result these stockholders if acting together may have the ability to determine the outcome of

matters submitted to our stockholders for approval including the election and removal of directors and

any merger consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets In addition these persons

acting together may have the ability to control the management and affairs of our company In

particular our principal stockholders have entered into voting arrangement that determines the

composition of our board of directors

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could prevent or delay

change-of-control transactions

Anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law and our charter documents may make change in

control of our company more difficult For example

Stockholders meetings may only be called by one of the Co-Chairmen of our board of directors

our Chief Executive Officer or the majority of the board of directors

Our stockholders may not take action by written consent

We have classified board of directors which means that our directors serve for staggered

three-year terms and no more than four of our ten directors are elected each year This

structure may make it more difficult for an acquirer to take control of our company which may

make our company less desirable acquisition target

Delaware law also prohibits corporation from engaging in business combination with any

holder of 15% or more of its capital stock until the holder has held the stock for three years unless

among other possibilities the board of directors approves the transaction Our board of directors may

use this provision to prevent changes in our management Under applicable
Delaware law our board of

directors may adopt additional anti-takeover measures in the future

In addition we are party to stockholders agreement with our two largest stockholders pursuant

to which each of these stockholders has agreed not to acquire additional shares of our capital stock to

the extent that such acquisition would cause its beneficial ownership to exceed 50% of the voting power

of our outstanding shares without making tender offer for all of our outstanding shares in compliance

with the tender offer rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 unless it reaches this ownership

level through the exercise of rights of first offer set forth in the stockholders agreement

If there are substantial sales of our common stock in the market by our existing stockholders our stock price

could decline

If our existing stockholders sell large number of shares of our common stock or the public

market perceives that existing stockholders might sell shares of common stock the market price of our

common stock could decline significantly The holders of over 65% of our common stock have the right
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under specified circumstances to require us to register their shares for resale to the public or

participate in registration of shares by us

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

We own building in Moscow with office and production space of approximately 3300 square

meters We also lease approximately 5700 square meters of office and operations space in Moscow

under leases that expire during 2010 The fiber optic cable that transmits our network signals to the

satellite transmission center originates at our leased facilities

We are currently in negotiations to lease new office facility in Moscow If these negotiations are

successful this new facility would serve as our principal office location in Moscow

Some of our owned-and-operated stations own real estate none of which represents material

portion of our consolidated assets

Item Legal Proceedings

We are not currently party to any legal proceedings the outcome of which could have material

adverse effect on our financial results or operations

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to vote of our stockholders through the solicitation of proxies or

otherwise during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol CTCM
The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sale prices of our common

stock as quoted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market

Period High Low

2009

First quarter
6.01 2.37

Second quarter
$13.18 4.49

Third quarter
$17.31 9.35

Fourth quarter
$20.07 $12.43

2008

First quarter
$31.75 $25.00

Second quarter
$30.28 $24.27

Third quarter
$25.12 $14.12

Fourth quarter
$15.69 2.94

As of December 31 2009 there were approximately four holders of record of our common stock

Because many of our shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders we

are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial owners represented by these holders of record

The closing price for our common stock on December 31 2009 which is the last business day of

our most recently completed fiscal year was $14.90

To date we have never paid cash dividends on our common stock On February 24 2010 our

board of directors declared dividend of $0.065 per outstanding share of common stock or

$10024803.49 in aggregate assuming no further exercises of stock options prior to the record date to

our stockholders of record as of March 10 2010 The payment date of this dividend will be March 31

2010 Our board of directors has also announced its current intention to declare and pay additional

dividends of approximately $10 million in each of June September and December 2010 While it is our

boards current intention to declare and pay these three future dividends there can be no assurance

that they will in fact be declared and paid Any such declaration is at the discretion of our board and

will depend upon factors such as our earnings financial position and cash requirements during 2010

Our dividend policy going forward is subject to review and revision by our board of directors and

any future payments other than the dividend to be paid on March 31 2010 will depend upon our

earnings financial position and cash requirements and any other factors that our board of directors

may deem relevant

We did not purchase any shares of our common stock in 2009

Item Selected Financial Data

You should read the following consolidated financial data in conjunction with our consolidated

financial statements including the related notes and Item 7Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations The results shown herein are not necessarily

indicative of the results to be expected for any future periods
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Year ended December 31

Statement of Income Loss Data

REVENUES

Advertising including related party revenue

Sublicensing including related party revenue

Other revenue including related party revenue

Total operating revenues

EXPENSES
Direct operating expenses exclusive of

amortization of programming rights and

sublicensing rights shown below and exclusive

of depreciation and amortization and inclusive

of stock-based compensation

Selling general and administrative exclusive of

depreciation and amortization and inclusive of

stock-based compensation

Amortization of programming rights

Amortization of sublicensing rights

Depreciation and amortization exclusive of

amortization of programming rights and

sublicensing rights

Impairment loss

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Foreign currency gains losses

Interest income including related party interest

income

Interest expense including related party interest

expense

Gain on sale of businesses

Other non-operating losses income net

Equity in income losses of investee companies

Income before income tax

Income tax expense

Consolidated net income loss

Income loss attributable to noncontrolling

interest

Net income attributable to CTC Media Inc

stockholders

Net income per share attributable to CTC

Media Inc stockholders

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

232410 357334 452669 623336 483945

3088 11322 17006 14016 20999

1979 2178 2381 2819 1169

237477 370834 472056 640171 506113

12747 15774 19596 37514 37422

41229 56297 68878 93414 100799

77351 118026 153531 220557 178392

2043 6773 9629 8443 6832

13920 19651 27361 13379 11454

232683 18739

216521 278995 605990 353638

154313 193061 34181 152475

1579 151 28861 4555

147290

90187

877

8525 1774 9434 6959
919 747

206 200 1168 776 1060

578 1896 1195 1511 537

84670 160212 204931 4394 148645

24861 48969 63176 19874 45626

59809 111243 141755 15480 103019

2514 4918 5842 37934 2630

57295 106325 135913 22454 100389

3101 3479 11002 6221 6087

0.39 0.73 0.90 0.15 0.66

0.37 0.69 0.86 0.14 0.64

79339024 117880814 151731780 152146559 152223165

154344956 154077957 158311967 158187922 157452763
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December 31

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

in thousands of US dollars

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents $15300 $176542 $307073 98055 84441

Intangible assets net 41094 53371 83216 219423 214420

Goodwill 68273 70768 78674 223027 226116

Programming rights net 66468 65901 99184 120007 143611

Working capital1 45692 232289 379815 70385 134914

Total assets 273697 484797 694680 806829 851320

Short-term loans 4068 62165 28278

Long-term loans 37188 210 224 28438

Total stockholders equity 181013 424141 615074 547070 663824

Working capital is calculated as total current assets minus total current liabilities

Operating Data

Year ended December 31

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

CTC Network Operating Data

Average audience share 10.3% 10.4% 9.0% 9.0% 9.0%

Technical penetration 85% 86.6% 87.4% 87.5% 90.7%

Year ended December 31

2006 2007 2008 2009

Domashny Network Operating Data

Average audience share 1.4% 2.0% 2.2% 2.2%

Technical penetration 58.2% 64.8% 71.0% 76.4%

Year ended

December 31

2008 2009

DTV Network Operating Data

Average audience share 1.8% 2.0%

Technical penetration 61.0% 68.4%

36



Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be

read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current

expectations that involve risks and uncertainties Our actual results and the timing of events could differ

materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as result of number of factors

including those set forth under Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Overview

We currently operate three Russian television networksCTC our flagship network Domashny

and DTV one television network in KazakhstanChannel 31 and television channels in Uzbekistan

and Moldova each offering entertainment programming In addition we have in-house production

operations focused on series sitcoms and shows

We currently organize our operations into eight business segments CTC Network Domashny

Network DTV Network CTC Television Station Group Domashny Television Station Group DTV
Television Station Group CIS Group and Production Group

Russian Networks

CTC Network CTC Networks principal target audience is 6-54 year-old viewers CTCs

technical penetration is 90.7% with its signal covering approximately 100 million people in

Russia

Domashny Network The Domashny or Home Network is targeted principally at

25-60 year-old women Domashnys technical penetration is 76.4% with its signal covering

approximately 62 million people in Russia

DTV Network DTV Networks target audience is 25-54 year-old viewers 18 year-old viewers

in 2008 DTVs technical penetration is 68.4% with its signal covering approximately 60 million

people in Russia We acquired DTV Network in April 2008

Each of our networks is responsible for its own broadcasting operations including the licensing

and commissioning of programming producing its programming schedule and managing its

relationships with its independent affiliates Substantially all of the revenues of our networks are

generated from the broadcast of national television advertising

Russian Television Station Groups

CTC Domashny and DIV Television Station Groups The CTC Television Station Group

manages its 45 owned-and-operated stations and repeater
transmitters The Domashny Station

Group manages its 32 owned-and-operated stations and
repeater

transmitters The DTV
Television Station Group manages its 31 owned-and-operated stations and repeater transmitters

Our Television Station Groups provide 45.0% technical penetration for the CTC Network or
49.6% of its total penetration of 90.7% 40.7% technical penetration for the Domashny

Network or 53.3% of its total penetration of 76.4% and 33.8% technical penetration for the

DTV Network or 49.4% of its total penetration of 68.4% All Television Station Groups

generate substantially all of their revenues from the sale of local television advertising that is

broadcast during the local advertising windows allotted to all owned-and-operated and

independent affiliates of our networks

37



CIS Group

CIS Group This segment was formed in the beginning of 2008 in connection with the

acquisition in February 2008 of our interest in the Kazakh television broadcaster Channel 31

and the establishment of two subsidiaries that provide the advertising sales function and

programming content to Channel 31 on an exclusive basis together the Channel 31 Group
Channel 31 is targeted principally at 6-54 year-old viewers The signal of Channel 31 is broadcast

by over 60 television stations and local cable operators including 10 owned-and-operated

stations The operating results of our television channel in Uzbekistan are also included in this

segment From October 2008 the operating results of our broadcasting group in Moldova have

been included in this segment

Production Group

Production Group Our Production Group comprises of our in-house production operations that

specialize in sitcoms series sketchcoms and entertainment TV shows for our networks We

acquired these production operations in April 2008

The results of operations for the CIS Group have been included in our results of operations since

March 2008 The results of operations for the DTV Network DTV Television Station Group and the

Production Group have been included in our results of operations since April 2008

Key Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

Our results of operations are affected primarily by the overall demand for television advertising

the limited supply of television advertising time our ability to deliver large share of viewers with

desirable demographics and the availability and cost of quality programming Our results of operations

are also affected by the value of the Russian ruble compared to the US dollar

Overall demand for television advertising in Russia had experienced significant growth in recent

years due to improved general business and economic conditions including the levels of gross domestic

product GDP disposable income and consumer spending In recent years the Russian advertising

market was one of the largest and fastest growing in Europe Beginning in the second half of 2008

however Russia like many other countries experienced economic instability characterized by steep

decline in the value of shares traded on its stock exchanges devaluation of its currency capital flight

and decline in gross domestic product in 2009 Additionally because Russia produces and exports

large amounts of oil its economy is particularly vulnerable to the price of oil on the world market and

recent levels of international prices have adversely affected and may continue to adversely affect its

economy Total television advertising in Russia has been adversely affected by this economic instability

and as result our operating results for 2009 were materially adversely affected If the economic

instability continues it may continue to have material negative impact on Russian advertising

spending which in turn may adversely affect our operating results for 2010

The supply of television advertising time is limited by Russian legislation as discussed below As

result of this limited supply of advertising time we are only able to increase our revenues by

delivering larger audience shares and by increases in the price of advertising

The continued success of our advertising sales depends largely on our ability to attract large

share of the key target audiences especially during primetime Our ability to attract our key target

audiences in turn depends in large part on our ability to broadcast quality programming To date we

have been able to achieve significant audience share by broadcasting attractive entertainment

programming including original Russian series sitcoms and shows as well as popular foreign series

films and animation Although we believe we have been successful in broadcasting programming

content that appeals to our key target audiences we face strong competition from other television
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broadcasters for programming content and we must continue to strive to air programming that

addresses evolving audience tastes and trends in television broadcasting

In addition to the factors discussed above affecting our ability to generate advertising revenues

our reported results of operations are also materially impacted by currency fluctuations Our reporting

currency is the US dollar Substantially all of our revenues however are generated in rubles Through

our Channel 31 operations we also generate revenues in Kazakh tenge In August 2008 the value of

the Russian ruble began to depreciate against the US dollar The overall depreciation of the Russian

ruble for 2008 amounted to approximately 16.5% In 2009 the ruble depreciated further 2.9% against

the US dollar and as result the average exchange rate of the ruble against the US dollar was 22%

lower in 2009 than in 2008 In addition in 2009 the Kazakh tenge depreciated approximately 18.6%

against the US dollar The depreciation of our local currencies had material negative impact on our

reported results of operations for 2009

While the ongoing development and expansion of our television networks represents
the core of

our strategy we also seek opportunities to expand our business through select media acquisitions that

complement our existing businesses including opportunities in Russian-speaking markets where we can

effectively and efficiently leverage our management and programming resources We completed several

significant acquisitions in 2008 We also continue to explore opportunities to further expand our

presence in the local advertising market principally through the careful expansion of our

owned-and-operated television stations in major cities These acquisitions or expansion plans if

completed could subject us to range of additional factors that could affect our subsequent results of

operations

Television Advertising Sales

In the Russian television market national advertising is generally not placed directly with

broadcasters Instead Video International sales house controls the placement of large portion of

national television advertising in Russia Since 1999 Video International has placed our national

advertising on an exclusive basis Since 2006 we have engaged Video International to place on an

exclusive basis local advertising at substantially all of our owned-and-operated stations In Kazakhstan

we place all of our national advertising through Video International Therefore advertising placed

through Video International accounted for substantially all of our advertising revenues in 2008 and

2009

As result of recent amendment to the Russian advertising law that will become effective in

2011 television broadcasters will be prohibited from signing agreements with media sales houses that

control more than 35% of the Russian television advertising market Video International currently

controls sales of more than 35% of the Russian television advertising market Because of ambiguities in

the amended advertising law however we have not yet been able to assess the impact the change in

the law will have on our relationship with Video International and the manner in which we place our

national and local advertising See Item 1A Risk FactorsRecent changes in Russian law may

fundamentally change the way we sell advertising which could adversely affect our business financial

condition and results of operations

Current Russian law limits the amount of time that broadcaster may devote to advertising to no

more than 15% of any broadcasting hour In Kazakhstan the maximum airtime available for advertising

is limited to no more than 20% of total broadcasting time each day

Because advertisers often seek to reach particular demographic groups including particular ages

and genders they will often base their advertising placement decisions on ratings among such groups

rather than among the overall population Video International generally places CTCs advertising on

the basis of ratings in CTCs target audience the 6-54 year-old demographic Domashnys advertising
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on the basis of our ratings in Domashnys target audience 25-60 year-old women and DTVs
advertising on the basis of our ratings in DTVs target audience 25-54 year-old viewers

We generally derive no direct revenues from our independent affiliates These independent

affiliates broadcast our network signal in their local areas in exchange for the right to broadcast local

advertising during designated time windows from which they derive their own revenues We also pay

fees to some of our independent affiliates in exchange for broadcasting our network signals By

providing us with means of expanding our broadcast coverage with limited investment on our part

these independent affiliates help to increase our audience share and ratings thereby indirectly

increasing our national advertising revenues

Television advertising sales vary over the course of the year As result of seasonal trends in

viewing the broadcasting industry generally achieves greater proportion of advertising revenues in the

fourth quarter In 2009 approximately 36% of our total annual advertising revenues were generated in

the fourth quarter as compared to the fourth quarter of 2008 and 2007 where we generated 29% and

35% respectively of our total annual advertising revenues

Generally our ability to grow our revenues depends primarily on increases in the price of our

advertising which is sold primarily in rubles demand for advertising and our ability to increase our

advertising inventory Because of the current economic instability we believe that increases if any in

the price of our advertising in the near term will be modest Furthermore our ability to sustain current

prices will depend largely on the economic situation in Russia In addition because of the current

economic instability the sellout rates may decrease which in turn would negatively impact our

revenues Our ability to increase our advertising inventory at the national level depends upon our

success in increasing our audience share which in turn increases the number of GRPs we have

available to sell

Our Agreements witIi Video International

In Russia we have several agreements with Video International for the placement of advertising

on each of our networks and each of our Television Station Groups The length of these agreements

varies with the agreements relating to our CTC Domashny and DTV Television Station Groups

expiring at the end of December 2010 and the agreement relating to our CTC Network expiring at the

end of December 2012 Agreements relating to our Domashny and DTV Networks expire at the end of

December 2014 In Kazakhstan we have an agreement with Video International for the placement of

advertising on our Channel 31 expiring at the end of December 2010

recent amendment to the Russian advertising law that will become effective in 2011 will prohibit

us from entering into agreements with an advertising sales house that controls more than 35% of the

Russian television advertising market such as Video International Because of ambiguities in the

amended advertising law however we have not yet been able to assess the impact the change in the

law will have on our relationship with Video International and the manner in which we place our

national and local advertising See Item 1A Risk FactorsRecent changes in Russian law may
fundamentally change the way we sell advertising which could adversely affect our business financial

condition and results of operations

Under the terms of our existing agreements with Video International relating to our networks we

pay Video International fixed commissions based on gross advertising sales of 13% for CTC and 12%
for each of Domashny and DTV Our networks bear the credit risk associated with any failure by an

advertiser to make payments when they are due However Video International guarantees the payment

of any unpaid debt of advertising clients of our networks to the extent that such debt has been

outstanding for at least 180 days and exceeds in the aggregate 0.05% of our networks
gross

advertising revenues for the year These guarantees are not applicable in the event of material
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downturn in the Russian economy or the cessation of foreign currency trading in Russia for more than

90 days

The CTC Domashny and DTV Networks agreements are terminable upon 180 days notice by

either party As compensation for early termination the terminating party under such agreements

generally must pay the other party an amount equal to the commission that was paid for the six-month

period preceding the termination date If however the CTC or Domashny Network agreements were

to be terminated upon six months notice by either party as of January of any year no termination

fee would be payable

Under the agreements with Video International for each of our Television Station Groups the

commission rate payable by our individual owned-and-operated stations is fixed at 15% of gross

advertising sales Pursuant to the CTC and Domashny Television Station Group agreements Video

International has agreed to guarantee unpaid debt of local advertising clients to the extent such debt

has not been paid within 90 days of the end of the month in which the related advertising was

broadcast and exceeds in aggregate 0.05% of stations advertising sales for such month Such

guarantee does not apply to unpaid debt resulting from material downturn in the Russian economy

The CTC and Domashny Television Station Groups agreements can be terminated on

station-by-station basis upon 180 days notice by either party If station terminates its agreement it

must pay Video International an amount equal to 15% of the amount of the stations advertising sales

for the six months preceding the termination date If Video International terminates the agreement it

must pay the station an amount equal to the stations advertising sales for the six months preceding the

termination date net of commissions paid during that period The DTV Television Station Group

agreement can be terminated upon 90 days notice by either party As compensation for early

termination the terminating party
under this agreement must generally pay the other party an amount

equal to four times the average monthly commission over the preceding 12-month period

Under the Channel 31 agreement the commission rate payable by us is fixed at 15% of gross

advertising sales The Channel 31 agreement is terminable upon six months notice by either party The

party that initiates the termination of the agreement must generally pay the other party an amount

equal to 15% of gross advertising sales of Channel 31 for the six months preceding the termination

date

The contracts for the placement of advertising in Russia our principal source of revenue are

denominated primarily in rubles and we currently expect that almost all of our advertising revenues in

future years will be denominated in rubles In order to mitigate our currency risk exposure Video

International agreed that it would seek to amend its agreements with existing advertisers to provide

that either Video International or the advertiser could terminate the agreement in the event that the

average exchange rate between the ruble and the dollar measured over 30-day period in any year

fluctuates by more than 15% from the exchange rate on January of that year so long as the parties

had not otherwise agreed to new advertising rates to reflect such currency fluctuations If Video

International did not enter into such amendments with advertisers and such currency fluctuations did

occur Video International is obligated to compensate us for depreciations in the value of the ruble as

compared to the dollar in excess of such 15% variation Given the current economic situation and its

impact on the advertising market we have chosen not to enforce this obligation

Recent Acquisitions and Disposals

In November 2009 we acquired 100% interest in 000 Shestoy Kanal television station in

Ulyanovsk for total cash consideration of $1.3 million
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In December 2009 we acquired 100% interest in Volzhskaya broadcasting group consisting of

five television stations in the Russian cities of Ulyanovsk Cheboksary Ivanovo and Kirov for total

cash consideration of $12.2 million

In January 2010 we sold our 100% interest in Kazakh radio station for total cash consideration

of approximately $2 million

Credit Facility Agreement

In June 2008 we entered into credit facility agreement the Credit Facility Agreement with

ABN AMRO Bank N.V BNP Paribas ING Bank N.V Raiffeisen Zentralbank Osterreich

Aktiengesellschaft and ZAO Raiffeisenbank as lead
arrangers and certain financial institutions as

lenders the Lenders to borrow $135 million the Loan Amount In July 2008 we drew-down the

full Loan Amount and applied all of the proceeds of such draw-down to repay in full the promissory

note issued to an affiliate of MTG in connection with our acquisition of the DTV Group in 2008 and

to satisfy the DTV Groups indebtedness due to MTG

Borrowings made under the Credit Facility Agreement bear interest at an annual rate equal to

LIBOR plus 3.00% plus if applicable additional amounts to compensate the Lenders for regulatory

compliance costs Principal amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement are repayable in

installments with 25% of the Loan Amount paid on each of December 22 2008 June 22 2009 and

December 22 2009 and the remaining outstanding principal amount as adjusted for any prepayments

being payable on June 22 2010 unless the maturity date of the Loan Amount is extended by mutual

agreement of the parties to the Credit Facility Agreement All or part of the principal amount

outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement may be prepaid at any time without premium or

penalty other than customary breakage costs if any subject to the terms and conditions contained in

the Credit Facility Agreement No breakage fee is payable if prepayment is made on the last day of

an interest period

Under the terms of the Credit Facility Agreement we must comply with certain covenants

including financial covenants requiring us to comply with maximum net debt to operating income

before depreciation and amortization or OIBDA ratio minimum OIBDA to interest expense ratio

minimum stockholder equity test and maximum net debt to stockholders equity ratio as well as

restrictions on certain dividend payments liens investments indebtedness fundamental changes

acquisitions changes in control dispositions of property and transactions with affiliates As of

December 31 2008 and 2009 the amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility and interest accrued

thereon were $90.4 million and $28.3 million respectively Although the final installment of principal

under the Credit Facility Agreement is not due until June 22 2010 we will prepay all amounts

outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement on March 22 2010

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K we believe that other than as described

below we are in compliance with the covenants of the Credit Facility Agreement Because our board of

directors declared dividend on February 24 2010 at time when principal continues to be

outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement we may technically be in default of the covenant in

the Credit Facility Agreement restricting the declaration and payment of dividends However given that

the dividend will not be paid until after we repay all outstanding principal and interest under the

Credit Facility Agreement on March 22 2010 and we could repay the principal and interest earlier if

the lenders required us to do so we do not believe that this possible technical violation of the Credit

Facility Agreement will have any material adverse consequences for us For details on the dividend

declaration and payment see Item 5Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder

Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The Credit Facility Agreement is denominated in US dollars and therefore we must pay principal

and interest payments on the loan in US dollars In October 2008 we entered into foreign exchange
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forward contract to reduce our foreign exchange risk related to portion on such payments Under

that forward exchange contract we were previously obligated to buy an aggregate of $51 million at

RUR/LJS$ exchange rate that ultimately proved to be more favorable for us than the prevailing

exchange rates at the time of purchase Our remaining obligation under that forward exchange contract

is to purchase $15 million at rate of RUR 28.84 for each $1.00 on June 15 2010 The prevailing

exchange rate as of February 24 2010 was RUR 30.15 to $1.00

Critical Accounting Policies Estimates and Assumptions

Our accounting policies affecting our financial condition and results of operations are more fully

described in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31 2009 The

preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make judgments in selecting

appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates which inherently contain some degree of

uncertainty We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we

believe to be reasonable under the circumstances the results of which form the basis of making

judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ from these

estimates under different assumptions or conditions We believe our critical accounting policies that

affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated

financial statements are as follows

Programming rights

Our largest operating expense consists of the amortization of the cost of obtaining programming

rights Programming rights are stated at the lower of their amortized cost or net realizable value We

record the cost of acquired programming rights as an asset only after we have the rights that give us

immediate access to the materials needed to broadcast the related program

In conjunction with the acquisition of the production companies programming rights include

internally produced programming The cost of such programming includes expenses related to the

acquisition of format rights direct costs associated with production and capitalized overheads We

capitalize production costs including costs of individuals or departments with exclusive or significant

responsibility for the production of programming that can be allocated to such particular programming

as component of film costs Internally-produced programming is stated at the lower of amortized cost

or fair value

Purchased program rights are classified as current or non-current assets based on anticipated

usage Internally produced programming is classified as non-current

We amortize programming based on expected revenue generation patterns based on the

proportion that current estimated revenues bear to the estimated remaining total lifetime revenues

These estimates are periodically reviewed and adjustments if any will result in changes to

programming amortization rates or possibly the recognition of an impairment charge to consolidated

statement of income loss

We recognized impairment charges on our programming rights of $5.7 million $16.6 million and

$14.9 million for 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Stock-based compensation expense

We have several stock-based compensation programs See Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary DataNote 13 Stockholders Equity for discussion of these programs

We estimate the fair value of stock options at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option

pricing model The Black-Scholes pricing model was originally developed for use in estimating the fair
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value of traded options which have different characteristics than our employee stock options The

model is also sensitive to changes in the subjective assumptions which can materially affect the fair

value estimate These subjective assumptions include expected volatility the expected life of the

options future employee turnover rates future employee stock option exercise behavior and the fair

value of our common stock on the date of grant Since our IPO in June 2006 we determine the fair

value of our common stock by using closing prices as quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market

Performance-based nonvested share awards require management to make assumptions regarding the

likelihood of achieving the set goals

We do not believe there is reasonable likelihood there will be material change in the future

estimates or assumptions we use to determine stock-based compensation expense However if actual

results are not consistent with our estimates or assumptions we may be exposed to change in stock-

based compensation expense that could be material If actual results are not consistent with the

assumptions used the stock-based compensation expense reported in our financial statements may not

be representative of the actual economic cost of the stock-based compensation

Foreign currency
translation

Substantially all of our Russian advertising revenues for 2007 2008 and 2009 was denominated in

rubles and we currently expect
that these revenues will continue to be denominated principally in

rubles for the foreseeable future Accordingly the functional currency of the Companys subsidiaries

domiciled in Russia is the Russian ruble In 2008 upon its acquisition we determined that the

functional currency of the Channel 31 Group was the Kazakh tenge Our reporting currency is the US

dollar Translation of financial statements into US dollars has been performed by using the current rate

method We translate assets and liabilities at the rate of exchange prevailing at the applicable balance

sheet date and stockholders equity is translated at the applicable historical rate We translate revenue

and expenses at monthly average rates of exchange Translation gains and losses are included as part of

the accumulated other comprehensive income

Accounting for acquisitions goodwill and other intangible assets

In accordance with accounting for business combinations we allocate the purchase price of our

acquisitions to all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values On

January 2009 we adopted new guidance on business combinations The new guidance changes the

accounting treatment for certain specific acquisition related items including expensing acquisition

related costs as incurred and valuing noncontrolling interests at fair value at the acquisition date In

addition after the adoption of the new accounting guidance the reversal of tax contingencies related to

our acquisitions are recorded in our consolidated statements of income loss and not as an adjustment

to goodwill

The fair value assigned to intangible assets acquired is supported by valuations using estimates and

assumptions provided by management If we had made different estimates the amount of the purchase

price attributable to intangible assets and goodwill would have changed resulting in changes to the

annual amortization charge recorded in our consolidated statements of income loss as well as

reclassifications between goodwill and different types of intangible assets

In accordance with our policy on intangible assets we review the estimated useful lives of these

assets on an ongoing basis In connection with our review of the Russian broadcasting licenses as of

December 31 2007 we re-considered our assumption that these licenses have five-year useful life and

effective January 2008 we changed our estimate for the useful lives of these licenses to indefinite to

better reflect the estimated periods during which we will benefit from the use of such licenses See

Comparison of Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years ended December 31 2007 2008
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and 2009Depreciation and amortization exclusive of amortization of programming rights and

sublicensing rights

We evaluate the goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually

or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying value may not be

recoverable Other than our annual review factors we consider important which could trigger an

impairment review are under-performance of operating segments or changes in projected results

changes in the manner of utilization of the asset and negative market conditions or economic trends

Therefore our judgment as to the future prospects of each business has significant impact on our

results and financial condition

Our annual assessment of the carrying values of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite

lives is based on discounted projected future cash flows See Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary DataNote Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

As of December 31 2008 we have recorded noncash impairment losses totaling $232.7 million related

to intangible assets recorded in connection with acquisitions completed in 2008 As of December 31

2009 we have recorded noncash impairment losses totaling $18.7 million related to broadcasting

licenses See Item 1A Risk FactorsA significant portion of our total assets are intangibles assets

with indefinite lives that we do not amortize If events or changes in circumstances require us to further

reduce the fair value of those assets we may be required to record impairment losses that can

materially adversely impact our net income

Tax provisions and valuation allowance for deferred tax assets

Our actual Russian taxes may be in excess of the estimated amount expensed to date and accrued

at December 31 2009 due to ambiguities in and evolution of Russian tax legislation varying

approaches by regional and local tax inspectors and inconsistent rulings on technical matters at the

judicial level For further information on tax contingencies see Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary DataNote 12 Income Taxes and Note 15 Commitments and Contingencies

We record valuation allowances related to tax effects of deductible temporary differences and loss

carryforwards when in the opinion of management it is more likely than not that the respective tax

assets will not be realized Changes in our assessment of probability of realization of deferred tax assets

may affect our effective income tax rate

Significant judgment is required to determine when income tax provisions should be recorded and

when facts and circumstances change when such provisions should be released Although we believe

that our judgments and estimates are reasonable actual results could differ and we may be exposed to

an impairment charge that could be material
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Results of Operations

The following table presents our historical consolidated operating results as percentage of total

operating revenues for the periods indicated

Consolidated statement of income data

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

REVENUES

Advertising

Sublicensing and own production revenue

Other revenue

Total operating revenues

EXPENSES
Direct operating expenses exclusive of amortization of

programming rights and sublicensing rights shown below
exclusive of depreciation and amortization and inclusive

of stock-based compensation

Selling general and administrative exclusive of

depreciation and amortization inclusive of stock-based

compensation

Amortization of programming rights

Amortization of sublicensing rights and own production

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Foreign currency gains

Interest income

Interest expense

Gains on sale of businesses

Other non-operating income net

Equity in income losses of investee companies

Income before income tax

Income tax expense

Consolidated net income loss

Income/loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders

In February 2008 we acquired our interest in the Channel 31 Group In April 2008 we acquired

DTV Group and the two production companies Costafilm and Soho Media that comprise our

Production Group As result our operating results for the year ended December 31 2007 do not

include the operations of these companies Our operating results for the year ended December 31 2008

95.9%

3.6

0.5

100.0

97.4%

2.2

0.4

100.0

95.6%

4.1

0.2

100.0

cost

Depreciation and amortization exclusive of amortization of

programming rights sublicensing rights and own

production cost

Impairment loss

4.2 5.9 7.4

14.6 14.6 19.9

32.5 34.5 35.2

2.0 1.3 1.3

5.8 2.1 2.3

36.3 3.7

59.1 94.7 69.9

40.9 5.3 30.1

0.0 4.5 0.9
2.3 1.0 1.2

0.0 1.5 1.4
0.2

0.3 0.1 0.2

0.3 0.2 0.1

43.4 0.7 29.4

13.4 3.1 9.0

30.0 2.4 20.4

1.2 5.9 0.5

28.8% 3.5% 19.8%
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include the operations of the Channel 31 Group for ten months and the operations of the DTV Group
and the Production Group for nine months

Comparison of Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years ended December 31 2007 2008

and 2009

Total operating revenues

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

$417130 $329048

29.7% 21.1%

64155 50679
64.2% 21.0%

35884 40552

n/a 13.0%

96307 96737 65347

0.4% 32.4%

17471 17072 10232

2.3% 40.1%
n/a 5437 3979

n/a 26.8

n/a 10930 11020

0.8%

53504

12.4%

________ ________
58248

________ ________
$506113

20.9%

Our total operating revenues grew by 35.6% when comparing 2008 to 2007 and decreased by

20.9% when comparing 2009 to 2008 Our operating revenues significant majority of which comes

from advertising tend to reflect overall economic conditions In the past few years the Russian

economy exhibited positive trends such as an increase in
gross domestic product and stable and

strengthening currency During these years total spending on television advertising increased

significantly The increase in our total operating revenues when comparing 2007 and 2008 reflects the

growth of the Russian television advertising market in that period resulting in higher advertising rates

and the impact of acquisitions primarily of the DTV Group and Channel 31 in Kazakhstan acquired in

2008 and several regional stations acquired in 2007 and 2008 Increases in the price of television

advertising in 2008 when comparing to 2007 were also driven in part by decrease in the amount of

advertising permitted to be broadcast under Russian law effective January 2008

Since the second half of 2008 Russia like many other countries has experienced economic

instability As result of this economic instability total television advertising spending in Russia was

adversely affected and was the key factor in the decline in our operating results from 2008 to 2009

Also contributing to the decline was reduction in the size of the advertising market in Kazakhstan

resulting from downturn in its economy The decline in our operating results was partially offset by

acquisitions made in 2008 primarily the DTV Group which were included in our results of operations

for only portion of 2008 but for all of 2009 See Item 1A Risk FactorsWe derive almost all of our

revenues from the sale of advertising which is sensitive to broader economic conditions Our revenues

CTC Network $321517

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network 39077

Change period-to-period

DTV Network n/a

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

Total

Change period-to-period

n/a

2316

$472056

n/a

47615

n/a

54789

$640171

35.6%
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may substantially decrease if the current economic instability in Russia and certain of the other CIS

countries in which we operate continues or if those economies experience further deterioration

significant majority of our advertising revenue is denominated in Russian rubles We estimate

that the appreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar in the first half of 2008 resulted in

increases of approximately 2.2% in our advertising revenues when comparing 2008 to 2007 Starting in

August 2008 the value of the Russian ruble began to depreciate materially against the US dollar and

as result our reported revenues in the last five months of 2008 were materially adversely impacted

In 2009 the ruble depreciated further against the US dollar On average year-on-year the exchange

rate of the ruble against the dollar was 22% lower in 2009 than in 2008 We estimate that this

depreciation resulted in decreases of approximately 20.8% in our advertising revenues when comparing

2009 to 2008 continuing depreciation of the Russian ruble will continue to have material negative

effect on our reported revenues See Item 1A Risk FactorsRecent declines in the value of the

Russian ruble against the US dollar have negatively impacted our reported revenues and operating

results If the ruble depreciates further against the US dollar our revenues and our operating results

both as reported in US dollars will be adversely affected

When comparing 2008 and 2007 the advertising revenues at our Television Station Groups as

compared to our networks was negatively impacted by decrease in the relative amount of advertising

sold in aggregate at our owned-and-operated stations We believe this decrease was driven primarily by

the increase in advertising rates over the period which caused many large advertisers to shift more of

their advertising budgets to national rather than local campaigns In 2009 in reaction to the economic

instability in Russia advertisers continued to shift more of their advertising budgets to national

campaigns This had negative impact on the advertising revenues of our Television Station Groups as

compared to our networks Moreover because we record our advertising revenues net of commissions

revenues at our Television Station Groups were favorably impacted in 2007 by the significantly lower

commission rate paid by our owned-and-operated stations to Video International in connection with the

variable commission rate negotiated through 2007 Effective January 2008 the fixed commission rate

of 15% was re-instaled on local advertising sales thus decreasing our advertising revenues at our

Television Station Groups in 2008 and 2009 as compared to 2007

In December 2009 the Law on Advertising was amended effective in 2011 to prohibit federal

TV broadcasters fro.m signing agency agreements with media sales houses that hold TV advertising

market share greater than 35% As result of this amendment we anticipate that the structure of the

Russian TV advertising market starting in 2011 will change This may require us to change how we sell

advertising We may be unsuccessful especially in the short-term in transitioning to new system of

advertising sales that produces the same revenues at the same margins as we have enjoyed historically

See Item 1A Risk FactorsRecent changes in Russian law may fundamentally change the way in

which we sell advertising which could adversely affect our business financial condition and results of

operations
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Advertising revenues

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

We recognize advertising revenues in the period that the corresponding advertising spots are

broadcast Our advertising revenue is recorded net of VAT and sales commissions

Because advertisers often seek to reach particular demographic groups including particular ages

and genders they will often base their advertising placement decisions on ratings among such groups

rather than among the overall population Video International generally places the CTC Networks

advertising on the basis of ratings in CTCs target audience the 6-54 demographic the Domashny

Networks advertising on the basis of our ratings in Domashnys target audience 25-60 year-old women

and the DTV Networks advertising on the basis of our ratings in DTVs target audience

25-54 year-old viewers 18 year-old viewers in 2008 The overall audience share among the entire

viewing population considered to be those age and older or is used to compare our ratings

with those of other channels

CTC Network Advertising revenues for the CTC Network increased when comparing 2008 and

2007 by 30.9% principally due to increased advertising rates caused in
part by reduction in the

amount of airtime available for advertising starting in January 2008 increase in audience share and the

appreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar through August 2008 Advertising revenues for

the CTC Network decreased when comparing 2009 and 2008 by 23.3% principally due to the

depreciation
of the Russian ruble against the US dollar and to lesser extent due to decreased

advertising rates partially offset by increases in target audience share The average target audience

share of the CTC Network was 11.3% 11.8% and 12.2% respectively
in 2007 2008 and 2009 The

average overall audience share of the CTC Network was 9.0% in each of 2007 2008 and 2009 From

January 2009 the audience measurement system in Russia was modified in response to an updated

census that demonstrated changes in Russias demographics This census showed that the relative

percentage of children particularly teenagers in the overall population decreased significantly due to

the effect of material drop in the birth rate in Russia from 1990 to 1995 We currently estimate that

such modification in the audience measurement system decreases CTCs target audience share by

CTC Network

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network

Change period-to-period

DTV Network

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

Total

Change period-to-period

$304350 $398364 $305511

30.9% 23.3%

39074 64077 50628

64.0% 21.0%

n/a 35810 40550

n/a 13.2%

94752 94893 63864

0.1% 32.7%

14431 13760 8178

4.6% 40.6%
n/a 5058 3850

n/a 23.9%

n/a 10657 10767

n/a 1.0%

n/a 717 773

n/a 7.8%

62 176

$452669 $623336 $483945

37.7% 22.4%
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approximately 0.7 percentage points which negatively affects CTCs advertising revenues This decrease

was offset by the better performance of our programming in 2009

Domashny Network Advertising revenues for the Domashny Network increased when comparing

2008 and 2007 by 64.0% principally due to increased advertising rates increases in audience share and

the appreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar through August 2008 Domashny Networks

advertising revenues decreased when comparing 2009 to 2008 by 21.0% principally due to the

depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar and to lesser extent due to decreased

advertising rates partially offset by increase in target audience share and reallocation of the advertising

time from Domashny Television Station Group to Domashny Network discussed below The average

target audience share of the Domashny Network was 2.4% 2.8% and 2.9% in 2007 2008 and 2009

respectively The average overall audience share of the Domashny Network was 1.9% 2.2% and 2.2%

in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively The increase in the target audience share when comparing the

periods under review was primarily the result of better performance of our programming

DTV Network The DTV Network contributed $35.8 million and $40.6 million respectively to our

consolidated advertising revenues amounting to 5.7% and 8.4% respectively of our consolidated

advertising revenues for 2008 and 2009 The average target audience share of the DTV Network was

1.8% and 2.2% respectively during 2008 and 2009 The average overall audience share of the DTV
Network was 1.8% and 2.0% respectively in 2008 and 2009

Television Station Groups Advertising revenues of the CTC Television Station Group were flat

when comparing 2008 to 2007 and decreased by 32.7% when comparing 2009 to 2008 Advertising

revenues of the Domashny Television Station Group decreased by 4.6% and 40.6% respectively when

comparing 2007 to 2008 and 2009 to 2008 The DTV Television Station Group contributed $5.1 million

and $3.9 million respectively to our consolidated advertising revenues amounting to 0.8% of our

consolidated advertising revenues for 2008 and 2009

Advertising revenues of the CTC and Domashny Television Station Groups when comparing 2008

and 2007 were favorably impacted by newly acquired stations an increase in sellout and appreciation of

the Russian ruble against the US dollar through August 2008 The growth was offset by decrease in

the relative amount of advertising sold in aggregate in 2008 as compared to 2007 at our

owned-and-operated stations due to reduction in the amount of airtime available for advertising

starting in January 2008 as well as reallocation of advertising budgets to national rather than local

campaigns as discussed above Also effective January 2008 the fixed commission rate of 15% was

re-instated on local advertising sales discussed below thus decreasing our advertising revenues at our

Television Station Groups in 2008 as compared to 2007

In order to incentivize Video International to achieve negotiated 2007 sales targets we agreed

variable commission structure with them for our Television Station Groups during the period from

April to December 31 2007 Video International did not achieve the agreed quarterly sales targets

during the period from April to December 31 2007 for majority of our stations As result the

effective commission rate paid by our Television Station Groups for the full-year 2007 was 4% Because

the fixed 15% commission rate has been re-instated as of January 2008 our Television Station

Groups did not benefit from the variable commission rate that was in effect for the last three quarters

of 2007

The decrease in advertising revenues of our Television Station Groups when comparing 2009 to

2008 was principally due to depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar and decreased

advertising rates Also the decrease in advertising revenues in the Domashny Television Station Group
was partially due to reallocation of advertising time to the Domashny Network This reallocation

decreased the portion of advertising time available to independent affiliates and owned-and-operated

stations from 30% to 25% in response to continued decrease in regional advertising spending
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CIS Group CIS Group contributed $10.7 million and $10.8 million respectively or 1.7% and

2.2% respectively to our consolidated advertising revenues for 2008 and 2009 Channel 31 Group
contributed majority of the revenues of this segment for this period

Sublicensing own production and other revenues

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

$17167 $18766 23538

9.3% 25.4%

78 50

3800.0% 35.9

n/a 73

n/a 97.3%

1555 1845 1597

18.6% 13.4%
3040 3312 2054

8.9% 38.0%
n/a 379 140

n/a 63.1%
n/a 273 253

n/a 7.3%
n/a 46898 52731

n/a 12.4%

2377 54789 58197

$19387 $16835 22168

13.2% 31.7%

Networks Our sublicensing own production and other revenues increased by 9.3% and 25.4%

respectively when comparing 2008 to 2007 and 2009 to 2008 mainly due to increases in revenues from

sales of certain programming to third parties in Ukraine and Belarus partially offset by decrease in

sales of certain Russian mini-series to First Channel in Russia and decreases in intercompany sales to

other segments During 2009 and 2008 the majority of the programming sold to Ukraine and Belarus

comprises series and sitcoms produced by our Production Group

Television Station Groups Other revenues for the CTC and DTV Television Station Groups

primarily represent
fees received for transmission The Domashny Television Station Groups other

revenues were primarily generated by leasing production equipment at its Moscow facility to other

group companies and to third-party production companies significant portion of the Television

Station Groups other revenues are eliminated in consolidation

Production Group The majority of own production revenues for the Production Group represent

sales of in-house produced programming to our networks These revenues are eliminated in

consolidation

Eliminations and other We eliminate inter-company revenues from sublicensing own production

and other revenues These intercompany revenues consist primarily of programming rights sold by our

Production Group to our networks and programming rights sold by CTC Network to the CIS Group

CTC Network

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network

Change period-to-period

DTV Network

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

Total

Change period-to-period
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Total operating expenses

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

59.1% 94.7% 69.9%

Our total operating expenses as percentage of operating revenues amounted to 59.1% 94.7%

and 69.9% in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively Our total operating expenses in 2008 were effected by

noncash impairment loss of $232.7 million The overall increase also resulted from increases as

percentage of operating revenues in direct operating expenses and amortization of programming rights

offset by decreases as percentage of operating revenues in amortization of sublicensing rights and

depreciation and amortization expense Our total operating expenses in 2009 were effected by

noncash impairment loss of $18.7 million Excluding impairment losses our total operating expenses as

percentage of operating revenues increased when comparing 2009 and 2008 due to increases as

percentage of operating revenues in direct operating expenses selling general and administrative

expenses amortization of programming rights and depreciation and amortization expense

Our direct operating expenses and selling general and administrative expenses increased due to

the additional stock-based compensation expense recognized in 2009 of $39.8 million of which

$28.6 million relates to one-time charge recognized in conjunction with revisions to share

appreciation right effected in connection with the settlement of legal proceedings brought by us against

our former CEO and board member Akxander Rodnyansky The remaining portion relates to the

options granted in 2008 to our current CEO and to options granted in 2009 to number of our

employees and executives pursuant to our 2009 Stock Incentive Plan We expect to recognize stock-

based compensation expense related to all our stock options of approximately $22.1 million for 2010

$21.7 million for 2011 $11.5 million for 2012 and $8.5 million for 2013 For more details on our stock-

based compensation transactions see Item Financial Statements and Supplementary DataNote 13

Stockholders Equity

CTC Network

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network

Change period-to-period

DTV Network

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

Total

Change period-to-period

of total operating revenues

$155268 $209748 $168559
35.1% 19.6%

33728 45287 35767
34.3% 21.O%

n/a 28597 24093
n/a 15.7%

39341 36354 40521
7.6% 11.5%

25448 14520 10332
42.9 28.8

n/a 95247 7919
n/a 91.7%

n/a 150643 13228
n/a 91.2%

n/a 42314 46983
n/a 11.0%

25210 16720 6237

$278995 $605990 $353638

117.2% 41.6%
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Direct operating expenses

CTC Network

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network

Change period-to-period

DTV Network

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

Total

Change period-to-period

of total operating revenues

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

6964
20.2

4645
10.9%

3562
13.4%

6758
28.8

3556
34.6

3405
13.1%

2186
13.6%

n/a 2052 2439
9%

________
3907

$37422

0.2%
4.2% 5.9% 7.4%

8723
53.2%

4188
14.4%

3140
n/a

9493
43.8%

5437
19.9%

3918
n/a

n/a 1924
n/a

5694

3662

n/a

6602

4536

n/a

898

$19596

n/a

1361

$37514

91.4%

Networks At the network level direct operating expenses principally comprise the salaries of our

networks engineering programming and production staff satellite transmission fees and networks

affiliation costs

Direct operating expenses at the CTC Network as percentage of this segments total operating

revenues were 1.8% 2.1% and 2.1% in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively In absolute terms direct

operating expenses at the CTC Network increased when comparing 2008 and 2007 and decreased when

comparing 2009 and 2008 mainly due to our accrual in 2008 of prepayment of programming rights that

we determined to be not recoverable

Direct operating expenses at the Domashny Network as percentage of this segments total

operating revenues were 9.4% 6.5% and 9.2% in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively In absolute terms

direct operating expenses at the Domashny Network increased when comparing 2008 and 2007 mainly
due to salary increases and appreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar In absolute terms
direct operating expenses at the Domashny Network increased when comparing 2009 and 2008 mainly
due to the increase in network affiliation expenses offset by the depreciation of the Russian ruble

against the US dollar

At the DTV Network direct operating expenses as percentage of this segments total operating

revenues were 8.8% in 2008 and 2009

We expect our direct operating expenses at the networks to increase as result of fees that we

expect to pay to certain of our independent affiliates in exchange for broadcasting our network signals

Television Station Groups At the Television Station Group level direct operating expenses

primarily consist of transmission and maintenance costs and payroll expenses for engineering and

distribution staff Direct operating expenses at our Television Station Groups are significantly higher as
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percentage of those segments total operating revenues compared to our networks because we bear

the transmission costs of our owned-and-operated stations

For the CTC Television Station Group direct operating expenses as percentage of that segments

total operating revenues amounted to 6.9% 9.8% and 10.3% respectively in 2007 2008 and 2009 For

the Domashny Television Station Group direct operating expenses as percentage of that segments

total operating revenues were 26.0% 31.8% and 34.8% respectively
in 2007 2008 and 2009 Direct

operating expenses as percentage of revenues increased when comparing 2008 and 2007 as result

of revenues staying at approximately the same level for both CTC and Domashny Television Station

Groups while in absolute terms direct operating expenses increased in both segments over the periods

under review primarily as result of newly acquired stations increases in transmission costs and

increases in salaries and benefits The increase in salaries and benefits was due to annual raises in

compensation and increases in headcount In addition CTC Television Station Groups transmission

and maintenance costs increased primarily due to new agreement for transmission services signed by

its Moscow station with one of the largest local cable operators effective January 2008

For the CTC Television Station Group direct operating expenses as percentage of revenues

increased when comparing 2009 and 2008 as result of decreased revenues partially offset by

decrease in headcount For the Domashny Television Station Group direct operating expenses as

percentage of revenues increased when comparing 2009 and 2008 as result of decreased revenues

and increases in transmission costs partially offset by decrease in headcount

In addition to the factors noted above the depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

when comparing 2009 to 2008 decreased our direct operating expenses of our Television Station Groups

in absolute terms for these periods

For the DTV TelLevision Station Group direct operating expenses as percentage of that segments

total operating revenues were 72.1% and 85.6% respectively during 2008 and 2009

Direct operating expenses as percentage of Domashny and DTV Television Station Groups total

operating revenues are higher than that of the CTC Television Station Group reflecting the earlier

stage
of operations of those segments

In April 2007 the Ministry of Information Technologies and Communications of the Russian

Federation the Russian Ministry of Telecommunications requested evidence of the legal basis

pursuant to which some cable television operators including those carrying the signals of our networks

carry
certain broadcasters signals over their systems As result of this request some of our cable

television operators including Mostelecom which is the primary carrier of our networks signals in

Moscow indicated tlhat they might be required to begin charging us transmission fees for carrying our

signals on their systems We and representatives of other Russian broadcasters met with the Russian

Ministry of Telecommunications to understand the ramifications of this inquiry It was agreed that the

broadcasters and cable television operators
should try to resolve this issue independently without

involvement of the Russian Ministry of Telecommunication While discussions continue on resolving this

matter to date no such resolution has been reached If we were required to pay transmission fees to

these cable operators our direct operating expenses would be increased possibly materially

CIS Group For the CIS Group direct operating expenses principally consist of transmission and

maintenance costs and payroll expenses for technical programming production and distribution staff

Direct operating expenses at the CIS Group as percentage of this segments total operating revenues

were 17.6% and 19.8% respectively during 2008 and 2009

Production Group For the Production Group direct operating expenses principally comprise

general production overhead
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Eliminations and other We eliminate inter-company expenses from direct operating expenses
These inter-company expenses consist primarily of service fees charged to our networks by our

Television Station Groups for the operation and maintenance of repeater transmitters portion of our

corporate stock-based compensation expense is allocated to direct operating expenses These expenses
amounted to $0.7 million $0.9 million and $5.3 million respectively in 2007 2008 and 2009 The
increase in stock-based compensation expense when comparing 2009 to 2008 relates to new stock

options granted under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

Selling general and administrative expenses

CTC Network

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network

Change period-to-period

DTV Network

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

Total

Change period-to-period

of total operating revenues

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

$14218 $15785 13614
11.0% 13.8%

5986 8304 5819
38.7% 29.9

n/a 4153 3238
n/a 22.0%

18063 18439 13143
2.1% 28.7%

6400 6504 3565
1.6% 45.2%

n/a 1100 1185
n/a 7.7%

n/a 5932 4394
n/a 25.9%

n/a 1696 1669
n/a 1.6%

24211 31501 54172

$68878 $93414 $100799

35.6% 7.9%

14.6% 14.6% 19.9%

Our selling general and administrative expenses principally consist of advertising and promotion

expenses salaries and benefits stock-based compensation rent and utilities audit legal and other

consulting fees travel expenses insurance costs and non-income taxes

Networks Selling general and administrative expenses of the CTC Network as percentage of

this segments total operating revenues amounted to 4.4% 3.8% and 4.1% respectively in 2007 2008

and 2009 Selling general and administrative expenses of the Domashny Network as percentage of

this segments total operating revenues amounted to 15.3% 12.9% and 11.5% respectively in 2007
2008 and 2009

The decrease in selling general and administrative expenses as percentage of revenues when

comparing 2008 and 2007 at both the CTC Network and the Domashny Network reflects growth in

revenues The increase in selling general and administrative expenses in absolute terms for both

networks when comparing 2008 and 2007 was due to increases in salary and benefits increases in

advertising and promotion expenses and appreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

through August 2008
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The increase in selling general and administrative expenses as percentage of revenues when

comparing 2009 and 2008 at the CTC Network reflects decreases in revenues In absolute terms

selling general and administrative expenses at the CTC Network decreased primarily as result of the

reversal of the provision for bad debts due to payments received and decreases in salaries and benefits

resulting from the transfer of several senior managers to corporate headquarters partially offset by an

increase in rent expense

The decrease in selling general and administrative expenses as percentage of revenues when

comparing 2009 and 2008 at the Domashny Network was primarily due to decreases in salaries and

benefits resulting from the transfer of several senior managers to corporate headquarters decreases in

advertising and promotion expense partially offset by decrease in revenues over the periods under

review

Selling general and administrative expenses of the DTV Network as percentage of this

segments total operating revenues were 11.6% and 8.0% respectively during 2008 and 2009

In addition to the factors noted above the depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

decreased our selling general and administrative expenses of our networks in absolute terms when

comparing 2008 to 2009

Television Station Groups Selling general and administrative expenses of the CTC Television

Station Group as percentage of this segments total operating revenues amounted to 18.8% 19.1%

and 20.1% in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively The increase in these expenses as percentage of this

segments total operating revenues when comparing 2008 and 2007 was primarily due to flat operating

revenues over those years These expenses increased over this period primarily due to newly acquired

stations increases in salaries and benefits and higher rent expenses offset by the decrease in VAT

related to advertising and promotion expenses due to the change in our tax policy related to such

expenses for 2008 as well as catch up adjustment related to this change for the three previous years

for which we filed revised tax declaration The increase in selling general and administrative

expenses as percentage of this segments total operating revenues when comparing 2009 and 2008

was primarily due to decreased operating revenues over those years partially offset by decrease in

advertising and promotion expenses In addition the decrease in selling general and administrative

expenses when comparing 2009 and 2008 was due to an adjustment in the earlier period related to

change in our tax policy in respect of VAT for earlier years as described above

Selling general and administrative expenses of the Domashny Television Station Group as

percentage of this segments total operating revenues amounted to 36.6% 38.1% and 34.8% in 2007

2008 and 2009 respectively The increase in this expense as percentage of this segments total

operating revenues when comparing 2008 and 2007 was primarily due to modest decrease in

operating revenue accompanied by an increase in expenses arising from newly acquired stations and

increases in salaries and benefits These increases were offset by the re-allocation of portion of this

segments salaries and benefits related to shared services to the DTV Television Station Group and

decrease in VAT related to advertising and promotion expenses as discussed above The decrease in

this expense as percentage of this segments total operating revenues when comparing 2009 to 2008

was mainly due to decrease in advertising and promotion expenses and decreases in headcount

partially offset by decreased revenues Advertising and promotion expenses for this segment amounted

to $1.6 million $1.5 million and $0.4 million in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Selling general and administrative expenses of the DTV Television Station Group as percentage

of this segments total operating revenues were 20.2% and 29.8% respectively in 2008 and 2009

In addition to the factors noted above the depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

decreased our selling general and administrative expenses of our Television Station Groups in absolute

terms when comparing 2009 to 2008
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CIS Group Selling general and administrative expenses of our CIS Group consist primarily of

payroll expenses related to sales marketing finance and administrative personnel marketing expenses

consultancy and outside service expenses office space rent expenses and utilities expenses of the

Channel 31 Group As percentage of this segments operating revenues selling general and

administrative expenses decreased from 54.3% in 2008 to 39.9% in 2009 mainly due to the cost cutting

measures implemented in this segment in 2009

Production Group Selling general and administrative expenses of the Production Group consist

primarily of payroll expenses related to sales marketing finance and administrative personnel office

space rent expenses and utilities expenses of our production companies As percentage of this

segments operating revenues selling general and administrative expenses were 3.6% in 2008 and 3.1%

in 2009

Eliminations and other Other selling general and administrative expenses consist principally of

the general and administrative expenses of our corporate headquarters These expenses excluding

stock-based compensation amounted to $11.2 million $17.1 million and $14.2 million for 2007 2008

and 2009 respectively The increase in general and administrating expenses of our corporate

headquarters when comparing 2008 and 2007 was mainly due to increases in certain consulting costs

increases in board member fees an increase in our salaries and benefits due to the hiring of our new
CEO and annual compensation increases The decrease in general and administrating expenses of our

corporate headquarters when comparing 2009 and 2008 was mainly due to the depreciation of the

Russian ruble against the US dollar and decreases in certain consulting costs partially offset by an

increase in our salaries and benefits due to the increases in headcount and transfer of several senior

managers from other segments to corporate headquarters

Corporate stock-based compensation expense amounted to $13.0 million $15.2 million and

$42.3 million for 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively The increase in stock-based compensation when

comparing 2008 and 2007 resulted principally from stock options granted to our new CEO in August

2008 We also recognized an additional $0.5 million in stock-based compensation expense in 2008 as

result of the extension of the vesting period of an option granted to one of our former executives in

connection with his departure The increase in stock-based compensation when comparing 2009 and

2008 relates mainly to additional $28.6 million recognized in 2009 in conjunction with an amendment to

stock appreciation right held by our former CEO and board member in connection with settling legal

proceedings we brought against him In addition we recognized $5.8 million in expense related to

options held by our CEO and $0.6 million in expense related to options granted to our employees and

executives under the new 2009 Stock Incentive Plan See Item Financial Statements and

Supplementary DataNote 13 Stockholders Equity The effect of these additional costs was partially

offset by the decrease in stock-based compensation resulted principally from cancellation of the options

granted to one of our former executives and former CEO in connection with their departures and the

fact that some options granted to our former CEO became fully vested
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Amortization of programming rights

Year ended December 31

Total

Change period-to-period

of total operating revenues

CTC Network The amortization of programming rights is our most significant expense at the

network level Amortization of programming rights for the CTC Network segment as percentage of

CTC Networks total operating revenues amounted to 38.8% 41.4% and 42.4% for 2007 2008 and

2009 respectively The increase in amortization of programming rights for the CTC Network as

percentage of the segments total operating revenues when comparing 2008 to 2007 was primarily due

to increases in impairment charges the effect of change in our amortization policy for certain types

of Russian-produced series recognized in 2008 as described below and increases in the cost of

programming particularly Russian-produced series and foreign movies In addition in absolute terms

the increase in amortization of programming rights when comparing 2008 to 2007 was due to

appreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar until August 2008 The increase in amortization

of programming rights for the CTC Network as percentage of the segments total operating revenues

when comparing 2009 to 2008 was primarily due to decreased revenue and relatively more expensive

programming mix in 2009 offset by the effect of changes in our amortization policy for certain types of

Russian-produced programming that became effective from January 2009 as described below The

decrease in amortization of programming rights for the CTC Network in absolute terms when

comparing 2009 to 2008 was mainly due to the depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

beginning in August 2008

Starting from the second quarter of 2008 following change in our programming schedule we

changed the amortization rates for Russian-produced series with twenty or more episodes The effect of

this change resulted in additional amortization expense of $9.5 million in 2008 as compared to 2007 In

addition starting from the first quarter
of 2009 we changed the amortization rates for sketchcoms

certain programs and successful sitcom This change resulted in decrease of $5.9 million in

amortization expense in 2009 when compared to 2008 Changes to our amortization rates for

programming are made in order to reflect expected future revenue generation patterns

CTC Network

Change period-to-period

Domashny Network

Change period-to-period

DTV Network

Change period-to-period

CTC Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

Domashny Television Station Group

Change period-to-period

DTV Television Group

Change period-to-period

CIS Group

Change period-to-period

Production Group

Change period-to-period

Eliminations and other

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

$124725 $172573 $139462
38.4% 19.2%

23450 32139 24925
37.1% 22.4%

n/a 11230 14572
n/a 29.8%

5433 6315 1671
16.2% 73.5%

132 40 16
69.7 60.0

n/a 11
n/a 81.8%

n/a 4856 5845
n/a 20.4%

n/a 65
n/a

209 6607

$153531 $220557

43.7%

32.5% 34.5%

8166

$178392

19.1%
35.2%
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Programmingimpairment charges amounted to $5.7 million $16.6 million and $13.0 million for

2007 2008 and 2009 respectively The increase in impairment charges when comparing 2008 and 2007

was mainly due to the underperformance of three Russian series launched in the first half of 2008 as

well as revisions to our expectations about the revenues our programming would generate in light of

the current economic instability The decrease in impairment charges when comparing 2008 and 2009

was due to depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

Domashny Network Amortization of programming rights for the Domashny Network segment as

percentage of its operating revenues amounted to 60.0% 50.1% and 49.2% for 2007 2008 and 2009

respectively The decrease in Domashnys amortization of programming expense as percentage of its

total operating revenues when comparing 2008 and 2007 is primarily the result of an increase in this

segments revenues In absolute terms the increase in Domashnys amortization of programming

expense when comparing 2008 and 2007 was primarily due to appreciation of the Russian ruble against

the US dollar until August 2008 and increases in the cost of programming The decrease in

Domashnys amortization of programming expense in absolute terms when comparing 2009 and 2008

was due to the depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar beginning in August 2008

DTV Network Amortization of programming rights expense for the DTV Network segment as

percentage of its operating revenues was 31.3% and 35.9% respectively in 2008 and 2009

We expect our amortization for programming rights expense for the Domashny and DTV
Networks to increase in 2010 as we continue to build on the brands of these channels by strengthening

their programming

Television Station Groups Our Television Station Groups amortize the programming that they

commission for broadcast during the local windows The decrease in amortization of programming

rights at CTC Television Station Group in 2009 reflects certain
cost-cutting measures taken in the first

quarter of 2009

CIS Group The amortization of programming rights for the CIS Group consists of the

amortization of in-house programming and acquired programming rights by the Channel 31 Group

including content provided by CTC Network Amortization of programming rights for the CIS segment

as percentage of its operating revenues was 44.4% and 53.0% respectively during 2008 and 2009

Amortization of sublicensing rights and own production cost

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

CTC Network $9629 11704 8056
Change period-to-period 21.5% 31.2

Production Group 38513 42660
Change period-to-period 10.8%

Eliminations and other 41774 43884

Total $9629 8443 6832

Change period-to-period 12.3 19.1

of total operating revenues 2.0% 1.3% 1.3%

Own production costs represent
the cost of internally produced programming licensed to the third

parties as well as sold to our other operating segments

CTC Network The increase of amortization of sublicensing rights and own production cost at the

CTC Network level when comparing 2008 and 2007 was primarily due to intercompany sales to the

CIS Group and to DTV Network and increased sales of certain programming to Ukraine partially

59



offset by decreased sales of certain Russian mini-series to First Channel in Russia The decrease in the

amortization of sublicensing rights and own production cost at the CTC Network level when comparing

2009 to 2008 was due primarily to decreased cost of internally produced series and sitcoms sold to

third party in Ukraine The decrease in cost was due primarily to the depreciation of Russian ruble

against the US dollar In addition the decrease in the amortization of sublicensing rights and own

production cost when comparing 2009 to 2008 was due to sales of certain Russian mini-series to First

Channel in Russia during the second quarter of 2008

Production Group Direct production costs for Production Group which consists mainly of

production staff salaries compensation to actors and other direct costs associated with programming

sold to our Russian Networks are classified within amortization of sublicensing rights and own

production cost These expenses are eliminated in consolidation

Eliminations and other Inter-company expenses consist primarily of programming rights sold by

our Production Group to the our Russian Networks and programming sold by the CTC Network to the

CIS Group

Depreciation and amortization expense exclusive of amortization of programming rights and

sublicensing rights

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

in thousands except percentages

CTC Network 1002 963 463

Change period-to-period 3.9 51.9

Domashny Network 631 656 379

Change period-to-period
4.0% 42.2

DTV Network n/a 2332 2721

Change period-to-period
n/a 16.7%

CTC Television Station Group 9243 2106 1935

Change period-to-period 77.2 8.1

Domashny Television Station Group 14380 2538 1471

Change period-to-period 82.4 42.0

DTV Television Group n/a 2330 3326

Change period-to-period
n/a 42.7%

CIS Group n/a 880 804

Change period-to-period
n/a 8.6

Production Group n/a 52 151

Change period-to-period
n/a 190.4%

Eliminations and other 2105 1522 204

Total $27361 $13379 $11454

Change period-to-period 51.1 14.4

of total operating revenues

Our depreciation and amortization exclusive of amortization of programming rights and

sublicensing rights relates to the depreciation of our property and equipment mainly broadcasting

equipment transmitters buildings computer hardware and office furniture and the amortization of our

intangible assets other than programming rights and sublicensing rights principally network affiliation

agreements and cable network connections

Networks At the network level the depreciation of broadcasting equipment network affiliation

agreements computer hardware and office furniture represents the principal component of this

expense

5.8% 2.1% 2.3%
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Television Station Groups Prior to January 2008 we treated our Russian broadcasting licenses

as definite life assets and amortized them on straight-line basis over five years As result prior to

2008 significant portion of the depreciation and amortization expense of our Television Station

Groups was the amortization of these broadcasting licenses In accordance with our policy on intangible

assets we review the estimated useful lives of these assets on an ongoing basis In connection with our

review of the useful life of our Russian broadcasting licenses as of December 31 2007 we
re-considered our assumption that these licenses have five-year useful life Effective January 2008
we changed our estimate for the useful lives of Russian broadcasting licenses to indefinite to better

reflect the estimated periods during which we will benefit from the use of such licenses Hence from

January 2008 our Russian broadcasting licenses are not amortized but are tested for impairment on

an annual basis If we had continued to amortize our Russian broadcasting licenses in 2008 and 2009
the depreciation and amortization expense for the CTC Television Station Group would have been

$13.8 million or 14.3% of this segments total operating revenues and $11.0 million or 16.9% of this

segments total operating revenues respectively for 2008 and 2009 The depreciation and amortization

expense for the Domashny Television Station Groups would have been $15.3 million or 90.0% of this

segments total operating revenues and $10.5 million or 102.4% of this segments total
operating

revenues respectively for 2008 and 2009 Because of our change in policy however depreciation and

amortization expense as percentage of total operating revenues fell from 9.6% in 2007 to 2.2% in

2008 and to 3.0% in 2009 for the CTC Television Station Group and from 82.3% in 2007 to 14.9% in

2008 and to 14.4% in 2009 for the Domashny Television Station Group

We have recently entered into contracts with Mostelecom to secure the right of the CTC and

Domashny Moscow stations to be connected by cable to additional households in Moscow DTV Group
also has number of agreements with Mostelecom for cable connections to households in Moscow
These contracts do not however grant us the right to be connected to all households in Moscow for all

of our networks We continue to evaluate from cost benefit analysis whether to enter into additional

contracts with Mostelecom regarding other households Based on our analysis of the terms of these

agreements with Mostelecom we will amortize these cable network connections through December
2015

The depreciation and amortization expense of DTV Television Station Group as percentage of

the segments total operating revenues was 42.9% and 83.6% respectively in 2008 and 2009 The
increase in this segments depreciation and amortization expense was due to additional cable

connections to Moscow households for the DTV signal made during 2009 according to the agreement
with Mostelecom We expect that the amortization expense of this segment will increase in absolute

terms in 2010 as we reach agreement with Mostelecom for additional cable connections to Moscow

households for the DTV signal

CIS Group Depreciation and amortization expense of the CIS Group mainly consisted of

depreciation of broadcasting studio and office equipment and amortization of office software

Eliminations and other Other depreciation and amortization expense consists primarily of the

amortization expense of $2.0 million and $1.4 million in 2007 and 2008 respectively recognized as

result of the assignment of $10 million in value to affiliation agreements of the CTC Network in

connection with our acquisition in August 2003 of Alfas 25% plus one share interest in our CTC
Network These affiliation agreements were fully amortized by August 2008

Impairment loss

As of December 31 2008 we recorded non-cash impairment losses totaling $232.7 million related

to intangible assets and goodwill recorded in connection with acquisitions completed in 2008 Of the

total impairment losses $87.9 million related to the impairment of broadcasting licenses of DTV
Television Station Group $7.7 million related to impairment of the trade name of DTV Network
$74.7 million and $58.2 million related to impairment of the broadcasting license and goodwill
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respectively of Channel 31 Group and $4.2 million related to the impairment of the broadcasting

license of our Moldova broadcasting group

As result of the re-weighting
of certain cities in the TNS Gallup panel we recorded noncash

impairment charge in 2009 related to broadcasting licenses in these cities which had net effect on

our net income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders of $15.0 million

As result of the impairments taken in 2008 and 2009 the assets for which the estimated fair

values were less than their carrying values were reduced to their estimated fair values as of

December 31 2008 and 2009 See Item Financial Statements and Supplementary DataNote

Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies See Item 1A Risk FactorsA

significant portion of our total assets are intangibles assets with indefinite lives If events or changes in

circumstances require us to further reduce the fair value of those assets we may be required to record

impairment losses that can materially adversely impact our net income

Foreign currency gains losses

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Foreign currency gains losses $151 $28861 $4555

The functional currency of our Russian subsidiaries is the ruble and the functional currency
for

our Channel 31 Group is the Kazakh tenge In 2007 we experienced nonmaterial foreign currency

gains and losses due to our largest Russian subsidiary holding similar amounts of dollar-denominated

monetary assets and liabilities In 2008 our foreign currency loss primarily resulted from the impact of

ruble depreciation on our dollar-denominated liabilities which was represented mainly by the debts

outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement that we entered into in June 2008 partially offset by

the impact of ruble depreciation on our dollar-denominated assets During 2008 the ruble depreciated

against the US dollar approximately 16.5% In 2009 our foreign currency loss primarily represents
the

impact of ruble and tenge depreciation on our dollar-denominated liabilities mainly the debts

outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement and payables for foreign programming partially offset

by the impact of ruble depreciation on our dollar-denominated assets and gains on our forward

contract that we entered into to partially hedge our foreign currency exposure under the Credit Facility

Agreement During 2009 the ruble depreciated further 2.9% against the US dollar and as result

the average exchange rate of the ruble against the US dollar was 22% lower in 2009 than in 2008

Moreover during 2009 the Kazakh tenge depreciated approximately 18.8% against the US dollar

In October 2008 we entered into foreign exchange forward contract to reduce portion of our

foreign exchange risk related to the Credit Facility Agreement which is denominated in US dollars In

addition from time to time we enter into foreign exchange hedging arrangements in relation to

portion of our programming commitments denominated in US dollars See Item 7A Quantitative and

Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest income

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Interest income $11002 $6221 $6087

Our interest income consists primarily of interest earned on our bank accounts Principally as

result of our recent acquisitions our cash and cash equivalents balance decreased significantly during

2008 resulting in the reduction in interest income starting from the third quarter of 2008
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Interest expense

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Interest expense $3 $9434 $6959

In connection with financing our acquisition of the DTV Group in April 2008 our interest expense

increased significantly On closing the acquisition we issued promissory note in favor of DTV
Groups seller MTG Broadcasting AB in the principal amount of $138.1 million and agreed to ensure

the repayment of indebtedness owing from the DTV Group to MTG On the date of acquisition such

indebtedness amounted to $65.7 million The principal amount of the note accrued interest at an

annual rate of 5.3% until June 30 2008 and 7.3% from July 2008 until paid in full The debt owing

from the DTV Group to MTG bore interest at rates varying from LIBOR plus 1.25% to 15% By July

2008 we repaid the note in full and satisfied the indebtedness owing from the DTV Group to MTG
principally from the proceeds of the Credit Facility Agreement that we signed in June 2008 for

$135.0 million The Credit Facility Agreement bears interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 3% See

Credit Facility Agreement Our interest expense decreased when comparing 2009 to 2008 primarily

due to partial repayments of the principal amount outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement

starting in the third quarter of 2008 The amount outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement as

of December 31 2008 and 2009 including accrued interest was $90.4 million and $28.3 million

respectively We will prepay all outstanding amounts under the Credit Facility Agreement in

March 2010

Gain on sale of businesses

Year ended

December 31

2007 2008 2009

Gain on sale of businesses $747

In June 2007 we sold our interest in radio station in Omsk for total consideration of

$0.8 million and recognized $0.7 million gain on the sale

Equity in income of investee companies

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Equity in income of investee companies $1195 $1511 $537

Under the equity method we record our interest in the results of operations of stations over which

we do not have effective control as an investment rather than consolidating its results with our results

of operations reflecting portion of net income commensurate with our ownership stake in it In the

first half of 2007 our equity in income of investee companies primarily consisted of income attributable

to our interests in the Kazan and Novosibirsk stations In July 2007 we acquired the remaining 50%
interest in Kazan station bringing our ownership to 100% As result only the operating results of our

Novosibirsk station has been reflected in this line item since July 2007

Income tax expense

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Income tax expense $63176 $19874 $45626
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During 2007 and 2008 the statutory rates in Russia and Kazakhstan were 24% and 30%

respectively In November 2008 the tax legislation of Russia was amended to decrease Russian

statutory
income tax rate from 24% to 20% starting from January 2009 In addition in December

2008 the tax legislation of Kazakhstan was amended to decrease statutory income tax rate from 30% in

2008 to 20% in 2009 17.5% in 2010 and 15% in 2011 and thereafter The changes in income tax rates

are effective from January of each of the respective years The effect of these changes on our

deferred tax assets and liabilities resulted in recognition of income tax benefit in the amount of

$19.3 million as of Iecember 31 2008 Also in 2008 our effective tax rate was impacted by the effect

of the impairment loss recognized in 2008 in respect of certain of our assets The impairment loss

decreased our income before tax by $232.7 million and decreased our income tax expense by

$30.3 million Net of the impairment loss and change in income tax rates effects our effective tax rate

for 2008 would have been 29% compared to 31% effective tax rate in 2007 The decrease in effective

rate when comparing 2008 to 2007 was primarily due to income tax benefits in respect of deductions

for certain advertising expenses related to 2005-2007 recognized in 2008 due to change in our

estimate of the sustainability of those deductions upon examination

In 2009 our effective tax rate was approximately 31% The increase in our effective tax rate when

comparing 2009 to 2008 adjusted for the nonrecurring items discussed above was primarily due to the

increases as percentage of consolidated income before tax in stock-based compensation expense and

due to deferred tax liabilities on unremitted earnings of our Russian subsidiaries that we do not plan to

reinvest recognized at the end of 2009 partially offset by changes in statutory tax rates effective from

January 2009 discussed above and reversals of tax contingencies related to DTV Group based on

the results of the tax audit for 2006-2008 and the lapse in statute of limitations for tax contingencies

related to the Cannel 31 Group

Income losses attributable to noncon trolling interest

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Income attributable to noncontrolling interest $5842 $37934 $2630

In 2007 noncontrolling interest represents
the share of net income loss of each of our

consolidated owned-and-operated stations that are not wholly owned and that is therefore attributable

to the noncontrolling shareholders of these companies In 2008 and 2009 noncontrolling interest also

includes the share of net losses of our companies in the CIS segment Noncontrolling interest related

to our acquisition of Channel 31 Group was recognized at fair value in accordance with applicable

accounting guidance Income attributable to noncontrolling interest in 2008 was affected by the noncash

impairment loss related to the broadcasting licenses and goodwill of Channel 31 Group The effect

amounted to $48.7 million

Other comprehensive income loss attributable to controlling interest

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Other comprehensive income loss $33791 $106368 $3812

The functional currency of our Russian-domiciled subsidiaries is the Russian ruble and the

functional currency for our Channel 31 Group is the Kazakh tenge As result the financial statements

of these subsidiaries were translated into US dollars using the current rate method Other

comprehensive loss in 2008 and 2009 primarily represents the losses relating to these translations due

to depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar from August 2008 See Foreign currency

gains losses
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Consolidated Financial PositionSignificant Changes in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at

December 31 2008 Compared to December 31 2009

Trade accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts

Our accounts receivable decreased from $33.7 million to $24.2 million from December 31 2008 to

December 31 2009 mainly due to decrease in revenue

Short-term investments

As of December 31 2009 short-term investments represent cash deposits with maturity in the

range from three to six months placed in Russian banks

Broadcasting licenses

Broadcasting licenses decreased from $166.2 million to $159.0 million from December 31 2008 to

December 31 2009 primarily due to noncash impairment loss recorded in 2009 related to some of

our broadcasting licenses See Impairment loss This decrease was offset by increase in

broadcasting licenses due to our acquisition of several regional Russian television stations See

Recent Acquisitions

Programming rights

The increase in programming rights from December 31 2008 to December 31 2009 was primarily

due to the acquisition of significant package of foreign programming during 2009

Accounts payable

Accounts payable increased from $41.0 million at December 31 2008 to $51.1 million at

December 31 2009 primarily due to an increase in amounts due for purchases of programming rights

Accrued liabilities

Accrued liabilities decreased from $41.6 million at December 31 2008 to $35.0 million at

December 31 2009 primarily due to reversals of pre-acquisition tax contingencies related to our

acquisitions of the DTV Group and Channel 31 Group mainly due to the results of tax audit at DTV
Group and lapse of the statute of limitations

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue decreased from $14.7 million at December 31 2008 to $5.0 million at

December 31 2009 primarily due to decrease in prepayments from advertisers during 2009 when

compared to 2008

Short-term and long-term loans and interest accrued

The decrease in long-term and short-term loans and interest accrued is due to the partial

repayment of our debt outstanding under the Credit Facility during the second and fourth quarters of

2009 and reclassification of the remaining portion to short-term loans and interest accrued in

accordance with the payment schedule See Credit Facility Agreement

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31 2009 we had $84.4 million in cash and cash equivalents of which approximately

49% was held in US dollar-denominated accounts In addition at December 31 2009 we had

$39.1 million in deposits with maturities ranging from three to six months of which approximately 38%
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was held in US dollar-denominated accounts We do not have in place readily available line of credit

or other alternative source of financing

We believe that our current cash on hand along with cash from operations will provide sufficient

capital to fund our operations for at least the next 12 months We can not assure you however that

the assumed levels of revenues and expenses underlying this projection will prove to be accurate

Cash flows

Below is summary of our cash flows during the periods indicated

2007 2008 2009

in thousands

Net cash provided by operating activities $158023 $185937 $132941

Net cash used in investing activities 37591 419032 81654
Net cash provided by used in financing activities 733 20595 62548

Substantially alL of our cash flow from operating
activities throughout the periods under review

derived from advertising revenues Changes in our cash flow from operating activities primarily reflect

changes in our advertising revenues over these periods Our advertising revenue was $452.7 million

$623.3 million and $483.9 million respectively for 2007 2008 and 2009

Our most significant use of cash in relation to operating assets and liabilities throughout the

period under review was for the acquisition of programming and sublicensing rights Our cash

expenditure for the acquisition of programming and sublicensing rights was $176.8 million

$245.7 million and $209.3 million during 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively exceeding our programming

rights and sublicensing rights amortization expense in each of these years Programming rights and

sublicensing rights amortization was $163.2 million $229.0 million and $185.2 million respectively

during 2007 2008 and 2009 In 2009 our net cash provided by operating activities included cash

payment by us in the amount of $29.4 million to our former CEO and board member Alexander

Rodnyansky in conjunction with revisions to share appreciation right effected in connection with the

settlement of legal proceedings brought by us against him

Cash used in investing activities includes cash used for the acquisition of property equipment and

intangible assets purchases and establishment of new owned-and-operated stations and investments in

cash deposits In 2007 we spent $5.6 million on capital expenditures mainly on purchases of

broadcasting transmission and video equipment and office and computer equipment We also paid an

aggregate of $34.8 million net of cash acquired to acquire interests in regional television stations in

Russia

In 2008 our cash used in investing activities increased significantly as we completed several major

acquisitions During that period we paid cash of $331.6 million in connection with our acquisition of

the DTV Group $65.3 million for our 60% economic interest in the Channel 31 Group $4.6 million

related to our acquisitions of Costafilm and Sohomedia and $4.3 million related to our acquisition of

controlling interest in broadcasting group in Moldova These cash payments were offset by the cash on

the accounts of the acquired businesses in an aggregate of $10.7 million Also in 2008 we paid cash of

$14.0 million related to the acquisition of additional owned-and-operated stations In 2008 the amount

we spent on capital expenditures also increased to $10.1 million

In 2009 we paid cash of $25.7 million for acquisitions including $11.0 million of earn-out

payments in relation to our acquisition of production companies in 2008 and $14.7 million paid for

acquisition of additional owned-and-operated stations In 2009 we spent cash of $16.2 million for

capital expenditures mainly on purchases of equipment and software for our new digital broadcasting

center in Moscow as well as on cable connections pursuant to our contracts with Mostelecom to secure

the right of our Moscow stations to be connected by cable to additional households in Moscow In
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addition in 2009 we made cash deposits of $39.1 million in Russia banks These deposits have original

maturity in the range from three to six months

In 2010 we expect capital expenditures to reach up to $40 million as we continue to work on

establishing unified digital play-out facility in Moscow continue the digitalization of our content

library upgrade our broadcasting equipment and move into new Moscow office facility if

negotiations for the lease of this facility are successful

Cash used in financing activities includes proceeds and repayments of borrowings proceeds from

exercises of stock options and payments of dividends to minority interest holders in our

owned-and-operated stations In 2007 we received $6.6 million from the exercise of stock options and

paid $5.8 million in dividends to minority shareholders of our owned-and-operated stations During

2008 we drew-down $135.0 million under the Credit Facility Agreement and later repaid $44.8 million

of the outstanding principal Also in 2008 we repaid the outstanding principal amount of indebtedness

to MTG assumed in the acquisition of DTV and the related interest in the amount of $65.4 million In

2009 we repaid outstanding principal under the Credit Facility Agreement in the amount of

$62.0 million SeeCredit Facility Agreement Also in 2009 we received $3.4 million in proceeds

from exercise of share appreciation rights by Alexander Rodnyansky

Off-balance sheet transactions

From time to time we issue guarantees in favor of banks that make loans to production companies

that produce Russian programming for us Currently there are no such guarantees in place

Contractual obligations

The table below summarizes information with
respect to our contractual obligations as of

December 31 2009

Payments Due by Period

2011 2013

Through through through
Total 2010 2012 2014 Thereafter

in thousands

Acquisition of programming rights $171408 $105861 $65547

Debt obligations 28520 28520

Transmission and satellite fees 83508 $14450 $32951 $36107

Leasehold obligations 5728 2879 697 465 $1687

Acquisition of format rights 2645 2645

Total1 $291809 $154355 $99195 $36572 $1687

Accrued liabilities related to income taxes in the amount of $6968 are excluded from this table

because we cannot make reasonably reliable estimate of the period of cash settlement with the

taxing authorities

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

We have considered all recently issued accounting pronouncements and disclosed the ones that

could be material to our financial statement in the notes to our consolidated financial statements See

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary DataNote Basis of Presentation and Summary

of Significant Accounting Policies
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign currency exchange risk

Because our reporting currency is the US dollar and the functional currency of our principal

operating subsidiaries is the Russian ruble our reported results of operations are impacted by

fluctuations in the exchange rate between the US dollar and the Russian ruble Additionally given that

substantially all of our revenues are generated in rubles we face exchange rate risk relating to

operating expenses that we incur in currencies other than the ruble primarily US dollar payments for

non-Russian produced programming For the year ended December 31 2009 if the value of the ruble

compared to the US dollar had been on average 10% lower than it actually was we would have

reported decreases in total operating revenues and total operating expenses of approximately

$44.2 million and $18.9 million respectively The total operating expenses we reported would have

decreased in this hypothetical scenario because most of our operating expenses are ruble-denominated

although our reporting currency is the US dollar See Item 1A Risk FactorsRecent declines in the

value of the Russian ruble against the US dollar have negatively impacted our reported revenues and

operating results If the ruble depreciates further against the US dollar our revenues and our operating

results both as reported in US dollars will be adversely affected

Moreover payments under the Credit Facility Agreement are denominated in US dollars As of

December 31 2009 outstanding principal and accrued interest under the Credit Facility Agreement was

$28.3 million In order to reduce our foreign exchange risk related to portion of our payments due

under the Credit Facility Agreement we entered into foreign exchange forward contract in October

2008 Under that foreign exchange forward contract we were previously obligated to buy an aggregate

of $51 million at RURIUS$ exchange rate that ultimately proved to be more favorable for us than

the prevailing exchange rates at the time of purchase Our remaining obligation under that forward

exchange contract is to purchase $15 million at rate of RUR 28.84 for each $1.00 on June 15 2010

In addition from time to time we enter into foreign exchange hedging arrangements in relation to

portion of our programming commitments denominated in US dollars In connection with these

hedging arrangements at December 31 2009 we were party to foreign exchange forward contracts that

commit us to purchase $20 million at rates ranging from RUR 30.11 to RUR 31.15 for each $1.00 on

various dates from April through October 2010

The prevailing exchange rate as of February 24 2010 was RUR 30.15 to $1.00 We do not use

hedging arrangements for trading or speculative purposes

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item may be found beginning on page F-i

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer

evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2009 The

term disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the

Exchange Act means controls and other procedures of company that are designed to ensure that

information required to be disclosed by company in the reports
that it files or submits under the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and
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procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by company in the reports

that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the companys

management including its principal executive and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow

timely decisions regarding required disclosure Management recognizes that any controls and

procedures no matter how well designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of

achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the

cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures Based on the evaluation of our disclosure

controls and procedures as of December 31 2009 our chief executive officer and chief financial officer

concluded that as of such date our disclosure controls and procedures were effective

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

During 2009 there was change in our internal control over financial reporting as such term is

defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act that has materially affected or is

reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting During 2009 we

completed migration of our consolidation system to Hyperion This initiative further strengthened the

overall design and operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting This initiative

was not in response to any identified deficiency or weakness in our internal control over financial

reporting We believe this change favorably impacted our internal control over financial reporting

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Exchange Act This rule

defines internal control over financial reporting as process designed by or under the supervision of

companys chief executive officer and chief financial officer and effected by our board of directors

management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements In addition projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate

Management assessed the design and operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 This assessment was performed under the direction and supervision

of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer and utilized the framework established in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission COSO Based on that evaluation we concluded that as of December 31

2009 our internal control over financial reporting was effective

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 has

been audited by Ernst Young LLC our independent registered public accounting firm Their report

may be found below

69



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of CTC Media Inc

We have audited CTC Media Inc and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria CTC

Media Inc management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys internal control over financial reporting based

on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained

in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal

control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the

maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or

detect misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion CTC Media Inc and subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States the consolidated balance sheets of CTC Media Inc and subsidiaries

as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of income loss

comprehensive income loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three
years

in the

period ended December 31 2009 and our report
dated March 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion

thereon

Is Ernst Young LLC

Moscow Russia

March 2010
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PART III

Item 9B Other Information

None

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to directors certain executive officers and certain corporate governance

matters is contained in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders to

be held on April 22 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

We have adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive

officer principal financial officer and principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing

similar functions copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on the Corporate
Governance section of our website www.ctcmedia.ru We intend to disclose on our website any

amendments to or waivers from our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that are required to be

disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of Item 5.05 of Form 8-K

Item 11 Executive Compensation

Information relating to executive compensation and the Companys equity compensation plans is

contained in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on

April 22 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Information with respect to beneficial ownership of our common stock by each director and all

directors and executive officers of the Company as group is contained in our definitive Proxy

Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 22 2010 and is incorporated

herein by reference

Information relating to any person who beneficially owns in excess of percent of the total

outstanding shares of our common stock is contained in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual

Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 22 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

Information with
respect to compensation plans under which equity securities are authorized for

issuance is contained in the definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be

held on April 22 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

Information relating to certain relationships and related transactions and director independence is

contained in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on

April 22 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is included in our definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual

Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 22 2010 and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements and Schedules

Financial Statementssee Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-i

Financial Statement Schedules

Financial statement schedules not included have been omitted because of the absence of

conditions under which they are required or because the required information where

material is shown in the financial statements or notes

Exhibits

Exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed on the Exhibit Index

immediately preceding such exhibits which is incorporated herein by reference
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of CTC Media Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CTC Media Inc and

subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated

statements of income loss comprehensive income loss stockholders equity and cash flows for each

of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 These consolidated financial statements are

the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

consolidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material

misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all

material respects the consolidated financial position of CTC Media Inc and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 in conformity with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles

As discussed in Note the consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted

for the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Statement No 160 Noncontrolling

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements an amendment of ARB No 51 as codified in

ASC 810 which became effective for the Company on January 2009

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board United States CTC Media Inc and subsidiaries internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control-lEntegrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our

report dated March 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLC

Moscow Russia

March 2010
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

December 31 December 31

2008 2009

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 98055 84441
Short-term investments

39072
Trade accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts 2008$1355 2009$988

including accounts receivable from related parties 2008$832 2009$1060 33670 24230
Taxes reclaimable

8171 7491
Prepayments including prepayments to related parties 2008$518 2009$7 29005 31277
Programming rights net 71976 79268
Deferred tax assets 14166 18840
Other current assets 7720 2588

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 262763 287207

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT net 22722 25539
INTANGIBLE ASSETS net

Broadcasting licenses
166173 158993

Cable network connections
25205 29689

Trade names
17587 17082

Network affiliation agreements 9214 6769
Other intangible assets

1244 1887

Net intangible assets
219423 214420

GOODWILL
223027 226116

PROGRAMMING RIGHTS net
48031 64343

SUBLICENSING RIGHTS net
1221 546

INVESTMENTS IN AND ADVANCES TO INVESTEES 5311 5184
PREPAYMENTS

6238 6605
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

15154 18440
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2939 2920

TOTAL ASSETS
$806829 $851320

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable including accounts payable to related parties 2008$55 2009$397 41025 51088
Accrued liabilities

41573 34968
Taxes payable 30154 27871
Short-term loans and interest accrued

62165 28278
Deferred revenue

14683 4976
Deferred tax liabilities

2778 5112

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
192378 152293

LONG-TERM LOANS
28438

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 38943 35203
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Note 15
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock $0.01 par value shares authorized 175772173 shares issued and outstanding

2008152155213 2009154227746 1522 1542
Additional paid-in capital 365362 386950
Retained earnings 232321 332710
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 54616 58428
Non-controlling interest

2481 1050

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY 547070 663824

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY $806829 $851320

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOILIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME LOSS

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

REVENUES
Advertising including revenue from related parties of $4522 $7717

and $4033 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively 452669 623336 483945

Sublicensing and own production revenue including revenue from

related parties of $10862 $898 and $3403 in 2007 2008 and 2009

respectively
17006 14016 20999

Other revenue including revenue from related parties of $18 $72 and

nil in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively 2381 2819 1169

Total operating revenues 472056 640171 506113

EXPENSES
Direct operating expenses exclusive of amortization of programming

rights and sublicensing rights and own production cost shown below

exclusive of depreciation and amortization of $24652 $10030 and

$9190 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively and inclusive of stock-

based compensation of $665 $852 and $5334 in 2007 2008 and 2009

respectively
19596 37514 37422

Selling general and administrative exclusive of depreciation and

amortization of $2709 $3349 and $2264 in 2007 2008 and 2009

respectively inclusive of stock-based compensation of $13029 $15231

and $42273 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively 68878 93414 100799

Amortization of programming rights 153531 220557 178392

Amortization of sublicensing rights and own production cost 9629 8443 6832

Depreciation and amortization exclusive of amortization of

programming rights and sublicensing rights 27361 13379 11454

Impairment loss 232683 18739

Total operating expenses 278995 605990 353638

OPERATING INCOME 193061 34181 152475

FOREIGN CURRENCY GAINS LOSSES 151 28861 4555

INTEREST INCOME including interest income from related parties of

$315 $927 and $1434 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively 11002 6221 6087

INTEREST EXPENSE including interest expense from related parties of

nil $2450 and nil in 2007 2008 arid 2009 respectively 9434 6959

GAINS ON SALE OF BUSINESSES 747

OThER NON-OPERATING INCOME net 1168 776 1060

EQUITY IN INCOME LOSSES OF INVESTEE COMPANIES 1195 1511 537

Income before income tax 204931 4394 148645

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 63176 19874 45626

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME LOSS 141755 15480 103019

LESS INCOME/LOSS AYFRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING

INTEREST 5842 37934 2630

NET INCOME ATFRIBUTABLE TO CTC MEDIA INC

STOCKHOLDERS 135913 22454 100389

Net income per share attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholdersbasic 0.90 0.15 0.66

Net income per share attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders

diluted
0.86 0.14 0.64

Weighted average common shares outstandingbasic 151731780 152146559 152223165

Weighted average common shares outstandingdiluted 158311967 158187922 157452763

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands of US dollars

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated net income loss $141755 15480 $103019

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Deferred tax benefit 14699 66142 6317
Depreciation and amortization 27361 13379 11454

Amortization of programming rights 153531 220557 178392

Amortization of sublicensing rights and own production cost 9629 8443 6832

Stock based compensation expense 13694 16083 47607

Gain on disposal of property and equipment 662
Gain on sale of businesses 747
Equity in income loss of unconsolidated investees 1195 1511 537
Foreign currency gains losses 151 28861 4555

Impairment loss 232683 18739

Changes in provision for tax contingencies 283 1318 5934
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable 124 26692 6436

Prepayments 3025 14366 751
Other assets 2330 8503 3708

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2332 455 9144

Deferred revenue 3537 4036 4357
Other liabilities 2161 20983 960

Dividends received from equity investees 2427 1421 622

Settlement of SARs 29390

Acquisition of programming and sublicensing rights 176802 245684 209321

Net cash provided by operating activities 158023 185937 132941

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of property and equipment and intangible assets 5640 10065 16217

Acquisitions of businesses net of cash acquired 34833 408967 25674
Proceeds from sale of businesses net of cash disposed 827

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 2055

Investments in deposits 39763

Net cash used in investing activities 37591 419032 81654

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 6582 1849 3398

Proceeds from loans 135000

Repayments of loans 110193 62000
Increase in restricted cash 60 30
Dividends paid to noncontrolling interest 5789 6031 3946

Net cash provided by used in financing activities 733 20595 62548

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS 9366 3482 2353

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents 130531 209018 13614
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 176542 307073 98055

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 307073 98055 84441

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid 16508 4475

Income tax paid 75296 93159 55220

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007 2008 AND 2009

in thousands of US dollars except share data

Accumulated

Outstanding Additional Other

common Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Non-controlling Stockholders

shares stock capital Earnings Income loss interest Equity

DECEMBER 31 2006 151505672 $1515 $327587 73954 17961 $3124 424141

Fair value of stock options

granted 13695 13695

Stock options exercised 618424 7470 7476

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 33791 182 33973

Disposal of non-controlling

interest 351 351
Net income 135913 5842 141755

Dividends declared on

common stock 5615 5615

DECEMBER 31 2007 152124096 $1521 $348752 $209867 51752 $3182 615074

Fair value of stock options

granted 16083 16083

Stock options exercised 31117 527 528

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 106368 188 106556

Acquisition of

non-controlling interest 43546 43546

Net income loss 22454 37934 15480
Dividends declared on

common stock 6125 6125

DECEMBER 31 2008 152155213 $1522 $365362 $232321 54616 $2481 547070

Fair value of stock options

granted 18209 18209

Stock options exercised 2072533 20 3379 3399

Foreign currency translation

adjustment 3812 17 3795
Acquisition of

non-controlling interest

Net income 100389 2630 103019

Dividends declared on

common stock 4078 4078

DECEMBER 31 2009 154227746 $1542 $386950 $332710 58428 $1050 663824

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSiVE INCOME LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007 2008 AND 2009

in thousands of US dollars

CTC Media Inc Non-controlling

Total stockholders interest

2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009

Net Income loss $141755 15480 $103019 $135913 22454 $100389 $5842 $37934 $2630

Other Comprehensive Income loss

Foreign Currency Translation

Adjustment 33973 106556 3795 33791 106368 3812 182 188 17

Total Other Comprehensive

Income loss 33973 106556 3795 33791 106368 3812 182 188 17

Comprehensive income loss $175728 $122036 99224 $169704 83914 96577 $6024 $38122 $2647

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

ORGANIZATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CTC Media Inc and

all consolidated subsidiaries the Company CTC Media Inc Delaware corporation has operated

the CTC Domashny and DTV television networks in Russia since 1996 2005 and the second quarter

of 2008 respectively The Company transmits its signals by satellite to its owned-and-operated affiliate

stations and
repeater

transmitters and to independent affiliate stations The Companys network

operations including its relationships with its independent affiliates are managed by its television

entertainment network subsidiaries the CTC Domashny and DTV television networks the

Networks The CTC Domashny and DTV Television Station Groups the Television Station

Groups manage the owned-and-operated affiliate stations and repeater transmitters for each

respective network The Company acquired an interest in Channel 31 Kazakh television broadcaster

in February 2008 and an interest in broadcasting group consisting of two companies in Moldova in

October 2008 In conjunction with these acquisitions the Company added an additional business

segmentthe Commonwealth of Independent States Group the CIS Group Moreover in April

2008 the Company acquired two production companiesCostafilm and Soho Mediaadding another

business segment Production Group

The Company generates substantially all of its revenues from the sale of television advertising on

both national and regional basis At the national level and for substantially all of the stations in the

Television Station Groups this advertising is placed through Video International an advertising sales

house Note 15 The Company also generates revenues from the sublicensing of programming rights

and licensing of internally-produced programming to third parties

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

Wholly owned subsidiaries and majority owned ventures where the Company has operating and

financial control as well as variable interest entities where the Company has been deemed the primary

beneficiary are consolidated Those ventures where the Company exercises significant influence but

does not exercise operating and financial control are accounted for under the equity method The

Company uses the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations Results of subsidiaries

acquired and accounted for under the purchase method are included in operations from the date of

acquisition Noncontrolling interests represent noncontrolling shareholders proportionate share of the

equity in certain of the Companys consolidated entities Intercompany accounts and transactions are

eliminated upon consolidation Disposals are reflected at the time risks and rewards of ownership have

been transferred

The Company is the primary beneficiary of the Channel 31 Group acquired in 2008 variable

interest entity consisting of 20% participation interest in Teleradiokompaniya 31st Kanal LLP

Channel 31 and 60% and 70% interest in Prim LLP and Advertising and Marketing LLP

respectively which provide programming content and advertising sales function to Channel 31

together the Channel 31 Group These interests provide the Company with right to 60% of the

economic interest of the Channel 31 Group see Note 15 for discussion about legal restrictions of

ownership in Kazakhstan The Company has consolidated the Channel 31 Group from its date of

acquisition At December 31 2009 the Channel 31 Group had assets excluding intercompany assets

totaling $19096 and liabilities excluding intercompany liabilities totaling $13436 These assets and
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

liabilities primarily relate to broadcasting licenses the related deferred tax liabilities and tax

contingencies assumed at acquisition of the Channel 31 Group Note The Company finances the

Channel 31 Groups operations during the ordinary course of business At December 31 2009 the

amount of intercompany payables of the Channel 31 Group totaled $6944 Channel 31 Groups net

income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders totalled $178 for 2009 This amount includes

intercompany expenses of $838

The principal subsidiaries included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and CTC
Media Inc.s ownership interests in these subsidiaries at December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 are

presented in the table below

2007 2008 2009

Networks

CTC Network 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Domashny Network 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

DTV Network 100.0% 100.0%

Television Station Groups

CTC-Moscow 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

CTC-St Petersburg 80.0% 80.0% 80.0%

Domashny-Moscow 99.9% 99.9% 99.9%

Domashny-St Petersburg 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

DTV-St Petersburg 100.0% 100.0%

CIS Group
Channel 31 Group 60.0% 60.0%

Production Group
Costafilm 100.0% 100.0%

Soho Media 100.0% 100.0%

Business Segments

The Company operates in eight business segmentsCTC Network Domashny Network DTV
Network CTC Television Station Group Domashny Television Station Group DTV Television Station

Group CIS Group and Production Group The Company evaluates performance based on the

operating results of each segment among other performance measures Note 16

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date

of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting

period Significant estimates in the financial statements include among others the estimate of fair

values in business combinations estimate of fair value for the Companys common stock in determining

stock-based compensation the amortization method and periods for programming rights and
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

sublicensing rights useful lives of tangible and intangible assets impairment of goodwill indefinite-lived

intangible assets and long-lived assets estimates of contingencies and the determination of valuation

allowances for deferred tax assets Consequently actual results may differ from those estimates

Foreign Currency Translation

In 2007 2008 and 2009 the functional currency of the Companys subsidiaries domiciled in Russia

was the Russian ruble In 2008 upon its acquisition the Company determined that the functional

currency of the Channel 31 Group was the Kazakh tenge The Companys reporting currency
is the US

dollar Translation of financial statements into US dollars has been performed in accordance with the

accounting provisions using the current rate method As such assets and liabilities were translated at

the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet dates stockholders equity was translated at the

applicable historical rates and revenue and expenses were translated at monthly average rates of

exchange Translation gains and losses were included as part of accumulated other comprehensive

income loss

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes advertising revenues in the period that the corresponding advertising

spots are aired Advertising revenue is recorded net of Value Added Taxes VAT and accrued sales

commissions payable to Video International The advertising sales commissions amounted to $61443

$95346 and $72036 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Sublicensing own production and other revenue primarily represent revenue the Company earns

from sublicensing its rights to programming and from licensing of internally-produced programming

Sublicensing and own production revenue is recognized at such time as there is persuasive evidence

that sale or arrangement with customer exists the underlying programming is complete and has

been transferred to the customer the licensing period has commenced and the customer can begin

exploitation the arrangement fee is fixed or determinable and collection of the arrangement fee is

reasonably assured

Payments received in advance for advertising and other revenue are recorded as deferred revenue

until earned

Programming Rights

Programming rights are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value In accordance with

accounting guidance the Company capitalizes expenditures for the acquisition of programming rights

Purchased programming rights and the related liabilities are recorded at their gross value when the

license period begins and the programs are available for broadcast Marketing distribution and general

and administrative costs are expensed as incurred

In conjunction with the acquisition of the production companies Costafilm and Soho Media

Note programming rights include internally-produced programming The cost of such programming

includes expenses related to the acquisition of format rights direct costs associated with production and
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

capitalized overheads The Company capitalizes production costs including costs of individuals or

departments with exclusive or significant responsibility for the production of programming that can be

allocated to such particular programming as component of film costs Internally-produced

programming is stated at the lower of amortized cost or fair value

The Company amortizes programming based on expected revenue generation patterns based on

the proportion that current estimated revenues bear to the estimated remaining total lifetime revenues

These estimates are periodically reviewed and adjustments if any will result in changes to

programming amortization rates or possibly the recognition of an impairment charge to consolidated

statement of income loss Purchased program rights are classified as current or non-current assets

based on anticipated usage Internally-produced programming is classified as non-current

Sublicensing Rights

Sublicensing rights include the unamortized cost of completed television episodes television series

in production and programming rights acquired for sublicensing rather than for exhibition on the

Companys own networks Sublicensing rights principally consist of production costs and development

and format costs and are stated at the lower of cost less accumulated amortization or fair value The

amount of capitalized sublicensing rights recognized as cost for given episode as it is exhibited in

various markets throughout its life cycle is determined using the film forecast method Under this

method the amount of capitalized costs recognized as expense is based on the proportion of the

television episodes revenues recognized for such period to the television episodes estimated remaining

ultimate revenues These estimates are revised periodically and projected losses if any are provided in

full

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historic acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation

Depreciation is provided utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets

which range from to 25 years Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred while upgrades

and improvements are capitalized

At the time of retirement or other disposition of property and equipment the cost and

accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recorded in

the consolidated statement of income loss

Amortizable Long-Lived Assets

Definite-lived intangible assets primarily represent cable network connections and network

affiliation agreements Cable network connections are amortized on straight-line basis over their

estimated term from the date of such connection until December 2015 Network affiliation agreements

are amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated term which is five years These assets are

stated at cost less accumulated amortization

Amortizable assets including property and equipment and definite-lived intangibles are reviewed

periodically to determine whether an event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

amount of the asset may not be recoverable For long-lived assets to be held and used the Company

bases its evaluation on such impairment indicators as the nature of the assets the future economic

benefit of the assets and any historical or future profitability measurements as well as other external

market conditions or factors that may be present If such impairment indicators are present or other

factors exist that indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable the Company

determines whether impairment has occurred through the use of an undiscounted cash flows analysis of

assets at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows exist If the carrying value of the asset or

group of assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows impairment is deemed to have occurred and the

Company recognizes an impairment loss for the difference between the carrying amount and the

estimated fair value of the asset The fair value of the asset is estimated using discounted cash flow

analysis or other valuation techniques

Fair Value Measurements

The Company has adopted changes issued by the FASB to the use of fair value accounting The

new standard defines fair value establishes framework for measuring fair value and expands

disclosure requirements about fair value measurements Fair value is defined as the price that would be

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price in the principal or most

advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on

the measurement date The fair value hierarchy prescribed by the standard contains three levels as

follows

Level 1Unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for the identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2Other observable inputs available at the measurement date other than quoted prices

included in Level either directly or indirectly including quoted prices for similar assets or

liabilities in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets

inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability and inputs that

are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data

Level 3Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect

the use of significant management judgment These values are generally determined using pricing

models for which the assumptions utilize managements estimates of market participant

assumptions

In 2009 the Company had measurements at fair value for financial derivative instruments its

broadcasting licenses and trade names impairment and nonfinancial assets and liabilities recognized as

result of the acquisitions See below

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents
the excess of acquisition costs over the Companys share of fair value of the

net assets of acquired businesses Indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily represent broadcasting

licenses and trade names
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

The Channel 31 broadcasting license was granted for an indefinite period of time Russian

broadcasting licenses generally require renewal
every

five
years

and renewed upon application The

Company expects each of its licenses to be renewed to continue to operate its business Broadcasting

licenses are assigned indefinite lives after consideration of the following conditions

the Company intends to renew the licenses into the foreseeable future

the Company has precedents of renewals or reasonable expectation of renewals

the Company does not expect any substantial cost to be incurred as part of future license

renewal and no costs have been incurred in the renewals to date and

the Company has not experienced any historical evidence of compelling challenge to its

holding licenses

The Company believes that the history of renewals the consistency in the regulatory environment

of the TV broadcasting industry and apparent stability in the Russian and Kazakh political environment

provide sufficient basis for indefinite-live assumptions for the licenses as it reflects the estimated

periods during which it expects to benefit from the use of such licenses As of December 31 2009 the

weighted-average period prior to the next renewal of Russian broadcasting licenses is 3.5 years During

2009 the Company renewed Russian broadcasting licenses with carrying value totalling $5667 until

2014 Also during 2009 the Company assigned $16847 of the purchase consideration made in

conjunction with the acquisition of several regional stations to broadcasting licenses Note The

weighted-average period prior to the next renewal of these new licenses is 2.6 years

Indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill are not subject to amortization but are tested for

impairment

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets Impairment Tests

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment annually in the fourth

quarter or between annual tests if events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset might be

impaired Outside the annual review there are number of factors which could trigger an impairment

review and these could include

under-performance of operating segments or changes in projected results

changes in the manner of utilization of an asset

severe and sustained declines in the traded price of the Companys common stock that are not

attributable to factors other than the underlying value of its assets

negative market conditions or economic trends and

specific events such as new legislation new entrants changes in technology or adverse legal

judgments that the Company believes could have negative impact on its business

The Company determines whether an impairment of goodwill has occurred by assigning goodwill

to the reporting units and comparing the carrying amount of the entire reporting unit to the estimated
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

fair value based on discounted cash flows of the reporting unit Step If the carrying value of the

reporting unit is less than the estimated fair value of the reporting unit the Company compares the

implied fair value of goodwill based on hypothetical purchase price allocation to the carrying value of

the goodwill Step If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill based

on Step goodwill impairment is deemed to have occurred and the Company recognizes loss for the

difference between the carrying amount and the implied fair value of goodwill Prior to testing goodwill

for impairment the Company compares fair values of indefinite-lived intangible assets with their

carrying values to determine whether the assets might be impaired The Company has determined that

its reporting units are the same as its operating segments

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impairment by comparing the fair value of the

asset to its carrying value Any excess of the carrying value over the fair value is recognized as an

impairment charge Broadcasting licenses and tradenames are evaluated at the individual asset level

Assessing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment is process that requires

significant judgment and involves detailed quantitative and qualitative business-specific analysis and

many individual assumptions which fluctuate with the passage of time

The Companys estimate of the cash flows its operations will generate in future periods forms the

basis for most of the significant assumptions inherent in the impairment reviews The Companys

expectations of these cash flows are developed during its long- and short-range business planning

processes which are designed to address the uncertainties inherent in the forecasting process by

capturing range of possible views about key trends which govern future cash flow growth

The Company has observed over many years strong positive correlation between the

macroeconomic performance of its markets and the size of the television advertising market and

ultimately the cash flows the Company generates With this in mind the Company has placed high

importance on developing its expectations for the future development of the macroeconomic

environment in general and the advertising market and the Companys share of it in particular While

this has involved an appreciation of historical trends the Company has placed higher emphasis on

forecasting these market trends which has involved detailed review of macroeconomic data and range

of both proprietary and publicly-available estimates for future market development

The Company determines the fair values calculated in impairment tests using free cash flow

models involving assumptions that are based upon what the Company believes hypothetical

marketplace participant would use in estimating fair value on the measurement date The most

significant of these assumptions are discussed below

Cost of capital The cost of capital reflects the return hypothetical market participant would

require for long-term investment in an asset and can be viewed as proxy for the risk of that

asset The Company calculates the cost of capital according to the Capital Asset Pricing Model

using number of assumptions the most significant of which is Country Risk Premium

CRP The CRP reflects the excess risk to an investor of investing in markets other than the

United States and generally fluctuates with expectations of changes in countrys

macroeconomic environment The costs of capital that the Company has applied in all reporting
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CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Continued

units since the end of 2008 have been very high compared to historic levels which the Company

believes represents fundamental re-pricing of the perceived risk of investing in Russia and CIS

Growth rate into perpetuity Growth rate into perpetuity reflects the level of economic growth in

each of the Companys markets from the last forecasted period into perpetuity and is the sum of

an estimated real growth rate which reflects the long-term expectations for inflation The

Companys estimates of these rates are based on observable market data

Total advertising market The size of the television advertising market effectively places an upper

limit on the advertising revenue the Company can expect to earn The Companys estimate of

the total advertising market is developed from number of external sources in combination

with
process of on-going consultation with operational management

Allocation of cash flows from national advertising to broadcasting licenses Regional stations

broadcast programming received by satellite from the networks including national advertising

Therefore the Companys regional broadcasting licenses generate revenues for the Company at

the networks level Russian television viewing data including ratings audience shares and

related metrics are currently gathered by TNS Gallup Media The TNS measurement system

uses internationally recognized methods and is the standard currently used by all major

television broadcasters advertisers and advertising agencies in Russia The audience rating for

any channel is measured based on the ratings in cities included in panel measured by TNS The

Companys assumptions on the share of national revenue generated by each of its broadcasting

licenses are developed from number of external sources in combination with process of

on-going consultation with operational management

Market shares This assumption is function of the audience share the Company expects to

generate from its reporting units and the relative price at which the Company can sell

advertising For broadcasting licenses the Company estimates market shares based on the

assumptions related to the market participants potentially willing to acquire the station in each

particular region The Companys estimates of the market shares are developed from number

of external sources in combination with process of on-going consultation with operational

management

Forecasted operating costs The level of cash flow generated by each operation is ultimately

governed by the extent to which the Company manages the relationship between revenues and

costs The Company forecast the level of operating costs by reference to the historical

absolute and relative levels of costs the Company has incurred in generating revenue in each

reporting unit and regional station the operating strategy of each business specific

forecasted operating costs to be incurred and expectations on what these costs would be like

for an average market participant The Companys estimates of the forecasted operating costs

are developed from number of external sources in combination with process of on-going

consultation with operational management

Forecasted capital expenditure The size and phasing of capital expenditure both recurring

expenditure to replace retired assets and investments in new projects has significant impact on

cash flows The Company forecasts the level of future capital expenditure based on current
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strategies and specific forecast costs to be incurred as well as expectations on what these costs

would be like for an average market participant The Companys estimate of forecasted capital

expenditure is developed from number of external sources in combination with process
of

on-going consultation with operational management

Impairment reviews during 2008 and 2009

As of December 31 2008 the Company recorded non-cash impairment losses totaling $232683

related to intangible assets and goodwill recorded in connection with acquisitions completed in 2008 Of

the total impairment losses $87889 related to the impairment of broadcasting licenses of DTV
Television Station Group $7743 related to impairment of the trade name of DTV Network $74699

and $58189 related to impairment of the broadcasting license and goodwill respectively of Channel 31

Group and $4163 related to the impairment of the broadcasting license of its Moldova broadcasting

group

The principal factors leading to the impairment losses recorded by the Company in 2008 were

reductions in the projected future cash flows of the recently acquired businesses as well as increases in

the discount rates applied to those cash flows These modifications were made to reflect the prevailing

economic instability in Russia and other CIS countries in which the Company operates and the

expectation
that this economic environment may continue in the near to mid-term following the

continuing global credit crisis and the related turmoil in the global financial system Although the

Company continues to project future long-term growth in cash flows such growth is lower than that

estimated at the time the businesses were acquired The reduction in estimated future cash flows from

February 2008 when the Company acquired Channel 31 Group and April 2008 when the Company

acquired DTV Group reflected the impact of the weaker economy including forecasted decline in

gross domestic product and forecasted decline in the growth of total advertising spending in ruble

terms in 2009 offset in part by increased cost controls of the Company and decreased statutory income

tax rates in Russia and Kazakhstan effective from 2009 The Company used higher discount rates

ranging from approximately 22%-26% for 2009 to 13%-17% for 2013 and terminal years as compared

to approximately 12-16% used in the original February 2008 valuation of Channel 31 Group the April

2008 valuation of DTV Network and DTV Television Station Group and the October 2008 valuation of

the Moldova Group reporting unit and its assets These increased rates reflected an expected increase

in the risks inherent in the estimated future cash flows attributable to the economic volatility which

was more pronounced during the fourth quarter of 2008

As of December 31 2009 the Company recorded non-cash impairment losses totaling $18739

related to certain broadcasting licenses in our CTC and DTV Television Station Groups The decline in

the fair value of these broadcasting licenses below book value was primarily the result of the change in

the weight given to panel cities by TNS Gallup Media Certain cities were given less weight then in the

previous panel survey reducing the value of these licenses The Company reviewed its other reporting

units and indefinite-life assets and determined impairment was not necessary in 2009

In the future events and changes in circumstances may again impact the carrying value of

Companys intangible assets and require the Company to record additional impairment losses that

could have material adverse impact on the Companys results of operations
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Prepayments

Prepayments primarily represent payments to producers of programming prior to the

commencement of the license period for programming rights At December 31 2008 and 2009

prepayments for programming rights were $27525 and $33800 respectively

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company classifies cash on hand and deposits in banks and any other investments with an

original maturity of three months or less as cash and cash equivalents Deposits in banks with an

original maturity of more than three months are classified as short-term investments

Of the $84441 cash balance the Company had as of December 31 2009 it held cash with US

dollar-equivalent value of $83814 in Russian banks including subsidiaries of foreign banks In addition

the Company has deposits with maturity of more than three months in the amount of $39072 in

Russian banks This amount of deposits includes ruble-denominated deposits of $24084 bearing interest

ranging from 4.9% to 11.25% and US dollar-denominated deposits of $14988 bearing interest ranging

from 1.5% to 6.0% Management periodically reviews the credit worthiness of the banks in which it

holds its cash

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are shown at their net realizable value which approximates their fair value

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts receivable based on specific

identification and management estimates of recoverability including discussions with Video

International as appropriate In cases where the Company is aware of circumstances which may impair

receivable the Company records specific allowance against amounts due and thereby reduces the

net recognized receivable to the amount the Company believes will be collected If all collection efforts

have been exhausted the receivable is written off against the allowance The Companys credit policy

does not require collateral from customers
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The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the year

ended December 31 2009

Deductions Foreign

Balance at Additions subsequent currency Balance at

December 31 charged to payments or translation December 31

2008 expenses write-offs adjustments 2009

Allowance for doubtful accounts $1355 $418 $778 $9 $988

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes income tax positions if it is more likely than not that they will be

sustained on tax audit including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes if any and

measures them as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate

settlement The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes Deferred income

taxes result from temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and the bases as

reported in the consolidated financial statements as well as the tax benefits of net operating loss

carryforwards which are expected to be realized valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is

established when it is more likely than not that all or portion of deferred tax assets will not be

realized Note 12

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31

2007 2008 and 2009 were $13915 $16459 and $11140 respectively

Pensions

The Company contributes to local state pension and social funds on behalf of all its employees in

Russia In Russia all social contributions including contributions to the pension fund were substituted

with unified social tax UST calculated by the application of regressive rate from 26% to 2% of

the annual
gross

remuneration of each employee Starting from 2010 UST has been replaced with

contributions to social medical and pension funds at flat rate of 26% of the annual gross renumeration

of each employee not to exceed certain pre-determined amount of compensation Starting in 2011 the

rate will increase to 34% for most of the taxpayers In Kazakhstan employers are required to withhold

10% of the
gross

salaries of local employees for remittance to local state pension funds In addition

employers are required to pay social tax for their employees calculated by the application of flat rate

of 11% of the annual
gross

remuneration of each employee and obligatory social insurance

contributions of 4% of the gross salaries of local employees Starting in 2011 obligatory social

insurance contributions will increase to 5% These contributions are expensed as incurred

Financial instruments and hedging activities

The Company measures derivatives at fair value and recognizes them as either assets or liabilities

on the balance sheet The Company designates derivatives as either fair value hedges or cash flow

hedges when the required criteria are met Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated

and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the consolidated statement of income loss together
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with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributed to the hedged risk

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash

flow hedges are recognized in equity The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized

immediately in the consolidated statement of income loss For derivatives that do not meet the

conditions for hedge accounting gains and losses from changes in the fair value are included in the

consolidated statement of income loss The Company does not use derivatives for trading purposes

At December 31 2009 and 2008 the Company did not have any fair value or cash flow hedges

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents short-term investments accounts receivable

accounts payable accrued liabilities and debt approximate their fair value

In order to reduce its foreign exchange risk related to portion of its payments due under the

Credit Facility Agreement the Company entered into foreign exchange forward contract In addition

from time to time the Company enters into foreign exchange hedging arrangements in relation to

portion of its programming commitments denominated in US dollars These contracts are marked to

market at the balance sheet date and the resultant unrealized gains and losses are recorded in the

consolidated statement of income loss together with realized gains and losses arising on settlement of

these contracts

Comprehensive Income Loss

During the years ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 comprehensive income loss

comprises net income loss and foreign currency translation adjustment

Stock-Based Compensation

The cost of the equity instruments is measured based on the fair value of the instruments on the

date they are granted with certain exceptions and is required to be recognized over the period during

which the employees are required to provide services in exchange for the equity instruments

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options at the date of grant using Black-Scholes

option pricing model The Black-Scholes pricing model was originally developed for use in estimating

the fair value of traded options which have different characteristics than the Companys employee

stock options The model is also sensitive to changes in the subjective assumptions which can

materially affect the fair value estimate Note 13 Once the Company has estimated the fair value of

the equity instruments it recognizes this estimated cost as stock-based compensation expense over the

service period

Comparative Figures

Reclassifications have been made to the prior period consolidated financial statements to conform

to the current period presentation These changes reclassify certain expenses in direct operating and

selling general and administrative expenses but do not impact total operating expenses
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New and Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standard Board FASB issued Accounting Standards

Codification ASC 105 Generally Accepted Accounting Principles formerly Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards SFAS No 168 The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the

Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ASC 105 established the codification as the

source of authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities The

new codification is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods ending

after September 15 2009

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures The Companys nonfinancial assets and liabilities

measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis include goodwill and intangible assets acquired in

connection with business combinations The Company adopted the fair value measurement guidance as

it relates to these assets and liabilities on January 2009 The adoption of this guidance did not have

significant impact on the Companys financial statements

In April 2009 the FASB issued additional guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions The new guidance

requires an evaluation of whether there has been significant decrease in the volume and level of

activity for the asset or liability in relation to normal market activity for the asset or liability If there

has been significant decrease in activity transactions or quoted prices may not be indicative of fair

value and significant adjustment may need to be made to those prices to estimate fair value

Additionally an entity must consider whether the observed transaction was orderly that is not

distressed or forced If the transaction was orderly the obtained price can be considered relevant

observable input for determining fair value If the transaction is not orderly other valuation techniques

must be used when estimating fair value This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods

ending after June 15 2009 with early adoption permitted for periods ending after March 15 2009 The

application of this guidance did not have significant impact on the Companys financial statements

In August 2009 the FASB issued additional guidance on the fair value measurement of liabilities

The new guidance provides clarification on the measurement and reporting of liability in

circumstances in which quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available

This guidance is effective for the first reporting period beginning after August 2009

In January 2010 the FASB issued additional guidance that requires new disclosures related to

transfers into and out of Levels and of the fair value hierarchy discussed above and separate

disclosures related to purchases sales issuances and settlements in the roll forward for Level inputs

The update also clarifies existing guidance for fair value measurements for each class of assets and

liabilities as well as for disclosures about inputs and valuation techniques This guidance is effective for

interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2009 except for the disclosures

related to purchases sales issuances and settlements in the roll forward for Level inputs which are

effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15 2010 The adoption of

this update will not have significant impact on the Companys financial statements
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Business Combinations In December 2007 FASB issued new guidance on business combinations

This guidance establishes principles and requirements for how the Company recognizes and

measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities assumed and any

noncontrolling interest in the acquiree recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the

business combination or gain from bargain purchase and determines what information to

disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the

business combination The business combinations guidance also requires acquisition-related transaction

and restructuring costs to be expensed rather than treated as part of the cost of the acquisition This

guidance applies prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the

beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15 2008 The Company

adopted the business combination guidance on January 2009 After the adoption the reversal of tax

contingencies outside the measurement period related to acquisitions are recorded in the statement of

income loss and not as an adjustment to goodwill In 2009 the amount of such reversals recognized

in the statement of income loss comprised $7520

In April 2009 the FASB issued guidance relating to accounting for assets acquired and liabilities

assumed in business combination that arise from contingencies This pronouncement amends the

guidance on business combinations to clarify the initial and subsequent recognition subsequent

accounting and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in business combination

This pronouncement requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination that

arise from contingencies be recognized at fair value as determined in accordance with the fair value

measurements guidance if the acquisition-date fair value can be reasonably estimated If the

acquisition-date fair value of an asset or liability cannot be reasonably estimated the asset or liability

would be measured at the amount that would be recognized in accordance with the accounting

guidance for contingencies This pronouncement became effective for the Company as of January

2009 and the provisions of the pronouncement are applied prospectively to business combinations with

an acquisition date on or after the date the guidance became effective The adoption of this

pronouncement did not have significant impact on the Companys financial statements

Noncontrolling Interests In December 2007 the FASB issued guidance on noncontrolling interests

which establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

formerly known as minority interest and for the deconsolidation of subsidiary This guidance

became effective for the Company on January 2009 From the date of adoption the Company is

required to report its noncontrolling interests as separate component of shareholders equity Among
other requirements this guidance requires consolidated net income to include the amounts attributable

to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest It also requires disclosure on the face of the

consolidated statement of income loss of the amounts of consolidated net income loss attributable

to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest It requires retroactive adoption of the presentation

and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests Accordingly the retroactive adoption

reclassified the presentation of the Companys existing minority interests and adjusted its prior period

consolidated financial statements including the captions consolidated net income and total

stockholders equity All other requirements of the guidance are to be applied prospectively The

Company has adopted the guidance starting from January 2009
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Derivatives and Hedging In March 2008 the FASB issued new disclosure requirements for

derivative instruments and hedging activities The new disclosure requirements will provide users of

financial statements with an enhanced understanding of how and why an entity uses derivative

instruments how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for and how

derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial position financial

performance and cash flows This guidance requires qualitative disclosures about objectives and

strategies for using derivatives quantitative disclosures about fair value amounts of and gains and losses

on derivative instruments and disclosures about credit-risk-related contingent features in derivative

instruments This statement applies to all entities and all derivative instruments This guidance is

effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after

November 15 2008 The adoption of the guidance did not have significant impact on the Companys

financial statements

Intangible Assets In April 2008 the FASB issued guidance on determining the useful life of

intangible assets The intent of the guidance is to improve the consistency between the useful life of

recognized intangible asset and the period of expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the

asset This guidance requires an entity to disclose information for recognized intangible asset that

enables users of the financial statements to assess the extent to which the expected future cash flows

associated with the asset are affected by the entitys intent and/or ability to renew or extend the

arrangement This guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years beginning after

December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years The adoption of this guidance did not

have significant impact on the Companys financial statements

Collaborative Arrangements In December 2008 the FASB issued guidance that requires

participants in collaborative arrangement sometimes referred to as virtual joint venture to

present the results of activities for which they act as the principal on gross basis and to report any

payments received from made to other collaborators based on other applicable GAAP or in the

absence of other applicable GAAP based on analogy to authoritative literature or reasonable

rational and consistently applied accounting policy election The guidance also requires significant

disclosures related to collaborative arrangements It is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal

years beginning after December 15 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years The guidance

should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented for all collaborative arrangements

existing as of the effective date The adoption of this guidance did not have significant impact on the

Companys financial statements

Subsequent Events In May 2009 the FASB issued guidance on subsequent events which

establishes general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance

sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued This guidance is

based on the same principles as currently exist in auditing standards and was issuedL by the FASB to

include accounting guidance that originated as auditing standards into the body of authoritative

literature issued by the FASB The standard addresses the period after the balance sheet date during

which management of reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for

potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements the circumstances under which an entity

should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements

and the disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the
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balance sheet date The guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim

periods ending after June 15 2009 The adoption of this guidance did not have significant impact on

the Companys financial statements

Consolidation of variable interest entities In June 2009 the FASB issued guidance that amends the

consolidation guidance that applies to variable interest entities VIEs The amendments significantly

affects the overall consolidation analysis under the existing guidance Accordingly an enterprise needs

to reconsider its previous conclusions including whether an entity is VIE whether the

enterprise is the VIEs primary beneficiary and what type of financial statement disclosures are

required The guidance is effective for the Company as of January 2010 Early adoption is

prohibited The adoption of this guidance will not have significant impact on the Companys financial

statements

NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic net income per share for the
years

ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 is computed on

the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding Diluted net income per

common share is computed using the if converted method with the weighted average number of

common shares outstanding plus the effect of the outstanding stock options calculated using the

treasury stock method The number of stock options excluded from the diluted net income per

common share computation because their effect was antidilutive for the years ended December 31

2007 2008 and 2009 was 1104375 2757924 and 10068631 respectively

The components of basic and diluted net income per share were as follows

Year ended December 31

2007 2008 2009

Net income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders 135913 22454 100389

Weighted average common shares outstandingbasic

Common stock 151731780 152146559 152223165
Dilutive effect of

Common stock options and SARs 6580187 6041363 5229598

Weighted average common shares outstandingdiluted 158311967 158187922 157452763

Net income per share attributable to CTC Media Inc

stockholders

Basic 0.90 0.15 0.66

Diluted 0.86 0.14 0.64

The numerator used to calculate diluted net income per common share for 2007 2008 and 2009

was net income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders
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Acquisitions in 2007

In February 2007 the Company acquired 100% interest in 000 Programma Service Montazh

TV station in Rostov-on-Don for total purchase price of $2713 consisting of $2608 in cash

consideration and $105 in short-term debt assumed This acquisition was accounted for under the

purchase method The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the purchase price based

on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company assigned $3597

to broadcasting licenses

In February 2007 the Company acquired the remaining 49% interest in ZAO Radio-Volga-IY

TV station in Samara for total cash consideration of $4603 bringing its ownership in this station to

100% This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method The Companys financial

statements reflect an allocation of the purchase price based on fair value assessment of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed The Company assigned $5192 to broadcasting licenses

In May 2007 the Company acquired 100% interest in 000 Kontinent-50 TV station in

Vladivostok for total cash consideration of $2509 This acquisition was accounted for under the

purchase method The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the purchase price based

on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company assigned $3430

to broadcasting licenses

In July 2007 the Company acquired 100% interest in 000 Grand which in turn owns 50% of

ZAO Channel station in Kazan thus increasing the Companys investment in this station from 50%

to 100% Total cash consideration was $10000 These acquisitions were accounted for under the

purchase method The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the purchase price based

on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company assigned

$12225 to broadcasting licenses

In July 2007 the Company also acquired 49% interest in each of the four stations in Irkutsk and

the Irkutsk region 000 CTC Irkutsk 000 Irkutsk TV 000 Region TV and 000 Media Region

for total purchase price of $12241 $9901 of which was paid in cash as of December 31 2007 The

remaining $2340 of the purchase price was payable in cash upon receipt of certain regional

broadcasting licenses In February 2009 the Company signed an amendment to the share purchase

agreement to reduce the number of regional broadcasting licenses it was to acquire and accordingly

reduce the contingent consideration to $1102 This payment was made in February 2009 In September

2007 the Company acquired another 2% of each of the companies noted above for total cash

consideration of $499 bringing its ownership in 000 CTC Irkutsk 000 Irkutsk 000 Region

TV and 000 Media Region up to 51% This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase

method The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the purchase price based on fair

value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company assigned $13292 to

broadcasting licenses In 2009 the Company recorded noncash impairment loss of $8026 before tax

effect related to impairment of these broadcasting licenses See Note

In August 2007 the Company acquired 100% of 000 Stavropolskaya Veshatelnaya Corporatsiya

TV station in Stavropol for total cash consideration of $3800 This acquisition was accounted for

under the purchase method The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the purchase

price based on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company
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assigned $4877 to broadcasting licenses In 2009 the Company recorded noncash impairment loss of

$948 before tax effect related to impairment of this broadcasting license See Note

In December 2007 the Company acquired 100% of 000 Region-25 TV station in Ussuriysk

for total cash consideration of $2000 This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method

The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the purchase price based on fair value

assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The Company assigned $2632 to broadcasting

licenses In 2009 based on the impairment test performed by the Company the value of this

broadcasting license was written down to zero See Note

Disposals in 2007

In June 2007 the Company sold its 84% interest in radio station in Omsk ZAO Zodiak Radio

for total consideration of $751 and recognized gain of $747

Acquisitions in 2008

Channel 31 Group

On February 29 2008 the Company acquired an interest in Kazakh television broadcast

company Teleradiokompaniya 31st Kanal LLP Channel 31 and established two subsidiaries

Prim LLP and Advertising and Marketing LLP which provide programming content and advertising

sales function to Channel 31 together the Channel 31 Group on an exclusive basis These interests

provide the Company with right to 60% of the economic interest of the Channel 31 Group

The Company acquired 20% interest in Channel 31 and holds 60% interest in Prim LLP and

70% interest in Advertising and Marketing LLP The Company has the right pursuant to the charters

and foundation agreements of each entity in the Channel 31 Group to appoint the senior management

of each entity within the Channel 31 Group In the event that Kazakh law is amended to permit

non-Kazakh parties to hold more than 20% ownership interest in Kazakh television broadcaster the

Company has an option to acquire additional participation
interests in Channel 31 at no additional

cost so that the Companys total participation interest in Channel 31 is the lesser of 50% or the

ownership interest permitted by Kazakh law Upon exercise of such option the relative ownership

interests in each other entity in the Channel 31 Group would be adjusted to reflect such exercise and

the Company would continue to have 60% economic interest in the Channel 31 Group as whole

The total purchase consideration for the Channel 31 Group was $65319 in cash including $526 in

direct transaction costs As of December 31 2008 the Company had paid in full the total amount of

the purchase consideration The Company has consolidated the financial results of Channel 31 Group

from the date of acquisition based on the fact that the Company us deemed primary beneficiary of

this variable interest entity

The Company performed valuation of the Channel 31 Group to allocate the purchase price to

the acquired assets and liabilities using the best information available as at the date of the valuation
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The following table summarizes the final fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

date of acquisition

ASSETS

Current assets 1529

Property and equipment 2384

Programming rights 252

Intangible assets net

Broadcasting licenses 89427
Other intangible assets 538

Goodwill 59775

Total assets $153905

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities $17769
Non-current liabilities 187

Deferred tax liabilities 27084

Minority interest 43546

Net assets 65319

Total purchase consideration and acquisition costs 65319

The goodwill arising from the purchase price allocation was believed to be consistent with the

synergies expected to be realized from the acquisition and the value of the assembled business The

goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes

Broadcasting licenses have indefinite useful lives and as such are not being amortized

As of December 31 2008 the Company recorded noncash impairment losses of $74699 before

tax effect related to the impairment of the broadcasting license and $58189 related to the impairment

of goodwill of Channel 31 Group Impairment of goodwill had no tax effect See Note

DTV Group

On April 16 2008 the Company acquired 100% interest in the DTV Group from an affiliate of

Modern Times Group MTG AB MTG The DTV Group operates national free-to-air television

network and group of four owned-and-operated stations in Russia MTG through its subsidiary MTG
Russia AB is the beneficial holder of approximately 39.5% of the Companys outstanding shares

As consideration for the acquisition the Company paid MTG $190000 in cash issued

promissory note to MTG in the amount of $138053 and agreed to ensure the repayment of

indebtedness owing from the DTV Group to MTG On the date of acquisition such indebtedness

amounted to $65668 Note 11 Direct transaction costs incurred in conjunction with this acquisition

were $3573 In connection with the purchase of the DTV Group the Company granted MTG right

of first offer for ten-year term in the event that the Company seeks to license to any third-party any

rights it or its affiliates hold to broadcast television programming in Estonia Latvia or Lithuania
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The Company performed valuation of the DTV Group to allocate the purchase price to the

acquired assets and liabilities using the best information available as at the date of the valuation The

following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition

ASSETS

Current assets 9586

Property and equipment 1322

Programming rights 4097

Intangible assets net

Broadcasting licenses 202050

Network affiliation agreements 13544

Cable network connections 25874

Trademark 24520

Other intangible assets 154

Goodwill 176226

Other non-current assets 15829

Total assets $473202

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 22312

Non-current liabilities 65668

Deferred tax liabilities 53596

Net assets $331626

Total purchase consideration and acquisition costs $331626

The goodwill arising from the purchase price allocation is believed to be consistent with the

synergies expected to be realized from the acquisition and the value of the assembled business The

goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes

Broadcasting licenses and trademarks have indefinite useful lives and as such are not being

amortized Network affiliation agreements are being amortized over an estimated life of years Cable

network connections are being amortized through 2015

As of December 31 2008 the Company recorded noncash impairment losses of $87889 before

tax effect related to the impairment of broadcasting licenses of DTV Television Station Group and

$7743 before tax effect related to impairment of the trade name of DTV Network See Note

Production companies

In April 2008 the Company acquired two Russian production companies Costafilm and Soho

Media The Company historically purchased programming rights from these companies Under the

terms of the Costafilm share purchase agreement the Company paid an aggregate of approximately

$1000 in cash in connection with closing Annual cash earn-out payments which are denominated in

Russian rubles of up to $10617 for each year or $31851 in aggregate
for the three years at the US

dollar/ruble exchange rate as of December 31 2009 are payable subject to achievement of certain
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performance criteria for 2008 2009 and 2010 Costaflim achieved all the performance criteria for 2008

and 2009 accordingly the Company paid the 2008 earn-out during 2009 and has accrued liability in

respect of the 2009 earn-out payment in amount of $10617 as of December 31 2009 The Company
has allocated $1261 and $912 respectively of the 2008 and 2009 earn-outs to compensation expense

for the respective years for the previous owners of Costafilm who continue to be employed by the

Company The remaining amounts of the 2008 and 2009 earn-outs were assigned to goodwill attributed

to the assembled workiorce The goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes

Under the terms of the Soho Media share purchase agreement the Company paid $4000 in cash

in connection with closing The Company is also required to make additional annual cash earn-out

payments to the owners denominated in US dollars of up to $2000 for each year or $6000 in

aggregate for all three years subject to achievement of certain performance criteria for 2008 2009 and

2010 Soho Media achieved all the performance criteria for 2008 and 2009 accordingly the Company

paid the 2008 earn-out during 2009 and has accrued liability in respect of the 2009 earn-out payment

in amount of $2000 as of December 31 2009 The Company has allocated $500 and $633 respectively

of the 2008 and 2009 earn-outs to compensation expense for the respective years for the previous

owners of Soho Media who continue to be employed by the Company The remaining amounts of the

2008 and 2009 earn-outs were assigned to goodwill attributed to the assembled workforce The

goodwill is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes

Other acquisitions

In April 2008 the Company acquired 100% interest in 000 CTC-Saratov television station in

Saratov for total cash consideration of $12766 The Companys financial statements reflect an

allocation of the purchase price based on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed The Company assigned $16796 to broadcasting licenses The remainder of the purchase price

was assigned to other assets acquired and liabilities assumed In 2009 the Company recorded

noncash impairment loss of $5146 before tax effect related to impairment of this broadcasting

license See Note

In June 2008 the Company acquired 100% interest in 000 Kanskoe TV television station in

Kansk for total cash consideration of $1007 The Companys financial statements reflect an

allocation of the purchase price based on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed The Company assigned $1321 to broadcasting licenses The remainder of the purchase price

was assigned to other assets acquired and liabilities assumed In 2009 based on the impairment test

performed by the Company the value of this broadcasting license was written down to zero See

Note

In October 2008 the Company acquired 51% interest in
broadcasting group consisting of

Teledixi SRL and Muzic Ramil SRL in Moldova for total consideration of $4309 in cash including

$430 in direct transaction costs The Companys financial statements reflect an allocation of the

purchase price based on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed The

Company assigned $4309 to broadcasting licenses and other assets and liabilities assumed In 2008
based on the impairment test performed by the Company the value of this broadcasting license was

written down to zero See Note
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Acquisitions in 2009

In November 2009 the Company acquired 100% interest in 000 Shestoy Kanal television

station in Ulyanovsk for total cash consideration of $1314 The Companys financial statements

reflect preliminary allocation of the purchase price based on fair value assessment of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed using the best information available as of the date of these financial

statements The Company assigned $1643 to broadcasting licenses The remainder of the purchase

price was assigned to other assets acquired and liabilities assumed

In December 2009 the Company acquired 100% interest in Volzhskaya broadcasting group

consisting of five television stations in the Russian cities of Ulyanovsk Cheboksary Ivanovo and Kirov

for total cash consideration of $12164 The Companys financial statements reflect preliminary

allocation of the purchase price
based on fair value assessment of the assets acquired and liabilities

assumed using the best information available as of the date of these financial statements The

Company assigned $15205 to broadcasting licenses The remainder of the purchase price was assigned

to other assets acquired and liabilities assumed

The valuation of broadcasting licenses for acquisitions made in 2009 is subject to possible

adjustments during the measurement period upon availability of additional information about

assumptions that the market participants would use in determination of exit prices for these assets See

Note for discussion on fair value measurements

PROGRAMMING RIGHTS NET

Programming rights as of December 31 2008 and 2009 comprise the following

December 31

2008 2009

Internally producedTV broadcasting and theatrical

Released

Historical cost 25994 52760

Accumulated amortization 23973 44028

Released net book value 2021 8732

Completed and not released 8564 11484

In production 7281 5638

Total 17866 25854

Acquired rights

Historical cost 325361 369062

Accumulated amortization 223220 251305

Net book value 102141 117757

Total programming rights 120007 143611

Current portion 71976 79268

Non-current portion 48031 64343
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The Company expects to amortize approximately $12258 of internally produced TV programming

for its completed and released films and completed but not yet released films during the twelve months

ending December 31 2010 In addition the Company expects to amortize approximately 100% of its

unamortized internally produced programming rights within the three years following December 31
2009

During 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company recognized impairment charges on programming rights

of $5707 $16618 and $14854 respectively The impairment charges are included in amortization of

programming rights in the accompanying consolidated statements of income loss

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT NET

Property and equipment as of December 31 2008 and 2009 comprise the following

Useful life

December 31

years 2008 2009

Cost

Broadcasting equipment 28187 33818

Buildings 10-25 10297 10053

Office equipment 7593 7640
Vehicles 1337 1040

Total cost 47414 52551

Accumulated depreciation 24692 27012
Net book value 22722 25539

Depreciation expense was $5470 $7104 and $4861 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

INTANGIBLE ASSETS NET

Intangible assets as of December 31 2008 and 2009 comprise the following

December 31

2008 2009

Accumulated Accumulated

Cost amortization Cost amortization

Broadcasting licenses $166173 $158993

Trade names 17587 17082
Cable network connections 28831 3626 37116 7427
Network affiliation agreements 21147 11933 20826 14057
Other intangible assets 2498 1254 3917 2030
Total $236236 $16813 $237934 $23514

Amortization expense was $21891 $6275 and $6593 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively
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Estimated amortization expenses for the next five years related to amortizable intangible assets are

as follows

For the year ended December 31 2010 7831

For the year ended December 31 2011 7607

For the year ended December 31 2012 7530

For the year ended December 31 2013 5209

For the year ended December 31 2014 5146

Thereafter 5022

$38345

As of December 31 2008 the Company recorded impairment losses totaling $174494 related to

intangible assets recorded in connection with acquisitions completed in 2008 As of December 31 2009

the Company recorded impairment losses totaling $18739 related to some of its broadcasting licenses

See Note

GOODWILL

Goodwill as of December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 comprises the following

Foreign

Balance currency Balance

December 31 Goodwill Impairment translation December 31
2007 acquired loss adjustment 2008

CTC Network $42844 7050 35794

Domashny Network 21110 3473 17637

DTV Network 177583 35546 142037

CTC Television Station Group 2594 427 2167

Domashny Television Station Group 12126 1983 10143

CIS Group 58262 58189 49 122

Production Group 15192 65 15127

Total $78674 $251037 $58189 48495 $223027
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Foreign

Balance currency Balance
December 31 Goodwill Revision of translation December 31

2008 acquired purchase price adjustment 2009

CTC Network 35794 $i022 34772

Domashny Network 17637 504 17133

DTV Network 142037 327 5925 136439

CTC Television Station Group 2167 62 2105

Domashny Television Station Group 10143 290 9853
CIS Group 122 23 99

Production Group 15127 11020 432 25715

Total $223027 $11020 $327 $8258 $226116

In 2008 the Company has recorded noncash impairment loss of $58189 related to the impairment

of goodwill of Channel 31 Group See Note

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY INVESTEES

As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the Companys principal equity investees comprise the

following

Ownership Ownership
interest 2008 interest 2009

Television Stations

CTC-Novosibirsk 50% $5309 50% $5182

Other television stations 21-50% 21-50%

Total investments and advances to investees $5311 $5184

10 ACCRUED LIABILITIES

As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the Companys accrued liabilities comprise the following

December 31

2008 2009

Accrued liabilities consist of

Bonuses and accrued vacation 3834 6064

Auditing and consulting services 2504 736

Tax contingencies and accruals for unrecognized income tax

benefits 21723 13126
Accruals for acquisitions 12929 12617

Other accrued liabilities 583 2425

Total accrued liabilities $41573 $34968
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11 BORROWINGS

Short-term and long-term debt and interest accrued as of December 31 2008 and 2009 comprise

the following

Annual interest rate

actual as of
ecember

Currency December 31 2009 2008 2009

Syndicated Loan

principal amount USD LIBOR3% 3.25% 90250 28250

interest accrued USD 122 28

Other loans 231

Total 90603 28278

Less current portion 62165 28278

Non-current portion 28438

In June 2008 the Company entered into credit facility agreement the Credit Facility

Agreement with ABN AMRO Bank N.Y BNP Paribas ING Bank N.V Raiffeisen Zentralbank

Osterreich Aktiengesellschaft and ZAO Raiffeisenbank as lead arrangers and certain financial

institutions as lenders the Lenders to borrow $135 million the Loan Amount In July 2008 the

Company drew-down the full Loan Amount and applied all of the proceeds of such draw-down to

repay in full the promissory note issued to an affiliate of MTG in connection with the Companys

acquisition of the DTV Group in 2008 and to satisfy the DTV Groups indebtedness due to MTG

Borrowings made under the Credit Facility Agreement bear interest at an annual rate equal to

LIBOR plus 3.00% plus if applicable additional amounts to compensate the lenders for regulatory

compliance costs Principal amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement are repayable in

installments with 25% of the Syndicated Loan Amount paid on each of December 22 2008 June 22

2009 and December 22 2009 and the remaining outstanding principal amount as adjusted for any

prepayments being payable on June 22 2010 unless the maturity date of the Loan Amount is

extended by mutual agreement of the parties to the Credit Facility Agreement All or part of the

principal amount outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement may be prepaid at any time without

premium or penalty other than customary breakage costs if any subject to the terms and conditions

contained in the Credit Facility Agreement No breakage fee is payable if prepayment is made on the

last day of an interest period As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the amount outstanding under the

Credit Facility and interest accrued thereon was $90.4 million and $28.3 million respectively

Under the terms of the Credit Facility Agreement the Company must comply with certain

covenants including financial covenants requiring us to comply with maximum net debt to operating

income before depreciation and amortization or OIBDA ratio minimum OIBDA to interest expense

ratio minimum stockholder equity test and maximum net debt to stockholders equity ratio as well

as restrictions on certain dividend payments liens investments indebtedness fundamental changes

acquisitions dispositions of property and transactions with affiliates

As of December 31 2009 the Company had repaid $106750 $11000 of which was prepayment

of the outstanding principal amount of the Credit Facility Agreement
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12 INCOME TAXES

The components of the Companys income loss before income taxes were as follows

2007 2008 2009

Pretax income loss
Domestic 23793 $32665 41376
Foreign 228724 37059 190021

$204931 4394 $148645

The following is the Companys significant components of the provision for income taxes

2007 2008 2009

Domesticcurrent 722 126 458
Foreigncurrent 77153 85890 51485
Domesticdeferred 2497 168 1994
Foreigndeferred 17196 66310 8311

$63176 $19874 $45626

The Company is subject to US domestic Russian and Kazakh income taxes based on the US

legislation the Russian tax legislation the Kazakh legislation and the Double Tax Treaty of 1992

between the US and Russia Treaty US taxable income or losses recorded are reported on CTC
Media Inc.s US income tax return CTC Media Inc.s taxable revenues consist predominantly of

dividends and interest paid by the owned-and-operated affiliate stations Dividends distributed to CTC

Media Inc are subject to Russian withholding tax of 5% under the Treaty Dividends distributed

within Russia are subject to withholding tax of 9% in 2007 2008 and 2009

The Russian- and Kazakh-based companies are subject to Russian and Kazakh income tax The

statutory income tax rate in Russia was 24% in 2007 and 2008 The statutory income tax rates in

Kazalthstan was 30% in 2008 In November 2008 the tax legislation of Russia was amended to decrease

Russian statutory income tax rate from 24% to 20% starting from January 2009 In addition in

December 2008 the tax legislation of Kazakhstan was amended to decrease the
statutory income tax

rate from 30% in 2008 to 20% in 2009 17.5% in 2010 and 15% in 2011 and thereafter The changes in

income tax rates are effective from January of each of the respective years The effect of these

changes on the Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities resulted in recognition of income tax

benefit in the amount of $19314 in 2008
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The reconciliation of the US statutory federal tax rate of 35% to the Companys effective tax rate

is as follows

2007 2008 2009

Income tax expense at US statutory rates 35% $71726 1538 $52026
Non-deductible expenses 8776 6381 18430
Non-off-settable losses 4827 8867 7017
Foreign withholding tax 3690 2908 4091
Reversals of tax contingencies 146 1844 3954

Valuation allowance released to income 2901

Different foreign tax rates 25719 789 32158

Effect of change in tax rates 19314

Effect of impairment loss non-deductible assets 21823
Equity in income of investee companies 418 529 188

Other permanent differences 2504 833 362

Income tax expense $63176 $19874 $45626

Non-deductible expenses include non-deductible stock-based compensation in the amounts of

$13694 $16083 and $47607 with tax effects thereon of $4973 $5629 and $16662 respectively in

2007 2008 and 2009 The reversals of tax contingencies recognized to 2009 income include reversals

relating to DTV income and non-income tax contingencies recorded based on the results of audit by

tax authorities and reversals relating to Channel 31 Group income and non-income tax contingencies

recorded due to lapse in statute of limitations The major part of these tax contingencies relate to

pre-acquisition periods of the DTV Group and Channel 31 Group

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for the difference between the financial statement

and tax bases of assets and liabilities The following table summarizes the major components of the

Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 2008 and 2009

2008 2009

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net operating losses and tax loss carry forwards 359 582

Foreign tax credits 6558 7051

Programming rights 29353 37280

Valuation allowance 6950 7633

Total deferred tax assets 29320 37280

Intangible assets 37727 34021
Property and equipment 1213 1395
Other deferred tax liabilities 2781 4899

Total deferred tax liabilities $41721 $40315
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The following table presents the Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31

2008 and 2009 attributable to different tax paying components in different tax jurisdictions

2008 2009

Deferred tax assets

Domestic tax component 6642 7202

Foreign tax component 29628 37711

Valuation allowance 6950 7633

Total deferred tax assets 29320 37280

Deferred tax liabilities

Domestic tax component 411 557
Foreign tax component 41310 39758

Total deferred tax liabilities $41721 $40315

The following table summarizes the changes in the valuation allowance for the year ended

December 31 2009

Foreign

Balance at currency Balance at

December 31 translation December 31
2008 Additions adjustment 2009

Valuation allowance $6950 693 10 $7633

As of December 31 2008 and 2009 CTC Media Inc had net operating loss carryforwards

NOLs for US income tax purposes of $73 and $73 respectively resulting in potential deferred tax

benefits of $26 and $26 respectively Due to the uncertainty on the future utilization of this asset

valuation allowance has been established The NOLs expire in 2028 As of December 31 2008 and

2009 certain of the Companys consolidated Russian subsidiaries had tax loss carryforwards of $1667

and $2782 respectively resulting in potential deferred tax benefit of $333 and $556 respectively The

Company has established full valuation allowance on the Russian tax carryforwards due to the

uncertainty of the future utilization The NOLs expire in 2019

Effective January 2007 the Company elected to claim foreign tax credits FTCs FTCs allow

the Company to decrease US income tax by the amount of appropriate foreign income and withholding

taxes As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the FTC potential deferred tax benefit amounted to $6558

and $7051 respectively Due to the uncertainty on the future utilization of this asset valuation

allowance has been established The FTCs expire in 2018 and 2019 respectively

As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the Company had recorded valuation allowance due to the

uncertainty of the realization of US NOLs of $26 and $26 respectively FTCs of $6558 and $7051

respectively Russian tax loss carryforwards of $333 and $556 respectively and other deferred tax assets

of $33 and nil respectively

The Company recognizes income tax benefits when it is more likely then not that these tax

benefits will be sustained upon the examination of tax authorities As of December 31 2008 the
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Company included accruals for unrecognized income tax benefits and related interest and penalties

totaling $5155 and $6176 respectively as component of accrued liabilities These amounts include

accruals of unrecognized income tax benefits and related interest and penalties related to

pre-acquisition operations of the Channel 31 Group of $1663 and $4653 respectively and to

pre-acquisition operations of the DTV Group in the amounts of $3267 and $737 respectively As of

December 31 2009 the Company included accruals for unrecognized income tax benefits and related

interest and penalties totaling $2607 and $4321 respectively as component of accrued liabilities

These amounts include accruals of unrecognized income tax benefits and related interest and penalties

related to pre-acquisition operations of the Channel 31 Group of $1145 and $3187 respectively All of

unrecognized income tax benefits if recognized would affect the effective tax rate

The following table summarizes the changes in the accrual for unrecognized income tax benefits

for the year ended December 31 2009

2007 2008 2009

Unrecognized Interest Unrecognized Interest Unrecognized Interest

income tax and income tax and income tax and

benefits penalties benefits penalties benefits penalties

Balance beginning of the period 173 81 298 68 5155 6176

Amounts assumed at

acquisitions 6101 6127

Additions based on tax

positions related to the

current year
245 15 37 46 217 70

Additions of tax positions of

prior years
18 16 742 958 949

Reductions of tax positions of

current year 114 27 175 11
Reductions of tax positions of

prior year 2955 1199
Lapse of statute of limitations 151 38 261 574 272 719
Foreign currency translation

adjustment 23 922 206 321 945

Balance end of the period 298 $68 $5155 $6176 2607 4321

In 2009 based on results of the audit of the DTV Group performed by tax authorities for

2006-2008 years the Company reversed $2131 and $1199 respectively relating to previously accrued

unrecognized income tax benefits and related interest and penalties in respect to those years
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Although the Company believes it is more likely than not that all recognized income tax benefits

would be sustained upon examination the Company has recognized some income tax benefits that have

reasonable possibility of successfully being challenged by the tax authorities These income tax

positions could result in total unrecognized tax benefits increasing by up to $1796 if the Company were

to lose such challenge by the tax authorities However the Company believes that it is reasonably

possible that only $310 of the total $1796 potential increase could occur within twelve months from

December 31 2009 This amount mainly represents certain recognized income tax benefits which may
be challenged by the tax authorities during their inspection of CTC Network expected within 2010 and

certain income tax penalties which may be imposed by US tax authorities as the resulit of late payment

by CTC Media Inc of estimated tax for 2009

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefit that could significantly change within 12 months due

to lapse of statutory limitation term comprised $1237 as of December 31 2009

The tax years
ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 remain subject to examination by the

Russian and US tax authorities The tax years
ended December 31 2005 through 2009 remain subject

to examination by the Kazakh tax authorities

13 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

As of December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 the Companys outstanding share capital was as follows

1pe 2007 2008 2009

Common stock outstanding 152124096 152155213 154227746

Common Stock

The Companys certificate of incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 175772173 shares of

common stock and as of December 31 2009 154227746 shares were issued and outstanding Each

holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held of record on all

matters which stockholders generally are entitled to vote

During 2007 both former and current employees exercised options to purchase an aggregate of

618424 shares of common stock for an aggregate consideration of $7476

During 2008 both former and current employees exercised options to purchase an aggregate of

31117 shares of common stock for an aggregate consideration of $526

During 2009 the Companys former CEO exercised options to purchase an aggregate of 2072533
shares of common stock for an aggregate consideration of $3399 See details below

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has granted options and stock appreciation rights SAR to its employees

consultants and member of its Board of Directors pursuant to its 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance

Plan and its 2009 Stock Option Plan as well as pursuant to individual option agreements that are

described in more detail below
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The 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan

The 1997 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan 1997 Plan provided for the issuance of maximum

of 3460000 shares of common stock to employees consultants and members of the Board of Directors

The 1997 Plan originally expired on May 14 2007 At the Companys annual stockholders meeting held

on May 16 2007 the shareholders approved extending the term of the 1997 Plan by up to one year or

until May 14 2008 Given that the 1997 Plan is now expired no further grants can be made under it

but the vesting and effectiveness of options previously granted under the 1997 Plan remain unaffected

Under the 1997 Plan the Company was permitted to grant both stock options and restricted stock

awards For option grants the option exercise price per share could not have been less than 85% of the

fair market value per share of common stock on the option grant date for nonqualified options or

100% of fair market value for incentive stock options If the person to whom the option was granted

was holder of 10% or more of common stock then the exercise price per share could not have been

less than 110% of fair market value per share of common stock on the option grant
date

For restricted stock grants the purchase price per share could have been less than 85% of the fair

market value per share of common stock on the issue date If the person purchasing the common stock

was holder of 10% or more of common stock then the purchase price per share shall not be less

than 110% of fair market value per share of common stock on the issue date

Under 1997 Plan the option and stock issuance awards generally vested based on three-to-four

years
of continuous service and had ten-year contractual terms The maximum term of an option

granted under the 1997 Plan could not exceed ten years

The 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

In April 2009 the Companys stockholders approved the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan the 2009

Plan The 2009 Plan allows for the granting of incentive stock options non-qualified stock options

stock appreciation rights performance share awards and restricted stock awards Awards The 2009

Plan provides for the authorization of Awards covering an aggregate of 7800000 shares of common

stock

Except as the Companys Board of Directors may otherwise determine or provide in an option

and subject to the conditions described in the following sentence each option will become exercisable

vest as to 25% of the original number of shares of common stock on the first anniversary of its

date of grant
and as to an additional 6.25% of the original number of shares of common stock at the

end of each successive three-month period following the first anniversary of the date of grant
until the

fourth anniversary of the date of grant Except as the Board may otherwise determine or provide in an

option in addition to satisfying the time-based vesting condition set forth in the immediately preceding

sentence at least 50% of the original number of shares of common stock underlying an option shall

only become exercisable upon the achievement of performance-based objectives to be approved by the

Companys Board of Directors No option shall be exercisable after the tenth anniversary of its grant

date

On October 22 and December 17 2009 the Compensation Committee approved the grant of

options to purchase up to 4440000 and 555000 shares of common stock respectively to Company
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executives and employees The exercise prices per share were $16.80 and $15.21 respectively which

represented the average of the closing prices for the 20 trading days ending on the date prior to grant

which represented the fair market value of one share of common stock on the date of approval as

determined pursuant to the terms of the 2009 Plan These options are divided equally into two

tranches options that vest over four years and are subject only to passage of time with 25% of options

vesting on the first anniversary and the remainder vesting on quarterly basis over the following three

years the Time-based Tranche and options that are subdivided in four equal sub-tranches that vest

upon the achievement of certain performance criteria set by the Board of Directors for each 2010

2011 2012 and 2013 the Performance-based Tranche The grant date of the Time-Based Tranche

are October 22 and December 17 2009 respectively The grant date for each sub-tranche of the

Performance-Based Tranche will be the date when performance criteria for the relevant year are set

In addition on October 22 2009 the an option to purchase up to an aggregate of 1000000 shares

was granted to one senior executive with one-third vesting on the grant date and one-third vesting on

each of the second and third anniversaries of the grant date The exercise price per share for this grant

was $16.80 which represented the average of the closing prices for the 20 trading days ending on the

date prior to grant which represented the fair market value of one share of common stock on the

grant date

Executive Officers Options

In addition to the stock option/stock issuance plans described above from time to time the

Companys Board of Directors approves additional grants of options to executive officers These stock

options vest on quarterly basis over three to four year periods starting from the date of grant or

starting year after the date of grant and have maximum term of ten years from the grant date As

of December 31 2009 there were outstanding options to purchase 5900278 shares of common stock

including the CEO Option described below at weighted average exercise price of $15.89 granted in

such manner in addition as of December 31 2009 such options to purchase 347018 shares had been

exercised at exercise price of $16.95 To date the exercise price of all options granted has been at or

above the estimated fair market value of the shares at the grant date

On September 30 2008 the Company entered into separation agreement with Vladimir

Khanumyan its Chief Operating Officer COO pursuant to which Mr Khanumyan stepped down as

the Companys COO effective October 2008 Pursuant to the separation agreement it was agreed

that Mr Khanumyans options would continue to vest up to and including March 31 2009 and he will

be permitted to exercise his options up to and including December 31 2010 The compensation

expense related to such options amounted to $923 and was recognized during the year ended

December 31 2008

CEO Stock Options

In 2008 Anton Kudryashov joined the Company in the role of Chief Executive Officer CEO
The Companys Board of Directors agreed to grant Mr Kudryashov an inducement option to purchase

up to 3042482 shares of the Companys common stock in three tranches CEO Stock Options The

options have ten-year contractual term measured from Mr Kudryashovs first day of employment

August 2008 The first tranche was granted on August 2008 and represents options to purchase an
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aggregate of 1521241 shares of the Companys common stock the Time-Based Option Under the

original terms one third of these options would vest on the first anniversary of the employment start

date and the remaining options would vest in equal installments at the end of each of the immediately

following eight quarters The exercise price for shares underlying the Time-Based Option was $22.07

per share at the date of original grant

The second and third tranches under the CEO Stock Options were granted on January 2009

and represent options to purchase up to 760621 shares and 760620 shares of the Companys common

stock for each of the second tranche the Revenue Objective Option and the third tranche the

Cost Objective Option respectively and vest depending on the Companys achievement of certain

performance criteria for 2009 2010 and 2011 The exercise prices for shares underlying both the

Revenue Objective Option and the Cost Objective Option were originally $5.49 per share which was

the closing sales price per share of the Companys common stock on January 2009

On July 30 2009 the Companys Board of Directors approved an amendment to the exercise price

in respect of all shares under all three tranches of CEO Stock Options Pursuant to the amendment

the exercise price for all shares under the CEO Stock Options was re-set to $13.60 per share which

was the official closing price per share of the common stock on August 11 2009 the first full trading

day after the end of the Companys quarterly black-out period The amendment of the exercise price of

the CEO Stock Option is subject to and contingent upon the approval of such amendment by the

Companys stockholders at the next annual meeting of stockholders in 2010 MTG Russia AB and Alfa

CTC Holdings Limited which together hold majority of the Companys capital stock have indicated

that they intend to approve the amendment at the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders In conjunction

with the amendment of the applicable exercise prices the agreement was further amended to provide

that the option shares under the Time-Based Option would be subject to vesting over four years rather

than three
years as originally provided Accordingly one third of the shares under the Time-Based

Option vested on August 2009 as provided under the original agreement and the remaining

two-thirds of such shares will vest ratably on quarterly basis through June 30 2012 subject to

Mr Kudryashovs continued employment with the Company

In addition on August 24 2009 the Companys Board of Directors approved an amendment

related to certain performance criteria of the Cost Objective Option

The total incremental compensation cost that resulted from the above modifications amounted to

$4151 over the vesting period This incremental cost is generally measured as the excess if any of the

fair value of the modified award over the fair value of the original award immediately before its terms

were modified and is based on the number of instruments expected to vest immediately before and

after modification

Former CEO Stock-based Compensation

On June 29 2009 Alexander Rodnyansky the Companys former Chief Executive Officer provided

written notice the Exercise Notice to the Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors to exercise in full

his outstanding and fully vested stock appreciation right SAR granted to him in September 2003 to

purchase 6217600 shares of common stock The exercise price applicable to the purchase of 4663200

shares is $1.79 per share and the exercise price for the remaining 1554400 shares is $1.19 per share
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Mr Rodnyansky subsequently revoked and withdrew this proposed exercise notice and on

August 24 2009 such revocation and withdrawal was accepted by the Companys Compensation

Committee on authority delegated by the Board In November 2009 CTC Media filed lawsuits

against Mr Rodnyansky claiming breaches of fiduciary duty and contractual obligations On

December 18 2009 the Company entered into voluntary agreement with Mr Rodnyansky to settle

these lawsuits According to the terms of the settlement Mr Rodnyansky resigned from the Companys

Board of Directors effective December 18 2009 and forfeited one-third of the SAR granted to him in

2003 and one-third of the vested stock options granted to him in 2006 The Company settled the

remaining value of the SAR by issuing 2072533 shares of common stock to him and by paying him

$29390 in cash The cash portion of the settlement resulted in additional compensation expense of

$28588 which the Company recognized in 2009 Mr Rodnyanskys options to acquire 1836826 shares

of common stock are exercisable until June 18 2010 at the previously set exercise price of $16.95 per

share but no further options will vest

Fair Value of Option Awards

The fair value of each option award granted in the
years ending December 31 2007 2008 and

2009 is estimated on the date of grant using Black-Scholes option pricing model The assumptions used

in the option- pricing models for grants made in the years ending December 31 2007 2008 and 2009

were as follows

2007 2008 2009

Risk free interest rate 3.53%4.96% 3.39% IL.8%3.3%

Expected option life years 5.96.1 6.1 3.57.1

Expected dividend yield

Volatility factor 44% 42% 62%83%
Weighted-average grant

date fair value of

options per share $12.96 $10.56 $9.29

The risk-free rates for periods within the expected term of these options are based on the US

Treasury yield curve in effect at the
grant

date The expected option life has been calculated using

shortcut method in cases when when the Companys options meet the definition of plain vanilla

or the lattice model Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of the Companys shares and

by considering the volatility of the stock of other public companies in the media industry and in Russia
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The following table summarizes options and SAR activity for the Company

Common Stock Options SAR

Weighted Weighted

Average Average
Exercise Exercise

Quantity Price Quantity Price

Outstanding as of December 31 2008 6619978 $19.22 6217600 $1.64

Granted 5018741 13.28

Modified 3042482 13.78

3042482 13.60

Exercised in stock 2072533 1.64

Settled in cash 2072533 1.64

Forfeited 1254077 17.43 2072534 1.64

Expired 80642 23.54

Outstanding as of December 31 2009 10304000 $16.49

The following table summarizes information about nonvested common stock options

Common Stock Options

Weighted

Average

Grant-date

Quantity Fair Value

Nonvested as of December 31 2008 3066818 $10.48

Granted 5018741 7.91

Modified

3042482 6.76

3042482 8.41

Vested 2021729 9.33

Forfeited 335665 9.32

Nonvested as of December 31 2009 5728165 9.62

The following table summarizes information about vested common stock options

Common Stock Options

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual

Quantity Price Term

December 31 2009 4575835 $16.58 3.4 years

As of December 31 2009 all vested options are exercisable

F-43



CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

13 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY Continued

The following table summarizes information about the intrinsic value of Companys common stock

options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31 2009

Common
Stock Options

Total intrinsic value of options outstanding $16070
Total intrinsic value of options exercisable 7668

The following table summarizes information about the intrinsic value of Companys common stock

options and SAR exercised during 2007 2008 and 2009

For the years ended

2007 2008 2009

Total intrinsic value of options exercised $8805 $351

Total intrinsic value of SAR exercised $45347

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $13694 $16083 and $47607 for

the years
ended December 31 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively As of December 31 2009 the total

compensation expense related to unvested granted awards not yet recognized considering assumption

that all performance objectives will be met is $49387 to be recognized over weighted average period

of 3.54 years

14 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with princzpal stockholders

Alfa GroupThe Company maintains certain of its cash balances with Alfa Bank As of

December 31 2008 and 2009 the cash balances held on Alfa Banks accounts totaled $32407 and

$19929 respectively In addition as of December 31 2009 the Company placed deposits with maturity

ranging from three to six months with Alfa Bank in the amount of $15083.The interest accrued on

bank accounts with Alfa Bank was $315 $927 and $1434 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively As of

December 31 2008 and 2009 accounts receivable for such interest amounted to $167 and $25

respectively In 2007 2008 and 2009 Alfa Bank charged commissions for banking services of $237 $499

and $453 respectively Alfa Bank commissions paid for banking services amounted to $119 $168 and

$443 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

The Company recognized aggregate advertising revenue from Alfa Group and its group companies

of $2668 $4557 and $2698 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively As of December 31 2008 and 2009

accounts receivable for these transactions were $760 and nil respectively

Modern Times Group MTG ABIn 2008 the Company acquired 100% interest in the DTV

Group from an affiliate of Modern Times Group MTG AB MTG Note As consideration for

the acquisition the Company paid MTG $190000 in cash issued promissory note to MTG in the

amount of $138053 and agreed to ensure the repayment of indebtedness owing from the DTV Group

to MTG On the date of acquisition such indebtedness amounted to $65668 Note 11 Interest

expense related to the promissory note and indebtedness to MTG amounted to $2450 in 2008 In 2008
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the whole amount of the Companys obligation under the promissory note and indebtedness to MTG
including accrued interest thereon was repaid

In 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company sold programming to subsidiary of Modern Times Group

MTG AB in the amounts of $173 $178 and $381 respectively As of December 31 2008 and 2009 the

accounts receivable related to these transactions amounted to $72 and $420 The Company also had

outstanding prepayments for programming for this subsidiary in the amount of $377 as of

December 31 2008 In addition the Company acquired programming from this subsidiary in the

amount of $5542 and $484 for 2008 and 2009 respectively

In 2008 the Company also provided rent services to another subsidiary of Modern Times Group

MTG AB in the amount of $46

ManagementA former senior executive of the Company and former member of the Board of

Directors who resigned in December 2009 has an interest in several entities to which the Company

sells programming from which the Company acquires programming and which place advertising on the

Companys networks

In 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company sold programming to these entities in the amounts of

$10688 $720 and $3021 respectively As of December 31 2008 and 2009 accounts receivable related

to these transactions amounted to nil and $640 respectively

In 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company acquired programming in the amounts of $2177 $1014 and

$803 respectively from these entities and paid cash in amount of $1826 $1638 and $424 respectively

In 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company received advertising revenue from these entities of $1854

$3160 and $1335 respectively As of December 31 2008 and 2009 accounts receivable for this

advertising were nil

In 2007 2008 and 2009 the Company received other revenue from these entities of $18 $26 and

nil respectively As of December 31 2008 and 2009 accounts receivable related to these revenues were

nil

This former executive and director has also served as one of the producers of number of cinema

releases for which the Company has acquired rights to broadcast He has not received compensation

for his services as producer of such films

Other members of management of the Company have or have had interests in entities from which

the Company acquires programming fixed assets trade marks and advertising services In 2007 2008

and 2009 the Company acquired programming from these entities in amounts of $9452 $9617 and

$782 respectively As of December 31 2008 and 2009 prepayments for this programming amounted to

$141 and nil respectively Fixed assets and advertising services acquired from these entities amounted

to $863 in 2008 As of December 31 2008 accounts payable for these purchases amounted to $55

F-45



CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

15 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Russian and Kazakh Environment and Current Economic Situation

Russia like many other countries has recently experienced economic instability characterized by

steep decline in the value of shares traded on its stock exchanges devaluation of its currency capital

flight and decline in gross domestic product in 2009 Additionally because Russia produces and

exports large amounts of oil its economy is particularly vulnerable to the price of oil on the world

market and recent decreases in international oil prices have adversely affected and may continue to

adversely affect its economy Total television advertising spending in Russia has been adversely affected

by this economic instability and as result the Companys operating results for 2009 were materially

adversely affected If the economic instability continues it may continue to have material negative

impact on Russian advertising appending which in turn may adversely affect the Companys operating

results

The Companys net income for the twelve months ended December 31 2009 was adversely

impacted by the depreciation of the ruble against the US Dollar Starting in August 2008 the value of

the Russian ruble began to depreciate materially against the US dollar In 2009 the ruble depreciated

further against the US dollar The overall depreciation of the Russian ruble against the US dollar

during 2009 amounted to approximately 2.9% The average exchange rate of the ruble against the US

dollar was 22% lower in 2009 than in 2008

Because the Companys reporting currency is the US dollar and the functional currency of

Companys principal operating subsidiaries is the ruble its reported results of operations are impacted

by fluctuations in the exchange rate between the US dollar and the Russian ruble Additionally

because substantially all of the Companys revenues are generated in rubles the Company faces

exchange-rate risk relating to payments that it must make in currencies other than the ruble The

Company generally pays for non-Russian produced programming in US dollars Moreover the Credit

Facility Agreement is denominated in US dollars with balance including accrued interest of $28278

as of December 31 2009 Note 11 If the ruble continues to depreciate against the US dollar the

Companys results of operations will continue to be negatively impacted

Like Russia Kazakhstan has also been experiencing economic instability in recent periods As

result total television advertising spending during 2009 was negatively impacted and the Company

expects advertising spending in 2010 to continue to be adversely affected Moreover during 2009 the

Kazakh tenge depreciated approximately 18.8% against the US dollar reduction in advertising

spending in Kazakhstan and the devaluation of the tenge negatively impacted the Companys 2009

operating results

Foreign exchange forward contract

In October 2008 the Company entered into the contract on foreign exchange transactions with

ING Bank Pursuant to this contract the Company entered into foreign currency exchange forward

transaction to reduce its foreign exchange cash flow risk related to portion of its payments due under

the Credit Facility Agreement Note 11 In addition in October 2009 the Company entered into

foreign currency exchange forward transactions to reduce its foreign exchange cash flow risk related to

portion of its US-dollar denominated payments for foreign programming summary of the amounts
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and ruble/US dollar exchange rates at which the Company was or will be obligated to buy US dollars at

specified dates in accordance with the forward transactions is presented below

Ruble to

Amounts to be US dollar

Date purchased rate

October 2008 transactions

December 15 2008 $18 million 26.49

June 15 2009 $18 million 27.30

December 15 2009 $15 million 28.00

June 15 2010 $15 million 28.84

October 2009 transactions

April 26 2010 million 30.11

June 24 2010 million 30.47

September 27 2010 million 30.99

October 25 2010 million 31.15

The tabular disclosure of fair value of the forward transactions in the consolidated balance sheets

and the effect of the forward transactions on the consolidated statement of income loss is presented

below

December 31

Balance sheet location 2008 2009

Fair value of foreign exchange contract $2425 $476

Current portion Other current assets 2129 476

Non-current portion Other non-current assets 296

Location of gain loss recognized

in the statement of income loss 2008 2009

Gain under the foreign exchange contract Foreign currency gain loss 3284 $1112

Concentrations

In the Russian television market national television advertising is generally not placed directly with

broadcasters Instead sales house Video International controls the placement of large portion of

national television advertising In Russia the Company has several agreements with Video International

for the placement of advertising on each of the Networks and Television Station Groups The length of

these agreements varies with the agreements relating to the Domashny and DTV Networks expiring at

the end of December 2014 the agreements relating to the CTC Domashny and DTV Television

Station Groups expiring at the end of December 2010 and the agreement relating to the CTC Network

expiring at the end of December 2012 The CTC Domashny and DTV agreements are generally

terminable upon 180 days notice by either party
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In Kazakhstan the Company has an agreement with Video International for the placement of

advertising in Channel 31 The agreement expires at the end of December 2010 The Channel 31

agreement is terminable upon 180 days notice by either party

disruption in the relationship with Video International or early termination of the agreements

with Video International could have material adverse effect on the Companys business financial

condition and results of operations Management believes the likelihood of the agreements being

terminated is remote

The Companys revenues sold through Video International accounted for 95% of total operating

revenues of $472056 in 2007 96% of total operating revenues of $640171 in 2008 and 94% of total

operating revenues of $506113 in 2009

In December 2009 the Law on Advertising was amended effective in 2011 to prohibit federal

TV broadcasters from signing agency agreements with media sales houses that hold TV advertising

market share greater than 35% Video International currently controls more than 35% of the Russian

TV advertising market As result of this amendment the format of the Russian TV advertising

market starting in 2011 may change and that may require the Company to change FLOW it sells

advertising The Company may be unsuccessful especially in the short-term in transitioning to new

system of advertising sales that produces the same revenues at the same margins as it has enjoyed

historically

Assets with indefinite useful lives

The Company has assets recorded on its consolidated balance sheet such as broadcasting licenses

trademarks and goodwill that have indefinite lives and represent significant portion of the Companys

total assets

As of December 31 2008 the Company had recorded noncash impairment loss that had net

effect on its net income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders of $153679 This loss related to

intangible assets and goodwill that the Company acquired in connection with acquisitions completed in

2008 including broadcasting licenses of DTV Television Station Group trade names of DTV Network

broadcasting licenses and goodwill of Channel 31 in Kazakhstan and the broadcasting license of its

broadcasting group in Moldova As of December 31 2009 the Company had recorded non-cash

impairment losses that had net effect on its net income attributable to CTC Media Inc stockholders

of $14991 related to some of its broadcasting licenses See Note

In the event of further changes in the weighting of the cities in the panel or if significant

number of cities where the Company does not hold broadcasting license are added to the panel the

Company may determine that additional broadcasting licenses are impaired which would require it to

record additional impairment charges that would adversely impact its net income Moreover if the

current economic conditions were to prevail for an extended period of time or worsen the Company

may subsequently determine that other assets that it holds are impaired which would require it to

record additional impairment losses that would adversely impact the Companys net income
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Purchase commitments

The Company has commitments to purchase programming rights for which the license period has

not started or the underlying program is not yet available As of December 31 2009 such commitments

amounted to $171408 at the US dollar/ruble exchange rate as of December 31 2009 The Company

is obligated to pay $105861 $49721 and $15827 in 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively under these

commitments

In addition the Company has commitments to purchase format rights As of December 31 2009

these commitments amounted to $2645 at the US dollar/ruble exchange rate as of December 31

2009 all of which is payable in 2010

The Company also has commitments to purchase transmission and satellite services As of

December 31 2009 these commitments amounted to $83508 at the US dollar/ruble exchange rate as

of December 31 2009 of which $14450 $15766 $17185 $18560 and $17547 is payable in the years

from 2010 to 2014 respectively The amounts for these commitments depend on future inflation rates

in Russia which could change the prices for such services

Operating leases

The Company has several operating leases for satellite transponders and office space with terms

ranging from one to eleven years

As of December 31 2009 future minimum lease payments due under these leases are as follows

For the year ended December 31

2010 $2879

2011

2012 303

2013 270

2014 195

2015 and thereafter 1687

$5728

Total operating
lease expense was $5441 $5247 and $4950 in 2007 2008 and 2009 respectively

Non-Income Taxes

The Companys policy is to accrue for contingencies related to non-income taxes in the accounting

period in which the liability is deemed probable and the amount is reasonably determinable In this

regard because of the uncertainties associated with the Russian tax system the Companys final

Russian taxes may be in excess of the estimated amount expensed to date and accrued at December 31

2008 and 2009 This is due to combination of the evolving tax legislation varying approaches by

regional and local tax inspectors and inconsistent rulings on technical matters at the judicial level The

tax authorities have also aggressively imposed material tax assessments on Russian businesses at times

without clear legislative basis As of December 31 2008 and December 31 2009 the Company
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included accruals for contingencies related to non-income taxes totaling $301 and $209 as component
of accrued liabilities related to operations in Russia In addition as of December 31 2008 and

December 31 2009 the Company recorded accruals for non-income taxes and related interest and

penalties of the CIS Group in the amounts of $8175 and $5989 respectively including accruals related

to pre-acquisition operations of the Channel 31 Group in the amounts of $7190 and $4745
respectively Moreover as of December 31 2008 the Company had recorded accruals for non-income

taxes and related interest and penalties of the DTV Group in the amounts of $1945 including accruals

related to pre-acquisition operations of the DTV Group in the amounts of $1799 These accruals were

reversed in 2009 based on results of the audit performed by tax authorities of the DTV Group for

2006-2008 years

Additionally the Company has identified possible contingences related to non-income taxes which

are not accrued Such possible non-income tax contingencies could materialize and require the

Company to pay additional amounts of tax As of December 31 2009 management estimates such

contingencies related to non-income taxes to be up to approximately $1768

It is the opinion of management that ultimate resolution of the Companys tax liabilities to the

extent not previously provided for will not have material effect on the financial condition of the

Company However depending on the amount and timing of an unfavorable resolution of any

contingencies associated with taxes it is possible that the Companys future operations or cash flows

could be materially affected in particular period

Broadcasting Licenses

All of the Companys Russian affiliate television stations including those that are

owned-and-operated are required to have
broadcasting and other operating licenses Only limited

number of such licenses are available in each locality These licenses generally require renewal every

five years

The broadcasting licenses of Russian affiliate stations contain various restrictions and obligations

including requirements that at least 50% of the programming shown constitute Russian content
Certain affiliates may not have always been in compliance with these requirements If the terms of

license are not fulfilled or if television station violates Russian legislation or regulations the license

may be suspended or terminated Management believes that the probability of initiation of action

against any material affiliate is remote

The broadcasting license of Channel 31 in Kazakhstan contains various restrictions and obligations

including requirements with respect to the minimum amount of Kazakh language programming as well

as maximum amount of retransmission of foreign-produced programming Channel 31 has not always

been in full compliance with all requirements of its license If the terms of license are not fulfilled or

if Channel 31 violates applicable legislation or regulations the license may be suspended or terminated

Management believes that the probability of initiation of action against the Company is remote

Restrictions in foreign ownership in Kazakhstan

The Mass Media Law in Kazakhstan restricts direct and indirect foreign ownership of any Kazakh

television broadcaster to no more than 20% In February 2008 the Company acquired 20% interest

F-SO



CTC MEDIA INC AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

in thousands of US dollars except share and per share data

15 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Continued

in the Kazakh television broadcast company Channel 31 and established two subsidiaries that provide

the programming content and advertising sales functions to Channel 31 on an exclusive basis together

the Channel 31 Group Together these interests provide us with 60% economic interest in the

Channel 31 Group as whole see Note If the existing 20% limit were to be interpreted to restrict

effective or economic control rather than just direct ownership or if the law were to be changed or

interpreted to impose further restrictions or limitations on foreign ownership of Kazakh television

broadcasters the Company could be required to restructure the Channel 31 Group in order to comply

with such requirements or could be required to divest all or portion of its interest in the Channel 31

Group If the Company failed to comply in timely manner the authorities could suspend or revoke

Channel 31s broadcasting licenses or could take other actions that could limit the Companys ability to

operate the Channel 31 Group

Net Assets Position in Accordance with Statutory Requirements

In accordance with Russian legislation joint stock companies must maintain level of equity net

assets that is greater than its charter capital In the event that companys net assets as determined

under Russian accounting legislation fall below certain minimum levels specifically below zero the

company can be forced to liquidate

Some of our regional entities have had and continue to have negative equity as reported in each

of their Russian statutory financial statements Management believes that the risk of the initiation of

statutory liquidation procedures or other material adverse actions is remote However if such actions

were taken it could have material adverse effect on the Companys results of operations financial

position and operating plans

Legal and Tax Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business the Company may be party to various legal and tax

proceedings and subject to claims certain of which relate to the developing markets and evolving fiscal

and regulatory environments in which the Company operates In the opinion of management the

Companys liability if any in all pending litigation other legal proceeding or other matters will not

have material effect upon the financial condition results of operations or liquidity of the Company
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Year ended December 31 2007

Operating

revenue Amortization Amortization

from Operating Depreciation of of
external

Intersegment income Identifiable Capital and programming sublicensing Impairment
customers revenue loss assets

expenditures amortization rights rights loss

CTC Network $321030 487 $166249 $425547 973 1002 $124725 $9629
Domashny Network 39077 5349 32315 231 631 23450
DTV Network

C1C Television Station

Group 95315 992 56966 69978 2048 9243 5433
Domashny Television

Station Group 16634 837 7977 62380 2027 14380 132
DTV Television Station

Group
CIS Group

Production Group
Business segment results $472056 2316 $220587 $590220 $5279 $25256 $153740 $9629

Eliminations and other 2316 27526 104460 361 2105 209

Consolidated results $472056 $193061 $694680 $5640 $27361 $153531 $9629

Year ended December 31 2008

Operating
revenue

Amortization Amortization

from Operating Depreciation of of

external Intersegment income Identifiable Capital and programming sublicensing Impairment
customers revenue loss assets expenditures amortization rights rights loss

CTC Network $412614 4516 207382 693984 1021 963 $172573 $11704
Domashny Network 64142 13 18868 36297 163 656 32139
DTV Network 35868 16 7286 174593 515 2332 11230 7743
CTC Television Station

Group 95033 1704 60384 98807 4966 2106 6315
Domashny Television

Station Group 16003 1069 2552 51865 2133 2538 40
DTV Television Station

Group 5069 368 89811 107770 145 2330 11 87889
CIS Group 10930 139712 23885 594 880 4856 137051
Production Group 512 47103 5302 30225 52
Business segment results $640171 $54789 72251 $1217426 9537 $11857 $227164 $11704 $232683

Eliminations and other 54789 38070 410597 528 1522 6607 3261
Consolidated results $640171 34181 806829 10065 $13379 $220557 8443 $232683
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Year ended December 31 2009

17 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

Summarized quarterly financial data is as follows

Operating revenue

Operating income

Net income attributable to CTC Media Inc

stockholders

Net income loss per share attributable to CTC

Media Inc stockholdersbasic

Net income loss per share attributable to CTC

Media Inc stockholdersdiluted

Operating revenue

Operating income

Net income attributable to CTC Media Inc

stockholders

Net income per share attributable to CTC

Media Inc stockholdersbasic

Net income per share attributable to CTC

Media Inc stockholdersdiluted

For the three months ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2008 2008 2008 2008

$136746 $172770 $143307 187348

53032 70035 51085 139971

41713 48816 20969 89044

0.27 0.32 0.14 0.59

0.26 0.31 0.13 0.57

Operating

revenue

from

external

customers

$326006

50648

40550

Operating

income

loss

Intersegment

revenue

3042

31

Identifiable Capital

assets expenditures

$160489 732450 8525
14911 42675 41
16459 171394 1109

CTC Network

Domashny Network

DTV Network

CTC Television Station

Group 64014

Domashny Television

Station Group 8810

DTV Television Station

Group
CIS Group

Production Group

Business segment results

Amortization Amortization

Depreciation
of of

and programming sublicensing

amortization rights rights

463 8139462 8056
379 24925

2721 14572

1333 24825 108884 1912

1422 101 79065

Impairment

loss

1935 1671

3858

11020

1207

$506113

$506113

991 1471

Eliminations and other

Consolidated results

121

52297

$58248

58248

17015

1724

3940 95810

2209 20341

6521 40749

$216955 $1291368

64480 440048

$152475 851320

2414
414
567

$15973

244
$16217

3326
804
38

811137

317
$11454

16

5845
65

8186558

8166

8178392

42660
$50716

43884

6832

818739

18739

For the three months ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2009 2009 2009 2009

$104778 $113894 $106935 $180507

36583 43829 35343 36720

23312 30335 25855 20887

0.15 0.20 0.17 0.14

0.15 0.19 0.16 0.13
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The sum of the earnings per share for the four quarters will generally not equal earnings per share

for the total year due to the changes in the average number of common shares outstanding

18 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2010 the Company notified the Lenders that we will prepay all amounts outstanding

under the Credit Facility Agreement on March 22 2010

On February 24 2010 MTG Russia AB and Alfa CTC Holdings Limited informed the Company
that they no longer intend to approve the proposed amendment of the exercise prices and vesting

schedule of the stock option granted to Anton Kudryashov See Note 13 The Company therefore does

not intend to submit such matter to the stockholders for approval at the 2010 annual meeting of

stockholders Accordingly the exercise price of one-half of the shares under the option will remain

$5.49 per share and the exercise price of the other half of the shares under the option will remain

$22.07 per share The vesting period of shares subject solely to time-based vesting will remain three

years per the original agreement As described in Note 13 the original modification resulted in

incremental cost of $4151 to be recorded over the remaining vesting period For accounting purposes
the decision to withdraw the proposed amendment is treated as further modification of the option

and accordingly the Company anticipates that it will record additional stock-based compensation of

approximately $4100 over the remaining vesting period

On February 24 2010 the Companys board of directors declared dividend of $0.065 per

outstanding share of common stock or $10025 in aggregate assuming no further exercises of stock

options prior to the record date to its stockholders of record as of March 10 2010 The payment date

of this dividend will be March 31 2010 The Companys board of directors has also announced its

current intention to declare and pay additional dividends of approximately $10 million in each of June
September and December 2010 Such declaration is at the discretion of the Companys board and will

depend upon factors such as Companys earnings financial position and cash requirements during 2010
Because of the declaration of dividend by the Companys board of directors while principal continues

to be outstanding under the Credit Facility Agreement the Company may technically be in default of

the covenant in the Credit Facility Agreement restricting the declaration and payment of dividends

However given that the dividend will not be paid until after the Company repays all outstanding

principal and interest under the Credit Facility Agreement on March 22 2010 and the Company could

repay the principal and interest earlier if the lenders required it to do so management does not

believe that this possible technical violation of the Credit Facility Agreement will have any material

adverse consequences for the Company

At the end of 2009 the Board of Directors approved the terms of the Companys 2009 Retention

Bonus Program the Program Pursuant to the original terms of the Bonus Program the Company
was authorized to grant cash bonuses to certain of its employees including the Companys principal

financial officer and certain named executives On February 24 2010 the Compensation Committee

amended the Program As amended the Program provides for the grant of stock appreciation rights

SARs to the employees including the Companys principal financial officer and certain named
executive officers who were granted stock options as of October 22 2009 Each SAR will provide for

the possible payment in cash of an amount equal to the appreciation of the Companys stock price

above $14.00 per share capped at $16.80 per share
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Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement its consolidated financial statements which are prepared and presented in

accordance with US GAAP the Company uses the following non-GAAP financial measures OIBDA

on consolidated and segment basis OIBDA margin and the adjusted measures described below

The presentation of this financial information is not intended to be considered in isolation or as

substitute for or superior to financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP

For more information on these non-GAAP financial measures please see the accompanying financial

tables included at the end of this release

The Company uses these non-GAAP financial measures for financial and operational decision

making and as means to evaluate period-to-period comparisons The Company believes that these

non-GAAP financial measures provide meaningful supplemental information regarding its performance

and liquidity by excluding certain expenses that may not be indicative of its recurring core business

operating results These metrics are used by management to further its understanding of the Companys

operating performance in the ordinary ongoing and customary course of operations The Company also

believes that these metrics provide investors and equity analysts with useful basis for analyzing

operating performance against historical data and the results of comparable companies

OIBDA and OIBDA margin OIBDA is defined as operating income before depreciation and

amortization exclusive of amortization of programming rights and sublicensing rights OIBDA margin

is defined as OIBDA divided by total operating revenues The most directly comparable GAAP

measures to OIBDA and OIBDA margin are operating income and operating income margin

respectively Unlike operating income OIBDA excludes depreciation and amortization other than

amortization of programming rights and sublicensing rights The purchase of programming rights is the

Companys most significant expenditure that enables it to generate revenues and OIBDA includes the

impact of the amortization of these rights Expenditures for capital items such as property plant and

equipment have materially less significant impact on the Companys ability to generate revenues For

this reason the Company excludes the related depreciation expense for these items from OIBDA

Moreover significant portion of the Companys intangible assets were acquired in business

acquisitions The amortization of intangible assets is therefore also excluded from OIBDA

Adjusted financial measures In the fourth quarter of 2009 CTC Media recognized $18.7 million

charge arising from the impairment of the broadcasting licenses of certain regional owned-and-operated

stations in Russia and $28.6 million stock-based compensation expense in conjunction with the

previously announced settlement of litigation brought by CTC Media against its former CEO CTC
Media uses adjusted OIBDA on consolidated and segment basis total operating expenses before

non-recurring items adjusted operating income adjusted net income before tax adjusted income tax

expense adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share each of which has been adjusted

to exclude the non-recurring items described above so as to permit management to assess and compare

the operational performance of the business across various reporting periods

Reconciliation of Adjusted OIBDA Margin to OIBDA Margin

Year ended

December 31 2009

Adjusted OIBDA margin 41.7%

Impact of non-cash intangible asset impairment charge as percentage of total

operating revenues 3.7%

Impact of stock-based compensation expense related to settlement of litigation against

former CEO as percentage of total operating revenues 5.6%
OIBDA margin 32.4%



Reconciliation of Consolidated Adjusted OIBDA Adjusted Net Income and

Adjusted Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share to Corresponding Consolidated

Non-GAAP and GAAP Financial Measures Respectively

Net income

loss Fully

attributable to diluted

CTC Media Inc earnings

US$ 000s except per share data OIBDA stockholders per share

Year ended December 31 2009

Adjusted non-US GAAP results $211256 $143967 $0.91

Impact of non-cash intangible asset impairment charge 18739 14991 0.10

Impact of stock-based compensation expense related to

settlement of litigation against former CEO 28588 28588 0.18

Results as reported under US GAAP except for OIBDA which

is non-GAAP financial measure 163929 100389 0.64

Reconciliation of Consolidated OIBDA to Consolidated Operating Income

Year ended

December 31 2009

in thousands of US dollars

OIBDA $163929

Depreciation and amortization exclusive of amortization of programming

rights and sublicensing rights 11454

Operating income $152475

Reconciliation of Consolidated OIBDA Margin to Consolidated Operating Income Margin

Year ended

December 31 2009

OIBDA margin 32.4%

Depreciation and amortization exclusive of amortization of programming rights and

sublicensing rights as percentage of total operating revenues 2.3%
Operating income margin 30.1%
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